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AMENDED APPLICATION FOR ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 01-24-02 2 5-6 

AMENDED INFORMATION 02-21-03 2 120-124 

AMENDED JUDGMENT 03-02-15 5 735-736 

AMENDED ORDER DENYING PETITION 05-03-23 8 1163-1164 

AMENDED ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 01-29-02 2 7-8 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS  
(POST CONVICTION) 

02-03-05 9 21-23 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS  
(POST-CONVICTION) 

09-07-06 9 100-102 

APPLICATION FOR ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 01-15-02 2 1-2 

APPLICATION FOR ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 05-03-02 2 48-50 

APPLICATION FOR ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 05-03-02 2 51-53 

APPLICATION FOR ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 02-26-03 2 126-127 

APPLICATION FOR SETTING 02-01-02 2 9-10 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF THE ADMISSION OF THE STATE'S PROOF OF 
THE DEFENDANT'S PRIOR CONVICTION 

12-11-03 3 308-322 

CASE APPEAL STATE 06-22-22 6 1072-1073 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 01-02-04 3 390-391 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 03-12-14 4 607-608 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 05-30-14 4 669-670 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 03-11-15 5 744-745 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 09-29-21 6 991-992 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 10-24-23 8 1236-1237 

CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 11-27-07 9 140-141 

CASE ASSIGNMENT NOTIFICATION 03-16-21 5 909-910 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK 01-06-04 3 396 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK 11-27-07 9 142 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL 04-01-15 5 827 
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CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – NOTICE OF APPEAL 03-12-14 4 609 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – NOTICE OF APPEAL 05-30-14 4 671 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – NOTICE OF APPEAL 03-11-15 5 746 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – NOTICE OF APPEAL 09-29-21 6 993 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – NOTICE OF APPEAL 06-22-22 6 1074 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – NOTICE OF APPEAL 10-24-23 8 1238 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – RECORD ON APPEAL 07-29-14 5 696 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK AND TRANSMITTAL – RECORD ON APPEAL 07-21-22 7 1087 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 09-16-16 5 870 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 09-16-16 5 871-873 

CERTIFICATE OF TRANSMITTAL 01-06-04 3 397 

CERTIFICATE OF TRANSMITTAL 11-27-07 9 143 

COMPETENCY EVALUATION 03-18-02 10 1-4 

DEFENDANT’S BRIEF 12-12-03 3 334-351 

ERRATA NOTICE OF APPEAL ISSUED TO BE RAISED NRAP 3C, 
FRE201, FRAP 28 

03-10-15 5 742-743 

EX PARTE MOTION FOR ORDER ALLOWING PAYMENT OF 
ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS TO APPOINTED COUNSEL  
& AFFIDAVIT OF COUNSEL (APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF  
POST-CONVICTION RELIEF) 

02-05-08 10 27-31 

EX PARTE PETITION FOR CLARIFICATION ON ISSUES REGARDING 
STATE BAIL 

07-16-03 2 237-239 

EX PARTE PETITION FOR CLARIFICATION ON ISSUES REGARDING 
STATE BAIL 

08-01-03 3 255-265 

INFORMATION 02-06-02 2 21-24 

INMATE REQUEST FORM 07-22-03 2 240-243 

INMATE REQUEST FORM 07-22-03 3 244-252 

INMATE REQUEST FORM  08-25-03 3 280-285 

JUDGMENT 12-12-03 3 352-353 
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JUDICIAL NOTICE 05-06-14 4 635-643 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS 07-10-03 2 207-234 

JUSTICE COURT PROCEEDINGS 02-04-02 2 11-20 

LETTER FROM DEFENDANT 09-12-03 3 286-291 

LETTER FROM DEFENDANT 12-10-03 3 305-307 

LETTER FROM THE EMPLOYER OF PROSPECTIVE JUROR 
REQUESTING RELIEF 

07-10-03 2 197 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
NOTICE OF APPEAL ISSUES 

03-19-15 5 754-822 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

06-27-06 9 73-94 

MINUTES – ARRAIGNMENT  02-13-02 2 26 

MINUTES – CRIMINAL PROGRESS SHEET  04-19-02 2 41-43 

MINUTES – ENTRY OF JUDGMENT AND IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE 12-05-03 3 304 

MINUTES – ENTRY OF JUDGMENT AND IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE 12-12-03 3 354-356 

MINUTES – JURY TRIAL  07-10-03 2 198-204 

MINUTES – MOTION FOR AN O.R. RELEASE 04-29-03 2 145 

MINUTES – MOTION FOR OWN RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE INTO 
FEDERAL CUSTODY 

04-30-03 2 146 

MINUTES – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL  09-06-02 2 90 

MINUTES – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL 09-11-02 2 91 

MINUTES – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL 02-26-03 2 125 

MINUTES – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL  03-21-03 2 137 

MINUTES – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL 06-18-03 2 161 

MINUTES – MOTION TO SET TRIAL  10-23-02 2 114 

MINUTES – REPORT ON PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATIONS / 
ARRAIGNMENT 

04-19-02 2 40 

MINUTES – STATUS HEARING  06-12-03 2 160 

MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF ALTERNATIVE COUNSEL 04-12-05 4 548-550 
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MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL (EX PARTE) 02-23-05 9 24-26 

MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF PSYCHIATRISTS FOR 
EXAMINATION OF DEFENDANT 

02-13-02 2 27-29 

MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF PSYCHIATRISTS FOR 
EXAMINATION OF DEFENDANT 

02-13-02 2 30-32 

MOTION FOR CONSOLIDATION OF HABEAS CORPUS PROCEEDINGS 12-15-06 9 105-107 

MOTION FOR CREDIT AMENDMENT TO PRESENTENCE CUSTODY 04-23-13 9 189-196 

MOTION FOR ELIMINATION OF FEES 01-08-21 5 877-896 

MOTION FOR JUDICIAL ACTION ON PETITION 11-06-09 9 172-173 

MOTION FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE 04-13-23 8 1159-1160 

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 08-01-03 3 266-276 

MOTION FOR ORDER TRANSFERRING PETITION TO THE SIXTH 
JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT FOR PERSHING COUNTY 

09-07-06 9 97-99 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 11-20-13 4 571-575 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 06-24-21 6 943-950 

MOTION TO AMEND JUDGMENT / CORRECT JUDGMENT 02-24-14 4 598-602 

MOTION TO AMEND, CORRECT OR MODIFY PRE-SENTENCE CREDIT 06-16-16 5 844-852 

MOTION TO CORRECT ILLEGAL SENTENCE 05-19-14 4 658-666 

MOTION TO CORRECT JUDGMENT TO REMOVE DOUBLE JEOPARDY 
CHARGE 

06-03-13 4 560-564 

MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 
(POST CONVICTION) 

02-03-05 9 16-20 

MOTION TO RECUSE 01-08-21 5 897-899 

MOTION TO REMIT LEGAL DEFENSE FEES 11-29-21 6 1010-1022 

MOTION TO STAY PETITION PENDING REMITTITUR 10-18-22 7 1096-1097 

MOTION TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE 11-29-22 8 1130-1131 

MOTION TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE 05-23-23 8 1170-1173 

MOTION TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE AND TO RECONSIDER 12-18-14 5 713-716 

NOTICE OF ADDRESS CHANGE 01-05-04 3 395 
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NOTICE OF ADDRESS CHANGE 05-28-04 3 448 

NOTICE OF ADDRESS CHANGE 06-01-04 3 449 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 01-02-04 3 393-394 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 03-10-14 4 605-606 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 05-28-14 4 667-668 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 03-10-15 5 740-741 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 09-27-21 6 989-990 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 06-21-22 6 1070-1071 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 10-23-23 8 1231-1233 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 11-26-07 9 138-139 

NOTICE OF CHANGE OF ADDRESS 05-01-08 4 555-556 

NOTICE OF DOCUMENT RECEIVED BUT NOT CONSIDERED BY THE 
COURT 

05-02-03 2 147-149 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 06-10-21 6 935-939 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 09-13-21 6 980-985 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 06-21-07 9 130-134 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 01-05-10 9 184-188 

NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES PURSUANT TO NRS 174.234 08-30-02 2 68-89 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK HABITUAL CRIMINALITY 08-02-02 2 65-67 

NOTICE THAT SUPPLEMENT TO THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) WILL BE FILED 

02-16-07 9 112-113 

OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO AMEND, CORRECT OR MODIFY  
PRE-SENTENCE CREDIT 

06-17-16 5 853-855 

OPPOSITION TO REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 04-13-05 4 551-554 

ORDER 09-17-02 2 100 

ORDER 09-17-02 2 101 

ORDER 08-13-03 3 277-279 

ORDER 10-31-13 4 567-569 
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ORDER 04-08-14 4 617-618 

ORDER 07-08-14 5 685-686 

ORDER 10-20-14 5 704-705 

ORDER 03-02-15 5 728-731 

ORDER 06-09-21 5 924-925 

ORDER 12-21-04 9 14-15 

ORDER 03-30-05 9 58-59 

ORDER 04-29-05 9 62-63 

ORDER 07-25-06 9 95-96 

ORDER 01-26-07 9 109-111 

ORDER 06-08-07 9 126-129 

ORDER 11-18-09 9 176-178 

ORDER APPROVING FEES OF COURT-APPOINTED ATTORNEY 
(PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 
APPEAL TO NEVADA SUPREME COURT 

02-15-08 10 32 

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR AMENDED JUDGMENT 05-09-14 4 652-654 

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR CREDIT AMENDMENT TO 
PRESENTENCE CUSTODY 

06-19-13 9 199-200 

ORDER DENYING MOTION TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE 12-22-22 8 1144-1146 

ORDER DENYING MOTION TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE 08-17-23 8 1179-1182 

ORDER DENYING PETITION 12-22-22 8 1150-1151 

ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR DETERMINATION OF FACTUAL 
INNOCENCE 

10-12-23 8 1222-1225 

ORDER DENYING PETITIONER’S MOTION FOR ELIMINATION OF 
FEES 

06-10-21 6 929-931 

ORDER DENYING PETITIONER’S MOTION TO REMIT LEGAL 
DEFENSE FEES 

06-09-22 6 1063-1066 

ORDER DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 12-30-13 4 578-581 

ORDER DENYING PETITIONER'S SECOND MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION 

02-07-14 4 592-594 
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ORDER DENYING REQUEST FOR THE COURT’S INDEPENDENT 
REVIEW 

10-09-23 8 1216-1218 

ORDER FOR THE STATE’S RESPONSE 06-16-23 8 1174-1175 

ORDER GRANTING IN FORMA PAUPERIS 11-20-09 9 180-182 

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT’S 
MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 

09-10-21 6 959-962 

ORDER RE: PETITIONER’S MOTION TO REMIT LEGAL DEFENSE FEES 02-08-22 6 1033-1035 

ORDER RECUSING JUDGE SCOTT N. FREEMAN 03-16-21 5 904-905 

ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 01-23-02 2 3-4 

ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 05-07-02 2 54-56 

ORDER TO PRODUCE PRISONER 03-06-03 2 128-129 

ORDER TRANSFERRING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO AMEND 
CORRECT OR MODIFY PRE-SENTENCE CREDIT 

09-14-16 5 864-866 

PETITION FOR DETERMINATION OF FACTUAL INNOCENCE 08-31-23 8 1190-1213 

PETITION FOR DISMISSAL OF COUNSEL AND PRO SE 
REPRESENTATION 

09-19-03 3 292-296 

PETITION FOR DISMISSAL OF COUNSEL AND PRO SE 
REPRESENTATION 

10-08-03 3 297-301 

PETITION FOR RELIEF BASED ON ACTUAL INNOCENCE PURSUANT 
TO NRS 34.900 ET SQ 

10-18-22 7 1098-1120 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST CONVICTION) 10-07-04 9 1-13 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 06-27-06 9 64-72 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 09-04-09 9 156-171 

PRESENTENCE REPORT 12-03-03 10 19-26 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 03-22-13 4 559 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 10-31-13 4 570 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 12-30-13 4 582 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 11-18-09 9 179 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 11-20-09 9 183 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 06-19-13 9 201 
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PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATION 06-16-03 10 5-18 

REPLY TO OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION FOR 
WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

05-16-07 9 121-123 

REPLY TO STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO REMIT LEGAL FEES 03-10-22 6 1046-1057 

REQUEST FOR CONTINUANCE. STIPULATION 09-17-02 2 98-99 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 07-22-03 3 253 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 08-01-03 3 254 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 10-24-03 3 302 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 10-24-03 3 303 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 12-15-04 4 547 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 07-25-16 5 859-860 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 04-07-21 5 919-920 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 12-09-21 6 1023-1024 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 04-08-22 6 1058-1059 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 02-14-23 8 1155-1156 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 04-05-05 9 60-61 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 10-20-06 9 103-104 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION 05-16-07 9 124-125 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION – DOCUMENT ERROR – NO IMAGE 12-15-06 9 108 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 09-13-13 4 565-566 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 11-20-13 4 576-577 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 01-09-14 4 590-591 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 02-24-14 4 603-604 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 04-10-14 4 627-628 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION  06-17-14 4 679-680 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 08-22-14 5 700-701 
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REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 09-24-14 5 702-703 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 12-18-14 5 717-718 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 01-26-21 5 903 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 04-07-21 5 914-915 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 07-06-21 6 954-955 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 09-10-21 6 966-976 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 11-29-22 8 1132-1133 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 11-29-22 8 1134-1135 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 04-13-23 8 1161-1162 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 05-23-23 8 1168-1169 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 08-29-23 8 1188-1189 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 08-31-23 8 1214-1215 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 10-23-23 8 1234-1235 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 11-06-09 9 174-175 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 04-23-13 9 197-198 

REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION – 2ND REQUEST 10-23-23 8 1229-1230 

REQUEST FOR THE COURT’S INDEPENDENT REVIEW 08-29-23 8 1186-1187 

REQUEST FOR TRANSCRIPTS 01-02-04 3 392 

REQUEST, AGREEMENT AND ORDER FOR PRE-TRIAL RECIPROCAL 
DISCOVERY DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR DISCOVERY 

04-29-02 2 44-47 

REQUEST, AGREEMENT AND ORDER FOR PRE-TRIAL RECIPROCAL 
DISCOVERY DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR DISCOVERY 

07-07-03 2 191-193 

REQUEST, AGREEMENT AND ORDER FOR PRE-TRIAL RECIPROCAL 
DISCOVERY DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR DISCOVERY 

07-09-03 2 194-196 

RESPONSE TO “MOTION TO AMEND JUDGMENT/CORRECT 
JUDGMENT NRS 176.555 

04-25-14 4 629-631 

RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

05-11-07 9 114-117 

RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

05-14-07 9 118-120 
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RETURN OF NEF 02-07-14 4 595-597 

RETURN OF NEF 03-12-14 4 610-612 

RETURN OF NEF 03-18-14 4 614-616 

RETURN OF NEF 04-08-14 4 619-621 

RETURN OF NEF 04-09-14 4 624-626 

RETURN OF NEF 04-28-14 4 632-634 

RETURN OF NEF 05-08-14 4 649-651 

RETURN OF NEF 05-09-14 4 655-657 

RETURN OF NEF 05-30-14 4 672-674 

RETURN OF NEF 06-11-14 4 676-678 

RETURN OF NEF 06-20-14 5 682-684 

RETURN OF NEF 07-08-14 5 687-689 

RETURN OF NEF 07-25-14 5 693-695 

RETURN OF NEF 07-29-14 5 697-699 

RETURN OF NEF 10-20-14 5 706-708 

RETURN OF NEF 12-18-14 5 710-712 

RETURN OF NEF 01-12-15 5 723-725 

RETURN OF NEF 03-02-15 5 732-734 

RETURN OF NEF 03-02-15 5 737-739 

RETURN OF NEF 03-11-15 5 747-749 

RETURN OF NEF 03-18-15 5 751-753 

RETURN OF NEF 03-31-15 5 824-826 

RETURN OF NEF 04-01-15 5 828-830 

RETURN OF NEF 04-22-15 5 833-835 

RETURN OF NEF 05-21-15 5 841-843 

RETURN OF NEF 06-17-16 5 856-858 
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RETURN OF NEF 07-25-16 5 861-863 

RETURN OF NEF 09-14-16 5 867-869 

RETURN OF NEF 09-16-16 5 874-876 

RETURN OF NEF 01-08-21 5 900-902 

RETURN OF NEF 03-16-21 5 906-908 

RETURN OF NEF 03-16-21 5 911-913 

RETURN OF NEF 04-07-21 5 916-918 

RETURN OF NEF 04-07-21 5 921-923 

RETURN OF NEF 06-09-21 5 926-928 

RETURN OF NEF 06-10-21 6 932-934 

RETURN OF NEF 06-10-21 6 940-942 

RETURN OF NEF 06-24-21 6 951-953 

RETURN OF NEF 07-06-21 6 956-958 

RETURN OF NEF 09-10-21 6 963-965 

RETURN OF NEF 09-10-21 6 977-979 

RETURN OF NEF 09-13-21 6 986-988 

RETURN OF NEF 09-29-21 6 994-996 

RETURN OF NEF 10-06-21 6 998-1000 

RETURN OF NEF 10-25-21 6 1003-1005 

RETURN OF NEF 11-19-21 6 1007-1009 

RETURN OF NEF 12-29-21 6 1030-1032 

RETURN OF NEF 02-08-22 6 1036-1038 

RETURN OF NEF 02-22-22 6 1043-1045 

RETURN OF NEF 04-08-22 6 1060-1062 

RETURN OF NEF 06-09-22 6 1067-1069 

RETURN OF NEF 06-22-22 6 1075-1077 
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RETURN OF NEF 06-29-22 7 1079-1081 

RETURN OF NEF 07-18-22 7 1084-1086 

RETURN OF NEF 07-21-22 7 1088-1090 

RETURN OF NEF 10-04-22 7 1093-1095 

RETURN OF NEF 10-21-22 8 1123-1125 

RETURN OF NEF 11-21-22 8 1127-1129 

RETURN OF NEF 11-30-22 8 1141-1143 

RETURN OF NEF 12-22-22 8 1147-1149 

RETURN OF NEF 12-22-22 8 1152-1154 

RETURN OF NEF 05-03-23 8 1165-1167 

RETURN OF NEF 06-16-23 8 1176-1178 

RETURN OF NEF 08-17-23 8 1183-1185 

RETURN OF NEF 10-09-23 8 1219-1221 

RETURN OF NEF 10-12-23 8 1226-1228 

RETURN OF NEF 10-24-23 8 1239-1241 

RETURN OF NEF 10-31-23 8 1243-1245 

RETURN OF NEF 11-14-23 8 1248-1250 

RETURN OF NEF 03-15-05 9 42-57 

SECOND MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 01-09-14 4 583-589 

SECOND REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 02-17-15 5 726-727 

SECOND REQUEST FOR SUBMISSION OF MOTION 03-09-23 8 1157-1158 

SEPARATE MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 10-21-04 4 457-546 

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO REMIT LEGAL DEFENSE FEES 02-22-22 6 1039-1042 

STATE'S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO CORRECT ILLEGAL SENTENCE 07-25-14 5 690-692 

STIPULATION AND REQUEST FOR CONTINUANCE AND ORDER 03-15-02 2 37-39 

SUBSTITUTION OF COUNSEL FOR THE STATE 03-22-13 4 557-558 
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SUPPLEMENTAL PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 
(POST-CONVICTION) & REPLY TO RESPONDENT’S MOTION  
TO DISMISS PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 
(POST-CONVICTION) 

02-23-05 9 27-41 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENT 06-09-04 3 455 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENT 05-08-14 4 645 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENT 01-12-15 5 720 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENT 05-21-15 5 837 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENT 11-30-22 8 1137 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENT 04-04-08 9 150 

SUPREME COURT CLERK’S CERTIFICATE & JUDGMENTS 12-29-21 6 1025 

SUPREME COURT NOTICE OF TRANSFER TO COURT OF APPEALS 10-04-22 7 1091-1092 

SUPREME COURT NOTICE TO TRANSMIT REQUIRED DOCUMENT 03-31-15 5 823 

SUPREME COURT ORDER 11-21-22 8 1126 

SUPREME COURT ORDER CONSOLIDATING APPEALS, DIRECTING 
TRANSMISSION OF RECORDS, DENYING MOTIONS, AND 
REGARDING BRIEFING 

07-18-22 7 1082-1083 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DENYING REHEARING 11-19-21 6 1006 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DENYING REHEARING 12-29-21 6 1026 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DIRECTING TRANSMISSION OF RECORD 06-20-14 4 681 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DIRECTING TRANSMISSION OF RECORD 11-14-23 8 1246-1247 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 04-09-14 4 622-623 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 05-08-14 4 646-648 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 12-18-14 5 709 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 01-12-15 5 721-722 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 04-22-15 5 831-832 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 05-21-15 5 838-840 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEALS 10-25-21 6 1001-1002 
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SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEALS 12-29-21 6 1027-1028 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEALS 01-21-22 8 1121-1122 

SUPREME COURT ORDER DISMISSING APPEALS 11-30-22 8 1138-1140 

SUPREME COURT ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE 05-14-04 3 443-447 

SUPREME COURT ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE 06-09-04 3 450-454 

SUPREME COURT ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE 03-06-08 9 145-148 

SUPREME COURT ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE 04-04-08 9 151-155 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 01-08-04 3 398 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 03-18-14 4 613 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 06-11-14 4 675 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 03-18-15 5 750 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 10-06-21 6 997 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 06-29-22 6 1078 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 10-31-23 8 1242 

SUPREME COURT RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS 11-30-07 9 144 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 06-09-04 3 456 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 05-08-14 4 644 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 01-12-15 5 719 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 05-21-15 5 836 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 12-29-21 6 1029 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 11-30-22 8 1136 

SUPREME COURT REMITTITUR 04-04-08 9 149 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – ARRAIGNMENT – FEB. 13, 2002 03-12-02 2 33-36 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – MOTION FOR O.R. RELEASE INTO 
FEDERAL CUSTODY – APRIL 30, 2003 

05-13-03 2 150-159 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL – 
FEB. 26, 2003 

03-17-03 2 130-136 
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TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL – 
MARCH 21, 2003 

04-09-03 2 138-144 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL – 
PETROCELLI HEARING – SEPT. 6, 2002 

09-16-02 2 92-97 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – MOTION TO CONFIRM TRIAL – 
STATUS HEARING – JUNE 12, 2003 

06-18-03 2 162-169 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – MOTION TO SET TRIAL –  
OCT. 23, 2002 

11-06-02 2 115-119 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – REPORT ON PSYCHIATRIC 
EVALUATION – APRIL 19, 2002 

05-14-02 2 57-64 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – REPORT ON PSYCHIATRIC 
EVALUATION – JUNE 18, 2003 

06-23-03 2 170-190 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – ROUGH DRAFT – APPEAL –  
JURY TRIAL – JULY 10, 2003 

01-12-04 3 399-442 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – SENTENCING – DEC. 10, 2003 12-16-03 3 357-375 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – SENTENCING – DEC. 12, 2003 12-22-03 3 376-389 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – SENTENCING – DEC. 5, 2003 12-11-03 3 323-333 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS – STATUS HEARING / MOTION TO 
CONFIRM – SEPT. 11, 2002 

09-25-02 2 102-113 

UNUSED VERDICT FORMS 07-10-03 2 235-236 

VERDICT 07-10-03 2 205-206 

WAIVE ROF PRELIMINARY EXAMINATION 02-06-02 2 25 

WITHDRAWAL OF COUNSEL 11-14-07 9 135-137 
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Receiving Staff Member/1.D.#:_=~------------------- Date: ____ _ 
(PRINT !'\"AME:) 

(INMATE IS NOT TO WRITE BELOW THIS SPACE) 

ACTION 

Routed to: _________ Date: ___ Re-Routed to: _________ Date: __ _ 

Answer: Approved O 
Reason: 

Denied 0 

RespondingStaffMember/1.D.#: ________________________ Date: __ _ 
(PRINT NAME) 
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-'wAS~oE' COUNTY DETENTIN FACILITY • INMATE REQUEST 
I. Only one issue/topic per request form. 2. Write only in the space provided. 
3. Only one form per each issue/topic. 4. No profanity. 
5. Do not address your request to a named individual. 

Booking #: t) "l- 0b%g'i 

Housing Unit: ----'~------ Cell #: _Lr.!..__. _____ _ Date: I \ti!> l..i,,,o 3 
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ACTION 
Routed to: __________ Date: ___ Re-Routed to: __________ Date: __ _ 

Answer: Approved D Denied D 
Reason: 

Responding Staff Member/ I.D.#: ________________________ Date: __ _ 
(PRINT !I.AMF.) 
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June 25, 2002 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
#60076@NSP 
Box607 

• 

Carson City, NV 89702 

C.D.O.J. 
Attention: Special Agent In Charge 
Mr. Vincent Jura 
Mariposa Street 
Room 5000 
Fresno, CA. 

RE: RETURN OF PROPERTY 

Dear Mr. Jura, 

• 

In February of this year, I wrote a letter apprising you of my predicament and my 
continued interest in resolving the issue concerning the return of my property. 
Please find a copy of such for your review. 

It is my ardent hope that I can make arrangements with my family to secure the 
property that you continue to store in evidence. Again, please bear with me on 
this matter. 

At your earliest convenience, please provide me with a timely reply 
acknowledging your receipt of my correspondence, as well as your cooperation 
with this matter. 

Thank you. 

Cc: file 
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• 
April 4, 2003 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
60076@ NNCC 
Box 7000 
Carson City, nV 89702 

John Kadlic, Esq. 
147 E. Liberty Ste 2 
Reno, NV 89501 

RE: REPLY TO PREVIOUS LETTERS 

Dear Mr. Kadlic, 

• 

Thus fa1:r I .. have made innumerable attempts to contact you, including two letters 

and countless dozens of calls to your office: all to no avail. 

Of paramount concern is the state bail situation for reasons clearly outlined 

in my last letter. It is my objective to deal with this matter in advance of 

the imminent status hearing with the early May trial date. 

In addition, I am still without confirmation as to my representation on the 

three other matters. In view of this, coupled with the lack of discovery on 

certain issues, there is no way that I am prepared to venture in to trial. 

Finally, as a result of my desperation to discuss matters with you, I have 

requested my Power of Attorney, Kevin Sigstad, to call you. Please advise 

him as to the particulars regarding my bail situation. Be is fully aware 

of my legal woes. 

Thank you for your cooperation. 

Ferrill Volpicelli 

cc: file 
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April 9, 2003 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
60076@ NNCC 
Box 7000 

• 

Carson City, NV 89702 

John Kadlic Esq. 
147 E, Liberty Ste 201 
Reno, NV 89501 

RE: REQUEST FOR IMMEDIATE BAIL REARING 

Dear Mr. Kadlic, 

• 

According to my federal public defender, it is imperative that you schedule 

an immediate bail hearing. In view of my pending federal warrant/detainer, 

I am requesting that you seek an O,R, on all the state matters. 

In this way, I can achieve a timely and prudent objective of resolving 

my federal supervised release violations. 

Inasmuch as your office does not accept my calls, and I have not received a 

reply to any of my written inquiries, I must insist that vou pursue this mQtter 

within 5 business days. If not, I will be compelled to write the Honorable 

Judge Hardesty, 

Thank you. 

_-,,~ ~k-:~ c--:o~~u 
Ferrill Volpicelli 

cc: file 
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,wAsJoi ·couNTY DETENl,N FACILITY • 
INMATE REQUEST 
1. Only one issue/topic per request form. 2. Write only in the space provided. 
3. Only one form per each issue/topic. 4. No profanity. 
5. Do not address ~equest to a n":1")d individual. . . 

Inmate's Name: tEt,/?,IU,., //Ot-PtULI..{ 
Housing Unit: ____ .,..2 _____ Cell #: __ /_2,..""-·----

Describe Re uest: .15 E ~ M. r. · A;t)u c. 
DD 

Booking #: C)J-()t., H1 · 
Date: __ '}L.....:,/:.a6':~-_;_Cl_3_· ·_ 

-~l47 

-~-:!-V,,1l__]~L_~'N..!,.L.!,e~....L..:......:£~~~c!:L.--,_ll~:'1---~~~,._....,..,,.,_,,.B\vL . 

(INMATE IS NOT TO WRITE BELOW THIS SPACE) 

ACTION 

Routed to: _________ Date: ___ Re-Routed to: _________ Date: __ _ 

Answer: Approved O Denied D 

S-725 (01/02) 

V3. 258

V3. 258



•• 
1 

2 
1 
-/tfft O)r,J ( i . 

· 8 $ 1)\-fL <..)-f: /J~ Jlr-Ok 
4 55 
5 C,vu A.I ,t _·_u{-- (JM{tcl 

• Ferrill Volpicelli 
03-06889 @WCSO 
911 Parr Blvd . 
Reno, NV 89512 

6 

7 ~'-s AJ~ _t)~wl),kl,.}, FLJUJU-~ ~L-P<c.Lu..J; 
8 uwov... PeAJkv"I u-f; ~lbfc1..Y uJ{)e.~ m 1--ws 

1: or- ~ $,)\·fL uf-- ,.}e_..;,M.A-j OLP~Ll -~ Sit-IS:. 

V3. 259

V3. 259



Ferrill Volpicelli / · 
03-06889 @WCSO 

•• 
9 I I Parr Blvd 

1 Reno, NV 89512 

2 . l>W rn,~ 1/tlc(_J./ol.D ;i/✓ui76A-t"'.'1JrJs.-- 13-y /tff<.f<J 
!"\ . . . . 

3 . Put...tC~ ii E P#ui'-f.,J~ C ,'\-t..1hltlrl1 ~ . 0EP,A.-~f?1'-t-"'! 
4 c) (-- --r u S TT c.t J T>:fE. C /\J I"' 1 rJ ,lt.,. () r vt J 1 1,},J ~;f-- / ~t., 
5 u, ~ ' V"l.l.S n~€,. .· p ~Pkf..J'""'M..t1.vi'j. )<,,.;-0 nf-~ {l.f; Pt!ki 
6 of:h.N () f./l f A-~u.{Aivl uf. /(/ ( ✓ )rQ A-, . . . · 
7 ~· s,t,o 1,v✓r.s0<.1ti,()rJ4 ~!Jc.. .. ,v.,tt-/.,~··rw ,i-,J 
8 s d e.s~q)Jf tJr- 1,v'(), c.'fr.,1Ji't. ~ e. l.2 1vn.1A:t...-

,: ~~~2:::/ ;1'"},~:":~to~t (!un · 
11 J)'f-,4, ,i.Y OJtff. . (_),J /1--LJuJ(~ 1~,SJL! J.,ttl~c,t 
12 ) 

l..J, n+- · /\.tu Ps.c.,, ;u . (l r,. .. :~:. Pt.f\.?-/ . S Ll 'ttD 13 'l 
~ . 

T> ~ c.. ;D. o. r u ~(i , IL- r m.J) u kd--~l<;-JT; 
14 
15 ( s U- /;:._U--6 (I,,._ p ,t-NY I, .. ; 6 l,G?Tr/4.. bi D w ,,t~fNL () (J "f'/,J.t( -

16 
,-t-rrui1--,J tf L0i6~"- w,~~(.i:) 

17 T/i,t'r , p. 7>tt. 1) EftJ..)f)A~,r wk! I"~~ . .kt.-1.~-L 
18 c)f. 7}{7,1 . ~w,l fi_1c( c.'!{-- f tJ ff Alct~ ~_,tt\-C..t !!il.; 

19 !f1- ws.:i.Jy) t-h-~t p,.._i:;;,.._rrtt OtS ;,\_lJJJ_,tj /\-1 ,e_; 
20 (..-"t:O(.,t 6 E...s ~ ... · . 
21 "J1f-n-;- 1v-1 orL 1h'!~~r ·1ltt..· Jv--.-.;;Jh L~r:: Af;1.._,1..... . 
22 ri /,y <f"J.Jc ,tr-v .;;JZ)1.1 cJF 11 c, 1 OLfi.""o~ 
2a Selii'u¥ ~DAt..- (.iP:\,tJl.,JfA1?<0iJ ~,h-1.uu~+-
24 /H._ tl, vn.t:.._ ,,{t l _\-,..J µ_ 6 .. tY--:tJI :-/Cr j)\'t. lJ,,0\ f,.,,t,,-.("" · 

25 . ,,h-,1\Q £tJs <JI ,J CJ I "1 VlJ',JG)- T),,~ N !. 
26 ,71.f:'~·r o [/trJo,.+y,,.,-r 1.::. ;,.I~ s r<·-s-1, f/1:::D <· "'r',)-} 
27 nf"z.. ((J Plt.s:--·rii')r:ii·\1) d r #1' ,l, J(:f.JL<C. 
28 

V3. 260

V3. 260



--

•• 
1 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
· 03-06889 @WCSO 
· 9 lJ Parr Blvd 
Reno, NV 89512 

2 PrL(.:::.,t_ · .,i) .k,,JJ). /)J{L!Nu- /)lr /ft.. J ;f! . £✓1 ~'i._wt.t.,i 

3 r~ 1 r,r~ A.·-cc.,::,t\' P.A-:>./"lrt-lCr ~~:,1E1e.s. -
4 nrA-!'.i"""· P E.,. t! M I) lt-,J r· W ltS. · 1-}'IJ I £ J'i tJ I\'\ A-OL.. 

5 W 1,t1L c..>{-- vk )-I · fi. t; (\ r.J #Y
I 

z,uu 3 c_ j r,-.~t_/r/,. -

6 f!r:?,\~rlP~t.,.Jf t)tJ,1L.- · f)lrfL u~ TA.1 A-1..., , 

7 7){A-t. /ruJ<:I ti .S (' 0 ~-fi,J {) t>r:,Ji" J. (;.} If Ak-J ,,... fl1 - . 

8 K..lt{)u c., - Pv ,.._p\)Ji Alty · /) , I) - JJ~ ( P ,.._:;{,✓i- Lv1 ,:> LA,<-L. - . . 

9 ,.__f.LGV.krJt tU OEfr_,.,-C)k,JfS C /t'~ £., 
10 Tlf-A,. 1 ,-1 1./1iiiJ u? 1,t'6 f;,, t6~1A/C.,, TlfL _. 
11 D ~.-R:t10~,-,J r n:?PF.+c..-.S -. rm:__ fiN·frL · ~ll oici-­

e,, lS;,~{J ,)P,:~,J f)(.('__cJ1... Pi-1\b{L'/ €... vLi}ErvCE w 17h 12 

13 t't!c.6 to'- O _?u A:_,cift,,A_,,./f 'I - cw erv'f c. ~.)r-#'lJL! ._;;/: · , N(lN. ~ f,' 
14 ~- 1 rJ rJr.. E..JuJ1 ·ru, _- p,1.u.J.;,,e:.u/i-.)J ;l.£0.;tU--.S. 
15 ,~ f...u )11,.. 1 w ""'',J ,J c.£--- c_ ~,.1 IY'..::i✓["-$. 1./cl,, 1 ,..;~,._M-1tr, ~,J 

f:!~~Jt,J_& 'tt'J _,oc, )-7/ ~ lffr..,1,\.r3 tit. L~.;~3 

_J.;N'C.•()~1) £)£~1.J{)k~ /NSr:Jt't Uf~J A-
$:£1. J~,4.fr"~ci!.. ~\/ F"-~frlt..J tr/T'I.J 7Wu r1L1A-1,,~. 

;fJJ~- f71'1~'"/). 7!·A( If t,...\1..c ... f!, L ,'ft~ ' 
O~n .vr}'<,0r~ 1 ,\J it."17>.:»J 71.'>- 'Jt~7)f/ A-i {3-::.l"J+· 

6 ? D-1'isf.., TJl-1 kL-,S. . 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

'l:1 

28 

V3. 261

V3. 261



June 25, 2002 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
#60076@NSP 
Box607 
Carson City, NV 89702 

C.D.O.J. 
Attention: Special Agent In Charge 
Mr. Vincent Jura 
Mariposa Street 
Room 5000 
Fresno, CA. 

RE: RETURN OF PROPERTY 

Dear Mr. Jura, 

• 

In February of this year, I wrote a letter apprising you of my predicament and my 
continued interest in resolving the issue concerning the return of my property. 
Please find a copy of such for your review. 

It is my ardent hope that I can make arrangements with my family to secure the 
property that you continue to store in evidence: Again, please bear with me on. 
this matter. 

At your earliest convenience, please provide me with a timely reply 
acknowledging your receipt of my correspondence, as well as your cooperation 
with this matter. 

Thank you. 

Cc: file 
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April 4, 2003 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
60076@ NNCC 
Box 7000 
Carson City, nV 89702 

John Kadlic, Esq. 
147 E. Liberty Ste 2 
Reno, NV 89501 

RE: REPLY TO PREVIOUS LETTERS 

Dear Mr. Kadlic, 

• 

Thus f~i:; I .. have made innumerable attempts to contact you, iucluding two lette.rs 

and countless dozens of calls to your office: all to no avail. 

Of paramount concern is the state bail situation for reasons clearly outlined 

in my last letter. It is my objective to deal with this matter in advance of 

the :Imminent status hearing with the early May trial date. 

In addition, I am still without confirmation as to my representation on the 

three other matters. In view of this, coupled with the lack of discovery on 

certain issues, there is no way that I am prepared to venture in to trial. 

Finally, as a result of my desperation to discuss matters with you, I have 

requested my Power of Attorney, Kevin Sigstad, to .call you. Please advise 

him as to the particulars regarding my hail situation. He is fully aware 

of my legal woes. 

Thank you for your cooperation. 

cc: file 
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April 9, 2003 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
60076@ NNCC 
Box 7000 
Carson City, NV 89702 

John Kadlic Esq. 
147 E. Liberty Ste 201 
Reno, NV 89501 

RE: REQUEST FOR IMMEDIATE BAIL HEARING 

Dear Mr. Kadlic, 

According to my federal public defender, it is imperative that you schedule 

an immediate bail hearing. In view of my pending federal warrant/detainer, 

I am requesting that you seek an O.R. on all the state matters. 

In this way, I can achieve a timely and prudent objective of resolving 

my federal supervised release violations , 

Inasmuch as your office does not accept my calls, and 1 have not received a 

reply to any of my written inquiries, I must insist that you pursue t his mat t er 

within 5 business days. If not ; I will be compelled to write the Honorable 

Judge Hardesty, 

Thank you. 

Ferrill Volpicelli 

cc: file 
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June 25, 2002 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
#60076@NSP 
Box607 
Carson City, NV 89702 

C.O.0.J. 
Attention: Special Agent In Charge 
Mr. Vincent Jura 
Mariposa Street 
Room 5000 
Fresno, CA. 

RE: RETURN OF PROPERTY 

Dear Mr. Jura, 

• 

In February of this year, I wrote a letter apprising you of my predicament and my 
continued interest in resolving the issue concerning the return of my property. 
Please find a copy of such for your review. 

It is my ardent hope that I can make arrangements with my family to secure the 
property that you continue to store in evidence. Again, please bear with me on 
this matter. 

At your earliest convenience, please provide me with a timely reply 
acknowledging your receipt of my correspondence, as well as your cooperation 
with this matter. 

Thank you. 

Cc: file 
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April 4, 2003 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
60076@ NNCC 
Box 7000 
Carson City, nV 89702 

John Kadlic, Esq. 
147 E. LibertySte 2 
Reno, NV 89501 · 

RE: REPLY TO PREVIOUS LETTERS 

Dear Mr. Kadlic, 

• 

Thus f~ I. .. have made innwnerable attempts to contact you, · including two letters 

and countless dozens of calls to your office: all to no avail. 

Of paramount concern is the state bail.situation for reasons clearly outlined 

in my last letter. It is my objective to deal with this matter in advance of 

the imminent status hearing with the early M~y trial date. 

In addition, I am still without confirmation as to my representation on the 

three other matters. In view of this, coupled with the lack of discovery on 

certain issues, there is no way that I am prepared to venture in to trial. 

Finally, as a result of my desperation to discuss matters with you, I have 

requested my Power of Attorney, Kevin Sigstad, to call you. Please advise 

him as to the particulars regarding my bail situation. He is fully aware 

of my legal woes. 

Thank you for your cooperation. 

Ferrill Volpicelli 

cc: file 

' . ,, 
, ["'\-i\\ ~ 

'1 
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April 9, 2003 

Ferrill Volpicelli 
60076@ NNCC 
Box 7000 

• 

Carson City, NV 89702 

John Kadlic Esq. 
147 E. Liberty Ste 201 
Reno, NV 89501 

• 

RE: REQUEST FOR IMMEDIATE BAIL HEARING 

Dear Mr. Kadlic, 

According to my federal public defender, ·it is imperative that you schedule 

an immediate bail hearing. In view of my pending federal warrant/detainer, 

I am requesting that you seek an 0,R. on all the state matters. 

In this way, I can .achieve a timely and prudent objective of resolving 

my federal supervised release violations. 

Inasmuch as your office does not accept my calls, and I have not received a 

reply to any of my written inquiries, I must insist that you pursue this !!latter 

within 5 business days. If not, I will be co!!lpelled to write the Honorable 

Judge Hardesty. 

Thank you. 

~ 3~ 
Ferrill Volpicelli 

cc: file ,, ,, 
l '!-.\~.\ C. 

/"':::. 
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• OR\G\NAL • 
2840 

F ~ ~ r:: ti :, ;;.;-;r,; l.~7,'..:-:1 D 
AUG I 3 2u03 

RONALD A. LQf.f~LERK 
By:'::':C) . 

D,PUTY 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

8 FERRILL J. VOLPICELLI, 

9 
Plaintiff, 

10 v. Case No. CR02-0147 

11 Dept. No. 9 

12 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

13 
Defendant. 

14 I 

ORDER 

15 

16 

17 The Court has reviewed and considered Petitioner's Ex Part Petition for 

18 Clarification filed on August 1, 2003. 

19 Pursuant to WDCR 9(3)(c) "The court shall not consider any ex parte 

20 communication, letter, report or other document but shall forthwith notify counsel for all 

21 parties, on the record, of any attempted ex parte communication or document or 

22 submission." 

23 

24 /Ill 

25 /Ill 

26 

27 

28 
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• • 
1 Good cause appearing, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Petitioner's Ex Parte 

2 Petition for Clarification is DENIED without prejudice.1 

3 Dated this I o/ day of August, 2003. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

~~-~· 
mW.HARDESTY 

DISTRICT JUDGE 

The relief requested by Petitioner must be resubmitted by his counsel of record pursuant to LCR 7. 

2 
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1 

2 

3 

• • 
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Second 

4 Judicial District Court, in and for the County of Washoe; and that on this (3 day of 

5 August, 2003, I deposited in the County mailing system for postage and mailing with the 

6 United States Postal Service in Reno, Nevada, a true and correct copy of the attached 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

document addressed as follows: 

Ferrill J. Volpicelli, #60076 
Washoe County Detention Facility 
(via interoffice mail) 

Bradlw. 0. Van Ry, Esq. 
1403 . Fourth Street 
Reno, NV 89512 

John J. Kadlic, Esq. 
550 California Avenue 
P. 0. Box 2477 
Reno, NV 89505 

Tam~ Riggs, Es-fly 
WAS OE COUN DISTRICT 

ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 
(via interoffice mail) 
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Fl 
AUG 2 5 2003 

JR., c~ts Transportaii:.:;,, 

·, ·ovid1{UG 2 0 2JQJ 

Booking #:0 ~ ~ (.:, w, 
Cell#: -~\_L.-____ _ Date: y--( ' -1.l ?> 

Receiving Staff Member/1.D.#: \\A. o/3-5 z..Z., 13' Date: 8-/'9-03" 
(PR=1N=T'cN-'-AM,",E~)--------------'=~"--

(INMATE IS NOT TO WRITE BELOW THIS SPACE) 

ACTION 

Routed to: C.ou ?:'I$ Date: ~ /'7 Re-Routed to: Date: --------- ---

Answer: Approved D Denied D 
Reason: 

81,j i-.,,:/:l:·t-V", o Cl_'.) ,~,voi-~i,,_ dJ:::ro&vW\.e,i+ X-,,u;..iv:rd l;x...-+ ~»+ Cavis.,J,..,-e.J 
tJ=tip~Jt''H(:1t~·j7::+~;:;u::Jr~\,;.., <\ Ne+·,cc, ¥&,·\: -+o '.D A. 1 

Responding StaffMember/1.D.#: :=-:,-----------------------Date: __ _ 
(PRl:'IITNA.\1.E) 

S-725 (01/02) 
White-Booking; Canary-Inmate; Pink-Inmate Receipt 

V3. 280

V3. 280



• OR\G\NAL 
/ 1 CODE: 2528 AUG 2 5 2003 

RONALD A. LONG;r:Jlj; JR., CLERK 

By: ~ '::c-'k'4f 
DE UTY 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

8 STATE OF NEVADA, 

9 

10 vs. 

Plaintiff, 

11 FERRILL J. VOLPICELLI, 

12 

13 

Defendant. 

-----------------' 

Case No. CR02-0147 

Dept. No. 9 

14 NOTICE OF DOCUMENT RECEIVED BUT NOT CONSIDERED BY THE COURT 

15 TO: District Attorney's Office and Defense counsel: 

16 

17 Take notice that the attached document has been received unsolicited by the 

18 Court. The Court has not reviewed the document. Further, the Court will not review the 

19 document absent an affirmative request to do so from a party. 

20 /II 

21 /I/ 

22 /// 

23 /I/ 

24 /II 

25 /I/ 

26 This document was considered by the Court only if initialed and dated by the 

27 Judge below. 

28 

Date Judges Initials 
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• • 
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Second 

4 Judicial District Court, in and for the County of Washoe; and that on this ;is-i,day of 

5 August, 2003, I deposited in the County mailing system for postage and mailing with the 

6 United States Postal Service in Reno, Nevada, a true and correct copy of the attached 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

document addressed as follows: 

Ferrill J. Volpicelli, #60076 
Washoe County Detention Facility 
(via interoffice mail) 

Bradlw 0. Van Ry, Esq. 
1403 . Fourth Street 
Reno, NV 89512 

John J. Kadlic, Esq. 
550 California Avenue 
P. 0. Box 2477 
Reno, NV 89505 

Tam~ Ri~s, Es"(y 
WAS OE OUN DISTRICT 

ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 
(via interoffice mail) 

ist nt 
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• 
CODE: 1930 SE~ 1 2 2003 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

8 STATE OF NEVADA, 

9 

10 vs. 

Plaintiff, 

11 FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 

12 Defendant. 

13 
11------------------'' 

14 LETTER FROM DEFENDANT 

15 SEE ATTACHED DOCUMENT 

16 Ill 

17 Ill 

18 Ill 

19 Ill 

20 Ill 

21 Ill 

22 Ill 

23 Ill 

24 Ill 

25 Ill 

26 Ill. 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 

Case No. CR02:0_1,!J6'-:,. 
~CR02c0147 . 

CR02-0148 
CR03-1263 

Dept. No. 9 
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1 

2 

3 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Second 

4 Judicial District Court, in and for the County of Washoe; and that on this ! ,h day of 

5 September, 2003, I deposited in the County mailing system for postage and mailing with the 

6 United States Postal Service in Reno, Nevada, a true and correct copy of the attached 

7 document addressed as follows: 

8 

· 9 Ferrill J. Volpicelli, #60076 
Washoe County Detention Facility 

1 O (via interoffice mail) 

11 Jack A. Alian, Esq. 
360 W. Liberty Street 

12 Reno, NV 89501 

13 John J. Kadlic, Esq. 
550 California Avenue 

14 P. 0. Box 2477 
Reno, NV 89505 

15 
Tammy Riggs, Esq. . 

16 Deputy District Attorney 
WASHOE COUNTY DISTRICT 

17 ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 
(via interoffice mail) 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Ic e . hul 
AdmiTistrative A:S:tant 
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IN AND FOR THE · COUNTY OF WASHOE 

BY 

) 

) 

) . 

) 

) 

DEPT. NO. ~'1-

-------------·' 

(__c)~LS ·. N'uW ~t.R . .t.,(u_ ~- ,Jt;::,,_A_ct..~, Prrt \) l).;-rtR.. kt,J-D 

Qc;__ft_r-lO,A;-i--J't, 10 ('...Wllf q:-,lS'L, c_~\'l.-~5 0 ISl'\.\.\S ~ ~F' 
/VI.ft., -:::ro1+111 IC..A--01.--tc., ~s~. ~~, ~-"19 ru-1f\\:.tJt1t ot""A--r-1()~ 
t-1'"\s c_..:,.i-J\1""1Nil(:)N11;1- ,sll(_"N-- ~t·"')lfl-tN\ · -llt<...t~ Tu '(lt,O~L~t...Jf 

-\-+-1. "" .. 'i..1..-f' . 

Tf'r'L c:._.::;,<J n.:f t+«.s. A-Y ()uq.JTT..ib ..:::r.:) t.\.-J \C._f.'OL-tc.. £.s ~ " ~ 
(l.E..fJl-.'c.....';,[Ji ~-. Pt.ft il0.Nl{\ I I-! "f1tt.. ~~v'L {lt.fi.(1.J,fiJ<:._'i.v'j 

V"-W'i/t. ~u.v~tty.J1 ntt. ~~ui\.f Pf...~t.c__'i.ouJC.., \ {)£.Tcf\..)~ .. · . . . .·. I. . 
1-\:-l'(S D~ u ........ £.1',JQ~ t ,w()tc...1{1.;- rJf $£.c..::irJD -~t...k\ ~ (.!..P.4..ttrli'Jl't\1~J .. 

- . , 
-n+i.:, I J Ct..-W◊LS. I 6 u l l S ,JO\ L.---1 ,..._ ,TI..-.D -ro, Puc f;-:l Nlr':\ 

1\-v-tkfL..tr-Jt.S.S. vP- A,J ,ki'iu-A.NLY -~L-(t"1\ ~-!:)1'1f"1-1.c...r _uf- \ r-,Jtt,tqf::.. 

Su,st.,S'e.~0~n..lLJ\ tu ~- DA{ 'yF T'~\i\'\.... f.l~ 10 'iUc-/, JJj(l), 
.. I 

Tt-I.k .. ~~~,0c~~ ~ '(1tl. ~t-fo(l__~L~ C:.::iv/lf w.tl\.... µ~,;--
t,-c..~tJ~u--\1.-\;;'Q~ t ~- · f;:; N-.6 (j 1 ~ c.r- c: ~l'.ic..L~iv" r,-\--;\-r O.sr1 n \) "Jtit. 

l¼~ () ~~.Jt.. Y.{" N ~\"\), ) s. PLC..\ f·v:.~u .. y r~~/ ~Cr-~ ((.~.<-. .i\-ltO I ~(.;. 

l \J tfft.c.111l c u \JiJ ~ U.. I . ~ f-_l:J"iJQ,c. \ r,;'L C...0.r-J ft.H_( ,.", -F \ rJ rt l\lt (' 

V3. 297

V3. 297



• • 
1 ~{) C,J.._~f;C:.A-i1~J ur l~S <JU.· W\.\11"' t'\._~,t Pt~ N 

2 (ii h-\\-) {).t.f\'l'\ ~Nlll... l S c::;V'i..ll..•,;.;i~~-tJtil..'( ~~~<>LLLC::tl. 

s -ru f._E.Pf--.U~ •. rr tt-L ,....,._s,t,1....c. ~ p,_el<;i), i-1es s n Leo ~ 1 . 
4 P £.fl f) ;-, rJt r'L (LLl.:l ~OpJG- ,-.,'tt,_ ~ N- c...:., l'H:.r- (_cl 'N QJuJS 

5 t.,.) , n:r c..~ ..J iJ So U.... ~ . ~ 'E..Lf- ~~ P~t>. i\.. "/ 1 A-,,Ji) 

6 SECl✓~ A-s 1m-- e,M.1.t ~~ .. ~ f..l-t1r-t~"' 1 i'"'S~Lmv<... 

: u-l l\\\- A'"\.,\_ ~"tttfl PLt2►.,L;uJ1.tt) ?0<--,J...,._l~ l fl~t.l\! 

fr:!!'!> .. ~~. \ti. ~. 1 rs c.) iJ f; i.:.~ ~M.1 .tJ ,. 
9 

10 9w1"'1!.. ~" . ~i'!N(l..!T't~ .. 

11 · ~'t.--rt ri ~ rft<L · s~~l.(.s. · ~ .Pt---.'.'. rt.c,.r ~Cr. ~I,)~~ 

12 hi--~"' D -,t,,.fe._,.,r {L ~t+-i~ ~ D0 t. f /1,..\\t..Ll.t (t.J \l\t'fS , 
ll I .. 

~ ~~- ~ ~u.~t PE--IL~~"""~ ~ f.. ut-.1 
14 · 

sts:-~tJ-0 C!._L}'{t~ '-/1ao,t1c.r- 'S~~,.,!l C...c..1\-1.S 
15 <( o\nct, -rit:i:s rJc.;o ........ or...~ ~1.r, ~r l.., ,.i,...l\l...lf) N 
16 . I · 

17 
t::. v,... \,;,. ~ t ~ .J u+ , ti 1/u r I t. Jr-n ~ tJ 'hj f=~1 w t'--t. l'.\l llt~ p ,.:-. .... j 

('O C...Ll C N~ p·/ ~ ✓1 i(.J €\ /'r:'N'f) ( t S uLS . uf- (_>Qr-/CS..~rJJ 
18 

19 
A-S t>J~1...1.... A~ u11->-\~S1-:::. .J o~ t.,t\'Ot....L..t.' k_u.-. 0 :f- vJ \'t'I c:.l\-. , I 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

'5t-Nt.lt.,!J t,.,e11t-O ~ k tft.,~ \'il-t,1>,1..., t:iN 'f)f't. 

(l.m1-st-.1~ -~- ut-lt c_>.;,J t-it..1/t.~ 1'1£. Utt..f'MrJ 

w~ ~lGH,-r ~t. t\:*h1trJt.Q ~ · c_~u ... i)t.<-

p £1-, ~..,1-. ¥'4-0 · {!.. !. TT1i.fl 1 

r: . .-1 ·~ .. c'>r·}.c-..:-,,,Jty- V'Akr:tr--J) ·. C.u\Jr-/St.J,.... i!,il--lA:t.lc't·Li) 

nq_. O0r-;,· 0F ~~tAu-l .,- fc..1-t-tt,,{}s 'f}tl. ,,\\Jsr 
.·• ~ 

€,ft!.~c. 0F- e.00,J\t1..,::,~s 01.rfteS. /r:>J'i) f<..;.,,,.;1-y) 11 

, s D, ffi c_0u T'0 ~r;;s 1.1 <l.L T1t·'i!.. .p 1\J..S..q L f(ftc.c 
6 ,j lJtL O ~-Q..fJ, t crf::. l\s. f ~t.,,S,t,,J·r-1\-11\lJ 

,. 

V3. 298

V3. 298



• • 
l (__()(UuP\l.;.O ~y e _ _,.:)i-/fu~GNtr l\.J\'Li'Uf~ .. :.rr./ i>h...· 
2 tJt,f,~ tr- ~ u·PM-"'-l. t-~vl\.1 (LvL~-s ¾1 c.a 2. ~{,:) 

.. · . . . . . ) . . 
8 t_ L~ '-':/ ~ , ~7-~ ) vl \ ti- · . fLLu kM ~ Tu ~u't(.. ~UL. . 
4 :::f u o er L c:i "- ~ <s t m t;i""\J tt , ,. ... , .. ~t t.LPf A~ ~ t'l'.;t._£1 , ,J 
5 S-11!:.S~c..TJ~A l4) / A '-hi~ tt\. ·.·· &~u.. >J~i fL£-Pr--.u t~, 
6 }Q,J"f:::::..,.JL I J ~.::::.r/wU.nu.J vJ ·* ,.._. tl'A-1°1tlL. I rJ Wth u{.. 
7 -pn.,.. . L-m-J Y f._~ P }\,'U'! C,l P Jtft .Q PEf'-f <.:IM K1..1-t ~ 
8 S 1J <J,,, .. rr-f<:IJT, J\1.-1--y · ~ A-- ~u out o fl. C.::ii\ 'CT. ,r..... 
9 ,'¼l'l!I-Ou: .. ~l.it. uf-n~IL, ~\\'11..,~-n::;<1.. t)(L t_M t..LWC.. 

lO ,u ~\JC-~ k • Pt-rLt~iJ \ UN l..J:. s~ roJ- · ~ hiltt:3~. 

· 
11 1'o Tlt't ~,._¢:e ,~oi .Jt.,. c..1StJ, t..Jr k-rrti\.. . D ltc..1 ... ~<Jilt. 
12 · .• . 
~ µ (.;)tt-r t-v Q 0u t-1 ~-t.1- , ~ na. 1U ~ ~ . ro 

13 · .·· .. 
~ (.:.f<i.c.n ✓L . KS\ (J ~ · o F ~ ~IJ iJ~ ll.., M._c. '#\0 .. .-,, .... \J 

.M . 
15 .Ru:..;.l.~(L1)~o,J Lt,1S1\,_L."1 C.u'fL€(.. V :;;i,.h ... !...tv.A-,J l "fn 
16 c.00(l.(' ~'-'o ~ .Qi¼.,J'"'ui?l.(...e... (s,, P~u...-.\.() w\~..J CuJiJS 

11 \ s ~0~oi.J"0 r; 'I M )s:c..{--J xi-- c__..::;; r-!Fi.-t c..r a.f- ...r:r,111.~ T, 
18 , 1 ..... .-\ C:i~~N\.tt V \) .. ~-- LL "i'-1).) uJL\1..,-t c_0'1,J) ... L.'~ [{fec._0,\{t,~ 

19 ,-.J11,~ wk;<, u ....... ,na ~'I k--~~,.J·h ... Lu,ui::ii-JfL11.4') I'-~ . 

20 C....::.u~ t\:t.1...0 ,-,~ k ()'tttiJOlt,-J~ .$\.;1q1t- fn",.'i.t>1,0t1--lr.A 

21 ilJ. \,.t-1;-j"' w')CT. Vl -:,1.,.,k-l"l.i) f', 'f $ ,jt.,l~ I ~i...fft~t11'E c:..:::.v .. ,H E..L, 

22 ~0 it.-u\:U.. Tl tL e_ .::::.1.1 n.-1 <.Jf- f\;f ff. t-;t-S ~ <\. Dft.-
S'i... C,__,J'f,I(} t_; 1 (le_.._\, ( () ~QC) {G_(...\.t..,i=, I t_ ,':)tJ t.,L)J O 1 ,,,Jr;.. 23 

24 1'~ u r-11) Lil. kr,/OEJS. ,J C... kl,.\ Fil Jt_,J, 1\ (_ L q c.. r) 
1 

25 , J il~ I ,\.... I\,,_ r_ 1 . ,--.,_,..,.. I , 
~ \~~N r- \J '"'~N flAc:N\ l N~! er~ 1 rs It\ \"(1J 1!;.,:'f\')f,,t:{/ 

{LA:., i L J\""'O o n·1 ~iJ n,1.,,. e_ ~.L;/)i;,/~(._ i Po 1 >J'i'i~ 
1 

rte.. 
~ NJ t,y y'V\..U 5 1 ,1\-RG U L "{\'ti_ /'r-0 {) t i'? ~ N' -~ p <...l i N' 0. . 

28 ~ry~ T!ln... Fd t,J,_ ~ I<:. TI:,,,, i est=-- ( ~ .p I'-~ {i. ~ ~ ( .::i r,-1 A1,.,.. 

26 

27 

V3. 299

V3. 299



• 
1. Mt<..-tr,, LE"'-RtWL~ kOPl-O e't SuP"-Ltl--t.- e__\.~~). 
2 k--0 l'I~ s,~t. · M~1 \(kQLtt-. tu...N\U ·~ 
3 J\°C .. (}J~v-h.-~~()£..,. .A-M{) .··· "',..__~f,{-t.t',- ~\IC..~ tS.~ vtJ. .. ~ . 

4 "(t~ c__>!:)vtw.f' ~CL 1--wli:v-/ ~ 0 £..rtJLl"A,"" .,1,-;-l o...i 1 
s ~ rr l \'I ~ .JUI- ;v-,-\J, r · () ~~ t~f\. (:_ t.::l.t.Jc..E. ,.__i-r i. ~ ~ ~ tlf,~ 

6 U tJ . ~~ ~ \..IJ J /lf.t_LUfo._~ I . . . 

7 .J_..tJ · e_ul'!S~~Jr...re;t; .l\~.·· .. Pttttl~tft"- (4_(.}.Jt.\f'S 

8 llh_ e.~11-.l .~ ~~f-~t..t1 ~'""-~u.f 1"1 .li-i,t 
9 ~ ~ t /r::,,19 ~ .I\.. m . C ~w i.:r l" . flt. (_~ ti S 1 0 Lil 

10 .~ · · ~~✓l~ .. a ... ,. ~L-1:''9 M..~o.::.rJS. ~ '{ Pt..T'1 n~tJltt.. 
l1 c..,J l 'f)~ 6lu f'tcf' f'U. . fr" ,J f.._vl T'(L t XL kffO 

12 
CL-~Lt Ftc.f\-i"l ~ ~ . 0 F- .$ ni.:n.. . ~ /tH .... , 

13 

14 

15 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

t='h<l.Ui k ✓ (, A;1--t N w 1 /lr (__ l 17 ~) . 

V'I\ Mt.Tl "t.. i. " t ,.__,t,..-\ ~ f'l. ..{ I l>r L ~ ~ ... t) ') 

V3. 300

V3. 300



. . . • 
1 · · .· A-ffi oA-V 

I
r · . . 

2 r, rl,(LILLLL -~. VuL--PlLLL~,·) ..Sv-ft._~ UN"Ctfl. 
8 rE_,4'}Q.'.fY ~ r~~flYi PuNvh-fl ~ T°'t-L 
4 -~Q<'--~~Jt_t/tft ,iN-fl...!') -~- .J:' ,(__>l,jwtitJc.r_'-Y 
s fr"/!) l ,/'QJ...u. t::.'t. ... "17L/ vf ~vL ~'/ (Lu .. ~~ N 
6 e_o t.lo-IStJ.... ~ {) t_,.,.__~Q ff'-'/. ll..tl...:i~ .~ 

7 $~L.f: - ~ ~,4..,~~r.Jf-mr~J · I "1 l\Q {:;t---_~~~\~G, 

8 ~Tl~ iJ • ~ _:r::: I.) tJ O t. t\.S ~ Ci T'<K.. 
9 0 tS k-01/~ w:ui s Cf-- s- t_\_,f= - {\,J __ e <'---Ls! ~NIA;, (~N. 

10 fl, wt v'UL) t ,..; · V l e- irl of- ,-A"~ h[~t--l (M_tl'-Ji.l ~NE/J · 

11 o ll.C..0 "'s-c·f,tL--~ t . \ _ ~ ~""-k i w { ~ w c_ fuJ t t. ~ 
12 I N 6 I- 0 ~IL ~ fl t. ft_-~ t;;f,. 0 I~ 7 ('1rL. c._ ~IJ t,..•r- . 
13 50 .KS ~ · ,P~ft'-lt t i..lvtl r,....f...L~¼Jf' N 

14 t1t----, (l I Gtt-f ~ , 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 t.f..jl.) \-fit.Ml. cf 'S, t~ t.~: D Pont.O kw() C__ .:::,py M At.LUO 
22 ur-1 l'i'ni~~l, v.) /\'/ uf £r.,p,-, l u~ 1 l ~ \'IQ.' W iQ. tt'JL 
23 C:c.).Jr-n-y f) '-i N..~c..r ki,.;~1\f'il( · ;.;,.,,,'fl ~· 01\:-t-l \(~01..LC.. €.t ¼, 
24 U1'f0tt\... Pt.i~LT( ut--· Ptrt.~Ji'.)" Pvr~.J-~r t,:-. t,jfl..~ . ,(~-::.,-
25 

26 

27 

28 

V3. 301

V3. 301



.- FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPI.I ••• . : ' 

u~6,~.____-
H~Time_...,_ __ 

pt-\ 3· I 8 
'/.~~3 QCi 21.i · . . 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT O i 

- --- 0C C ~ 
- D:::J+> 
~ WO C = LLU:J Petitioner, 

FERRILL J. VOLPICELLI, 

-t- 0 -=- ~~uu 
-□ .... QJ = IUlLO VS 
-Nl-...,_c 
=oa111vit 
- D::1-·-• fGC 

(JV)03( 

STATE OF NEVADA 
Respondents et al.,· 
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CASE NO. CR02-0147 

DATE, JUDGE 
OFFICERS OF 
COURT PRESENT 

STATE OF NEVADA VS. FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI 

12/05/03 
HONORABLE 
JAMESW. 
HARDESTY 
DEPT. NO. 9 
S. Sattler 
(Clerk) 
C. Vohl 
(Reporter) 
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APPEARANCES-HEARING CONTINUED TO 

ENTRY OF JUDGMENT AND IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE 

Deputy D.A. Tammy Riggs represented the State. 
Defendant present with counsel, John J. Kadlic. 
Probation Officer, Heidi Poe, also present. 
Counsel for Defendant addressed the Court and stated he wanted 
this matter continued until the sentencing in Department 10 had 
taken place, to see what the outcome of that case was and made 
statements thereto; response and objection by counsel for State. 
COURT ORDERED: Motion to continue is hereby denied. 
Counsel for Defendant indicated he resented the comments made 
by counsel for State and stated he did not request a continuance 
for the reasons stated by Ms. Riggs and further, concurred with the 
recommendation by the Division. 
The following exhibit was marked for identification only: 

State's exhibit A 
Counsel for Defendant indicated he had not reviewed this exhibit 
and challenged its validity; counsel for State responded and 
indicated this exhibit was provided at discovery and made 
statements thereto. Response by counsel for Defendant. 
Court suggested this matter be continued until next week. Counsel 
for Defendant so concurred and requested he be provided with a 
copy of the prior conviction. Response and objection by counsel for 
State. 
COURT ORDERED: Matter continued for entry of judgment and 
imposition of sentence. 
Defendant remanded to the custody of the Sheriff . 

• • 

12/10/03 
at 8:30 a.m. 
Sentencing 
(Continued) 
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

9 

10 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

. Plaintiff, 

vs. 

11 FERRILL VOLPICELLI, 

12 Defendant 
I 

13 

14 

15 LETTER FROM DEFENDANT 

16 SEE ATTACHED DOCUMENT 

17 Ill 

·18 Ill 

19 Ill 

20 Ill 

21 Ill 

22 Ill 

23 Ill 

24 Ill 

25 Ill 

26 II/' 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 

Case No. CR98-2160 

CR02;0147 

Dept. No. 9 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

3 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Second 

4 Judicial-Dis;ri~t Court, in and fo/;h~ c~~~ty of w~;h~e;.and that on this~ct, day of . - -- --

5 December, 2003, I deposited in the County mailing system for postage and mailing with the 

6 United States Postal Service in Reno, Nevada, a true and correct copy of the attached 

7 document addressed as follows: 

8 

9 Ferrill J. Volpicelli, #60076 
Washoe County Detention Facility 

1 o (via interoffice mail) 

11 Bradley 0. Van Ry, Esq. 
1403 E. Fourth Street 

12 Reno, NV 89512 

13 John J. Kadlic, Esq. 
550 California Avenue 

14 P. 0. Box 2477 
Reno, NV 89505 

15 
Tammy Riggs, Esq. 

16 WASHOE COUNTY DISTRICT 
ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 

17 (via interoffice mail) 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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ORIGINAL 9FILED 

CODE 
Richard A. Gammick 
#001510 
P.O. Box 30083 
Reno, NV 89520-3083 
(775) 328-3200 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE . 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 

Defendant . 

* * * 

Case No. CR02-0147 

Dept. No. 9 

________________ ! 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF THE ADMISSION OF THE STATE'S PROOF OF THE 
DEFENDANT'S PRIOR CONVICTION 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through RICHARD A. 

GAMMICK, District Attorney of Washoe County, and TAMMY M. RIGGS, Deputy 

District Attorney, and hereby submits its Brief in Support of the 

Validity of the State's Proof of the Defendant's Prior Conviction. 

This Brief is based on the attached Memorandum of Points and 

Authorities and all papers and pleadings filed in this case to date, as 

well as the State's Sentencing Exhibit 1, which has been marked but not 

yet admitted. 

V3. 308

V3. 308



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

• • 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTS 

At the second scheduled sentencing hearing in this case on 

December 10, 2003, the State attempted to admit its certified proof of 

the defendant's prior conviction of indecent exposure for the purpose 

of enhancing the defendant's crimes in the current case to felonies. 

The defendant objected, asserting that the canvass conducted during the 

1983 plea hearing was inadequate and that the defendant never actually 

pled guilty during that hearing. Both assertions are incorrect and the 

State's certified proof of the defendant's prior conviction should be 

admitted. 

LAW 

"A defendant's comprehension of the consequences of a plea, 

the voluntariness of a plea, and the general validity of a plea are 

to be determined by reviewing the entire record and looking to the 

totality of the facts and circumstances surrounding the plea." State 

v. Freese, 116 Nev. 1097, 1106, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). Also, "[a] 

Court must be able to conclude from the oral canvass [and] any 

written plea memorandum ... that the defendant's plea was freely, 

voluntarily, and knowingly made. No specific formula for making this 

determination is required. Each case must be decided upon the facts 

and circumstances of that case." Id., citing Taylor v. Warden, 96 

Nev. 272, 607 P.2d 587 (1980). 

At plea hearings, the "articulation of talismanic phrases" 

is not required. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 271, 721 P.2d 364, 

367 (1986). Instead, district judges have "wide latitude" in 

2 
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determining whether defendants understand the nature and consequences 

of their pleas. Id. If the court makes factual statements 

concerning the offense, "e.g ... by way of summary, that are sufficient 

to constitute an admission to the offense had they been make 

personally by the accused, then the accused may affirmatively adopt 

the court's factual statements as true, and thereby admit the offense 

by adoption." Croft v. State, 99 Nev. 502, 505, 665 P.2d 248, 250 

(1983). See also, Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367: "[T)he 

defendant himself need not make a factual admission of guilt, but may 

instead adopt a factual statement of guilt made by the judge or one 

of the attorneys at the hearing." 

The State's burden to go forward with evidence to prove the 

validity of a prior felony judgment of conviction does not arise 

until the defendant has presented sufficient evidence to rebut the 

presumption of validity afforded all judgments of conviction. 

Dressler v. State, 107 Nev. 686, 696, 819 P.2d 1288, 1295 (1991). In 

order to use a prior felony conviction for enhancement purposes, the 

state's initial burden of production shall be satisfied if the state 

presents prima facie evidence of the existence of the prior 

conviction. Id., 107 Nev. at 697, P.2d at 1295. If the record does 

not raise a presumption of constitutional infirmity, the defendant is 

nonetheless free to present evidence tending to rebut the presumption 

or regularity. If a defendant can establish, by a preponderance of 

the evidence, that the prior conviction is constitutionally infirm, 

the conviction may not be used to enhance the defendant's sentence. 

Id. 
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In the case of prior misdemeanor convictions used for 

enhancement purposes, the State has the burden of proving either that 

the defendant was represented by counsel or validly waived that 

right, and that the spirit of constitution principles was respected 

in the prior misdemeanor proceeding. Id. The Dressler court 

asserted that the higher burden of proof on the state is justified 

with misdemeanors by the fact that they are generally not viewed with 

the same gravity as felony convictions and often entered without the 

benefit of counsel. Id. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has not ruled on the State's 

burden with regard to the admission of gross misdemeanor prior 

convictions. However, because the district court has jurisdiction 

over gross misdemeanors and felonies, and because the justification 

for the State's higher burden does not exist with gross misdemeanors 

(which are often serious and seldom entered without the benefit of 

counsel), it is appropriate to apply the lower burden applicable to 

felonies. 

ARGUMENT 

The defendant pled guilty during the 1983 change of plea hearing. 

The defendant asserts that he never actually pled guilty 

during his September 22, 1983 change of plea hearing. That claim is 

invalid. In the transcript of the hearing (attached as Exhibit A), 

it is evident that the defendant intended to plead guilty: 

THE COURT: This is what you want to do then is enter a 

guilty plea to the charge of indecent exposure, a gross 

misdemeanor? 

4 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

(Exh. A at 2.) After a canvass by the judge regarding the 

defendant's understanding of his constitutional rights and a reading 

of the elements of the offense by the State's attorney, the defendant 

pled guilty by adopting the court's assertion within its inquiry: 

THE COURT: You are entering a guilty plea, then, because 

you are guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor. 

(Exh. A at 5.) Under Croft, the defendant was not required to 

actually speak the word "guilty", and the defendant's adoption of the 

court's statement/inquiry regarding the fact of his guilt was 

sufficient to constitute a plea of guilty to the offense. 

The record of the defendant's prior conviction does not raise a 
presumption of irregularity, nor has the defendant shown that the 
prior conviction was constitutionally infirm by a preponderance of 
the evidence. 

As indicated supra, the appropriate burden to be applied to 

the prior conviction in this case is that applicable to felony prior 

convictions. The State has met its burden of providing proof of a 

prior conviction that is valid on its face. The court in the 1983 

change of plea hearing canvassed the defendant with regard to his 

understanding of the plea bargain, the privilege against self­

incrimination, the right to plead not guilty and proceed to jury 

trial, and the right to confront accusers, all of which the defendant 

indicated he understood. (Exh. A at 2-3.) The court also inquired 

as to whether any promises were made to the defendant, whether his 

plea was voluntary, and informed the defendant of the maximum 
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possible penalty and the fact that sentencing would be up to the 

court. (Id. at 3.) Then the State's attorney read the elements of 

indecent exposure. (Id. at 4.) The court then inquired whether the 

defendant understood that the State would have to prove all elements 

beyond a reasonable doubt, to which the defendant replied in the 

affirmative. 

The defendant has not shown that the court's canvass during 

the prior change of plea hearing is unconstitutional in any way, let 

alone by a preponderance of the evidence. Accordingly, the defendant 

has not met his burden in proving the prior conviction 

constitutionally infirm, and the State's proof of the defendant's 

prior conviction should be admitted. 

Even if the higher burden applicable to misdemeanor prior convictions 
is applied, the State's proof of prior conviction should be admitted. 

As delineated supra, the State's burden under Dressler for 

admission of prior misdemeanor convictions is to show that the spirit 

of constitutional principles was respected in the prior misdemeanor 

proceeding, and that the defendant was represented by counsel or 

validly waived that right. 

As indicated in Exh. A, the defendant was represented in 

the prior proceeding by Lew Carnahan, Esq .. The defendant 

acknowledged that Mr. Carnahan explained the defendant's 

constitutional rights to him. (Exh. A at 2.) In addition, the court 

engaged in a canvass of the defendant regarding his constitutional 

rights and the consequences of his plea, as discussed supra. 

Accordingly, the State's proof of prior conviction passes muster even 
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under the more rigorous standard for prior misdemeanor convictions. 

CONCLUSION 

Under Croft, the defendant's plea of guilty was valid in 

the prior proceeding. The State has shown prima facie evidence of a 

constitutionally valid prior conviction that the defendant has not 

rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence, as is required under 

Dressler to contest a prior felony conviction. Additionally, even if 

the more rigorous standard for the admission of prior misdemeanor 

convictions is applied, the State has shown that the defendant was 

represented in the prior proceeding by counsel, and that the spirit 

of constitutional principles was respected in that proceeding. 

Therefore, the State's certified proof of the defendant's prior gross 

misdemeanor conviction for indecent exposure should be admitted. 

Dated this day of ---------' 2003. 

7 

RICHARD A. GAMMICK 
District Attorney 
Washoe County, Nevada 
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No~ CBJ-1099 

Dept. No. 5 
1J3 NOV 30 AIO :Sr; 

IN THE SECOND .JUDICIAL DISTRIC1' .COURT- OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE · COUNTY OF WASHOE 

HONORABLE WILLIAM N •. FORMAN, DISTRICT JUDGE 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff, 

.vs-. 

FERRILL .JOSEPH VOLPICELl,I, 

Defendant. 

--000-.-

- ) 
... ) · · TRANSCRIPT 9F PROCEEDINGS ·· 

) 
) CHANGE OF PLEA 
l 
) September 22, 1983 
) 
) Reno; Nevaaa 
) 
) 

------------,---> 

APPEARANCES: 

For the Plaintiff: 

For the Defendant: 

The Defendant: 

Repor~ed by : 

PATRICK MOONEY 
Deputy District Attorney 
Washoe County Courthouse 

- Reno, Nevada 

LEW CARNAHAN 
Deputy Public Defender 
111 N. Virginia Street 
Reno , Nevada · 

FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI 

LINDA DUFFY, CSR 
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3 

RE~O, NEVADA; THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 22, 1983; ~r:30 A.M. 

THE COURT: Thie is case Number C83-1099, the State 

4 of Nevada versus Ferrill Joseph Volpic~lli. 

5 Mr~ Volpicelli is in court with his attorney, . · 

6 Mr. Carnahan. The State is being represented by Mr. Mooney .. 

7 I believe this hearing is held to allow. the 

8 defendant to _ change his ,plea; is that correct? 

9 

10 

11 . 

MR. CARNAHAN: That is correct, your Honor. 
. . 

. . . 
THE COURT: Wha:t is :Mr. Volpicelli' s plea? · 

MR. CARNAHAN: He ie"going to plead guilty to 

12 indecent exposure. 

13 

14 

THE . COURT: What are the negotiations? 

MR. CARNAHAN: ~he DA's office has said that they 

15 have no objection to his receiving probation if the proper 

16 persons certify that he .is not a threat-- There is a certain 

17 requirement by statute that he is no.t a threat to the heal th, 

18 safety, and welfare of the:" community. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

MR. •MOONEY: That's co.rrect . . 

THE COURT: Mr. Volpicelli, do you have any questions 

on the p_lea bargain in y.our case? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, your Honor. 

TI{E COURT: This is what you ~ant to do then is enter 

a guilty ple:1 to the charge of indecent exposure, a gros~➔ 

misdemeanor? 

THE DEFENDAN1': Yes. 

THE COURT: Has your attorney explained your 

constitutional rights to you? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT:· The priv:ilege against self-incrimination? 

-2-
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor. 

TH~ COURT: Your right to plead not guilty and have 

a jury trial? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Right to confront your . accusers? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: .Any ques·tions on your rights? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: You realize you are giving up these rights 

if you enter a guilty plea? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes., 

THE COURT: Have any promises been made to you or 

any threats been made against you in order to induce you to m·ake 

this plea? 

THE DEFENDANT: No . 

THE COURT: Y.ou are entering the plea voluntarily, the? 

TEE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You realize that the maximum you could 

receive for this particular ~ffense would .be up to one year in 

the Washoe County Jail and a two-thousand-dollar fine? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: You understand that matters of sentencing 

and probation will be up to the Court? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes . 

THE COURT: Let me ask counsel if you contemplate a 

presentence report in order to al l ow you to get certification? 

MR. CARNAflAN : My attitude is this: I differ with 

Mr. Mooney. Their policy is to request a PSI report in every 

gross misdemeanor that hasn~.t been totally negotiate::l out by 

the parties . I think .Mr . Volpicelli is a long-time Reno resident 

- 3-
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•• •• 
They know his background and can fill it in for the Court . He 

does acknowledge hisresponsibility~ He fully c~nfessed to the 

offense. Fr~ly, ! ·don't ~ee any reason to waste the Parole and 

Probation Department's time doing a PSI report . This is not an 

5 · exceptional case at all. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 · 

28 

29 , 

30 

TllE COURT: Do you want to get a presen.tence report? 

MR. MOONEY: In these t~pes of cases we are concerned 

with the welfare of,~the. commW1ity. It is probably appropriate. 

MR. CARNAHAN: The certification comes f rom a 

psychologist or a psychiatrist rather than the Parole and Probati n 

Department. There are no exce~tfonal circumstances . It is just 

a rll:11-of-tbe-nli.ll gr~ss mis~ell\!3;~nor. It is not a fiction that 

we have here. I can't see any argunie.nts ' for it. There are no 

. exceptional circums.tances. He does not have a number of felonies 

reduced to a gross misdemeanor. 

THE COURT: I don't see where it would hurt anything. 

MR. CARNAHAN: It is a waste of time. 

THE GOURT: Let me ask Mr . Volpicelli. I will order 

a presentence report and the sentencing will be set out for 

thirt.y, days. This is a most impo~tant thi~g. I cannot give you 

probation unless a psychiatrist licensed in the State of Nevada 

certifies that you are not a danger to the health, safety or 

morals of others. Do you understand how tha:: works? 

'THE DEFENOAN'r: Yes, · your Honor. 

THE COURT: Any questions on t he sentencing? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr; Mooney, will you explain the elements 

of this particular offense. 

MR. MOONEY; Yes, your Honor. 

Indecent Exposure includes the wilfull, and unlawful 

-4-
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1 making an. open and indecent and obscene exposure of his person 

2 to another individual. We have to show that happened on the 

j 17th day· of April, 1983. 

4 'rHE COURT: Mr. Volpicelli, do you understand what' 

5 the State would have to prove, all the elements of the offense 

6 to a jury of twelve _ people beyond a reasonable doubt·, if this 

7 case did gci to trial? 

8 

9 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: You are entering a guilty plea, then, 

10 because you are guilty? 

11 

12 

13 

' . 

THE DEFENDANT: Yeey y~ur Honor. 

THE COURT: I will accept the plea then. 

MR. CARNAHAN: I do have a ietter from the Nevada 

14 Health lJistitute. It is not a certification. It is a To-Whom-

15 It-May-Concern letter indicating that he has been voluntarily 

16 undergoing treatment for quite some time. 

17 

18 

THE COURT: Why don't you save that for sentencing. 

I will set this matter for October 26th at nine 

19 . o'clock. 

20 MR·.! .MOONEY: ... counseJ:..,.has:, indicated· something about wan 

2l · to:.get::Sana:ine appointed. I think that for whatever reason 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 . 

if Mr. Levinson doesn't feel qualified to make that evaluation 

I would come back to the Court and ask y~u to appoint someone. 

THE COURT: I think you can pick the psychiatrist. 

MR. MOON'£Y: That's fine, your Honor . 

(Proceedings conclud~d.) 

- 5-
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STATE OF NEVADA, 

Conaty of W uboe. 
iS, 

. I, LINDA DUFFY , official reporter of the _Second 

iudldal District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for the County of Wuhoe, 

DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 

That H 1uch reporter I wu present In Department No. 5 of 

the above-entitled court on Thur&day, September 22, 1983, 

of said day and I then and there took verbatim. stenotypy notes of the proceedings bad and 
Change. of Plea· 

testimony given therein upon the tJdal oftbe case of THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff, vs. FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, Defendant, ·case 

C83-1099. 

That the foregoing transcript, con1l1tlng of pages numbered 1 to 5 both 

inclusive, Is a full, true and correct transcript of my said stenotypy notes, so taken as 

aforesaid, and is a _full, true and correct stateme.nt of the proceedings had and testimony 

Change of Plea • -
given upon t!ie t,ttl of the above-entitled action to th·e best of my knowledge, skill and ability. 

27th November 83 
DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this---,------ day of ________ , 19 - . 

30, /rb 
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I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County 

District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I forwarded a true 

copy of the foregoing document, via facsimile, to: 

John J. Kadlic, Esq. 
P.O. Box 2477 
Reno, NV 89505-2477 
Fax: (775) 322-7511 

DATED this f \ \Ji-day of ~lf\:?{ , 2003. 
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Case No. CR02-0147 

Dept. No. 9 
FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 
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SENTENCING 
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4 P.O. Box 30083 
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5 
For the Defendant: JOHN J. KADLIC, ESQUIRE 

6 550 California Avenue 
P.O. Box 2477 
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Probation Department: Heidi Poe 
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RENO, NEVADA, FRIDAY, DECEMBER 5, 2003, 8:42 A.M. 

-000-

THE COURT: All right. State versus Ferrill 

Volpicelli, CR02-0147. Ms. Riggs is here on behalf of the 

State. Is counsel present for Mr. Volpicelli? 

MS. RIGGS: He was. If we could trail. 

THE COURT: All right. 

(Whereupon, other cases were heard, and the time is 

now 9:27 a.m.) 

THE COURT: All right. State versus Ferrill 

Volpicelli, CR02-0147. Ms. Riggs is here on behalf of the 

State, Ms. Poe for the Division, and Mr. Kadlic is here on 

behalf of Mr. Volpicelli. 

Mr. Volpicelli, have you seen the presentence report 

dated November 25th? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Are there any factual corrections you'd 

like to raise to the Court, Mr. Kadlic, or Mr. Volpicelli? 

MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor. Mr. Volpicelli went 

through it, and there were some minor discrepancies, but 

nothing material, so the answer is no. 

THE COURT: All right. What is your position with 

regard to the recommendation of the Division, Mr. Kadlic? 
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MR. KADLIC: Well, our position is we would ask the 

Court to continue this. As you recall, this went to trial back 

in July with the hopes that all of his other charges would be 

completed by that time. 

If anybody has read the newspaper, he went to trial 

several weeks ago and was convicted, I believe, on eight counts 

of burglary. 

MS. RIGGS: That's correct. 

MR. KADLIC: And he has a sentencing, I believe, in 

front of Judge Elliott on December 23rd. They were also going 

to add the habitual criminal to that. So I would prefer to 

continue this one after that to find out what happens -- you 

know, if he gets 50 years, 70 years at this point, then I would 

ask the Court just to run this one concurrent to whatever -- he 

has -- if he gets the habitual criminal, potentially, I guess 

it's life in prison. 

So, I would ask the Court to trail this one until he 

is sentenced on the one in front of Judge Elliott just to see 

what he gets, because it will have a lot of bearing, I think, 

on what the Court chooses to do. I mean, if he gets 50 or 75 

years out of the charges -- he's got eight counts of burglary. 

I mean, this one becomes minuscule in the great scheme of 

things. 

So, I would ask the Court to consider that before 
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going forward with sentencing today before -- we've continued 

this out for six months for sentencing, anyway. I would ask 

for another month's continuance. I don't see where it's going 

to harm him. 

THE COURT: Ms. Riggs? 

MS. RIGGS: I would absolutely object to any kind of 

continuance in this sentencing, Your Honor. 

I think, since this case was charged, the name of the 

game has been delay on the part of the defendant. Any sentence 

that he receives in the burglary case and potential sentence 

that he could get in the other pending burglary cases is not 

going to be affecting the State's recommendation regarding this 

case. 

And as Mr. Kadlic advised you, the other two cases, 

the defense has been put on notice that we'll be seeking 

habitual criminal offender status. Continuing this case out 

will make this conviction unavailable for that purpose, and 

that's what I believe is the purpose for this request, for yet 

another continuance. 

And as you recall, back in July, at the end of trial, 

Your Honor, we continued this for five months, which is not an 

ordinary continuance for sentencing -- or it's not an ordinary 

setting for sentencing. 

The State explained at bench conference last time one 
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of the reasons why we wanted to get it done in December. The 

State stands by that, and we'd ask to go forward with the 

sentencing today. 

THE COURT: Okay. The motion for continuance is 

denied. 

Your argument on sentencing, Mr. Kadlic? 

MR. KADLIC: Well, one thing, first of all, I want to 

make a comment. I didn't go with the idea of the habitual 

criminal. I resent her remarks. I think they're 

unprofessional. I resent them. I don't do that kind of crap. 

Pardon my French, Your Honor. I don't do that. And that 

really offends me from Ms. Riggs. I didn't deliberately 

request that continuance. It was just simply to see what 

sentences he gets out of the burglary; he's going to get 

forever. So I just resent those comments. I want to make that 

clear for the record. I'm a professional. I've been one for 

30 years and 15 as a judge, and I resent those comments. 

Maybe she's unprofessional, but I'm not. 

Bottom line, Your Honor, I think the sentence 

recommendation is fair. I mean, I would ask the Court to 

consider to run -- to run them both concurrent is right. I 

would ask them -- to actually run both of these concurrent to 

anything else he gets. 

He's going to get a tremendous sentence out of all of 
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those other charges, plus the habitual. I mean, what more can 

I say? I think that's right. 

THE COURT: Okay. Ms. Riggs? 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, at this time, the State moves 

to have marked and admitted State's exhibit next in sequence. 

I'm not sure which it is, Your Honor. This is the certified 

proof of this defendant's prior conviction on November 22nd, 

1983, for indecent exposure. 

THE COURT: Okay. We'll mark it as a separate 

sentencing exhibit. 

THE CLERK: State's Exhibit A marked for 

identification. 

(State's Exhibit A was marked for identification.) 

THE COURT: Okay. Have you seen the exhibit, 

Mr. Kadlic? 

MR. KADLIC: I have not, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Do you want to take a look at 

this soon? 

MR. KADLIC: Yes, if I'm forced to look at it today 

without having a chance to investigate its validity, but I 

guess I'm forced to. 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, you'll notice that there are 

red stars in the corner of this document which indicates that 

this has been discovered to him. 
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MR. KADLIC: The problem is, Your Honor, with these 

court-appointed cases Mr. Volpicelli has 12 million cases 

pending out there. They may have given it to -- he's got at 

least, I think, three different attorneys. In fact, Mr. Alian 

was here this morning. He didn't know which one of the many 

Volpicelli cases were here. So, it could be in a file 

somewhere. 

My experience -- that's why I'm glad I'm not on the 

court-appointed list anymore, is half the time half of the 

files are incomplete. They may have given the discovery -­

Mr. Van Ry has a number of his other cases; I think Mr. Alian 

has also. So it may well have gotten to somebody, but it 

didn't get to me, and so --

THE COURT: Well, we can trail this matter if you 

would like to review it, or I can continue the sentencing to 

next Wednesday to give you additional time to review the 

exhibit. 

MR. KADLIC: I'm trying to think. Why don't we 

continue it until next Wednesday, Your Honor. I woula prefer 

that. Give me a chance to at least look at this, if they could 

get me a copy, since this is now part of the court. Since it's 

marked, I assume the Court wants it back, so if they could just 

fax me a copy of it, I'd appreciate it, before next Wednesday 

is fine, Your Honor. 
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THE COURT: All right. Ms. Riggs? 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, just for the record, I'm going 

to voice another objection to a continuance in this case. I've 

just been assailed for my professionalism in this case. This 

sentencing has been pending for five months. If there was 

going to be a problem with a prior, or if he didn't have 

records, then he had plenty of time to request that from us if 

we didn't have what we have in our record as discovered to him. 

Your Honor, we're ready to go today. And if he needs 

time to trail this today, that's fine with me, but I would ask 

that we go forward today. There's no reason for him to require 

another five days to review a cert. that is valid. 

THE COURT: Well, I appreciate your opinion about 

that, Ms. Riggs, but I don't want to have to do this sentencing 

two or three times by requiring Defense Counsel to review an 

exhibit he claims he just got today. 

Sentencing is continued to next Wednesday at 8:30. 

MR. KADLIC: Thank you, Your Honor. And I'll return 

this back to the Court. Thank you. 

THE COURT: Get a copy before next Wednesday. 

MR. KADLIC: I will, Your Honor. Thank you. 

(Proceedings concluded.) 
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STATE OF NEVADA 

COUNTY OF WASHOE 

• 
ss. 

I, CECILIA VOHL, Official Reporter of the Second 

Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for 

The County of Washoe, do hereby certify: 

That as such reporter, I was present in Department 

No. 9 of the above court on said date; time and hour, and I 

then and there took verbatim stenotype notes of the 

proceedings had and testimony given therein. 

That the foregoing transcript is a full, true and 

correct transcription of my said stenotype notes, so taken 

as aforesaid. That the foregoing transcript was taken down 

under my direction and control, and to the best of my 

knowledge, skill and ability. 

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this ll.!f:,day of December, 

2003. 

~u£<A~!Mf~ 
CEILIA VOHL, NV CCR #246 
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1 Code: 1✓ 

John J. Kadlic, 
2 Attorney at Law 

Esq. 

'03 DEC 12 J'\10 :~ 8 P.O. Box 2477 
3 Reno, Nevada 89505-2477 

(775)322-7099 
4 Nevada State Bar #1291 ,S. "'YL-tW/LJ,. 
5 Attorney for Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli 

6 

7 

8 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
9 Plaintiff, Case No. CR02-0147 

10 VS. Dept No. 9 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 
Defendant. 

1-------------~/ 

DEFENDANT'S BRIEF 

COMES NOW, Defendant, FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, by and 

through his attorney, John J. Kadlic, Esq., and submits his 

Brief on the issue of the validity of his 1983 conviction. 

There are no cases in Nevada which address the issue in 

question although the case of state v Freeze, 116 Nev. 1097, 13 

P.3d 442 (2000) offers some guidance as what a proper plea 

canvas should be like. 
21 

22 
There, however, are cases from other states which address 

23 the issue of what constitutes a guilty plea. In Com. v Nikas, 

24 727 N.E.2d 1166 (2000), the Supreme Judicial Court of 

25 Massachusetts, Middlesex, stated, at page 1168, as follows: 

26 

27 

28 

"There are two "constitutionally permissible ways" to 

I 
JOH:\ J. KADLIC 

AITOR'.'IEY AT LAW 

POST OrncE Box 2477 
\-{E:,.ru, NEVADA 89505 
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1 establish a defendant's guilt without a trial .... A defendant 

2 may admit his "guilt in open court" .... Or, as was the case 

3 here, a defendant may make a "plea of guilty accompanied by a 

4 claim of innocence in accordance with the standards of North 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Carolina v Alford, ll 

A complete copy of that decision is attached to this brief 

as Exhibit "A". 

In Davis v State, 675 N.E.2d 1097 (1996), the Supreme Court 

10 of Indiana, at page 1101, stated as follows: 

11 "An Indiana defendant must admit the offense to which he is 

12 pleading guiltyn. 

13 A complete copy of that decision is attached to this brief 

14 as Exhibit "Bn. 

15 It is clear from both of those decisions that in order for 

16 a Defendant to plead guilty there must an affirmative act on his 

17 part, to wit, a plea to the charge. In the case of Defendant 

18 Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli, it is clear from the record of his 

19 
change of plea in September 22, 1983 that he never entered a 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
J om; J KADL!C 

ATTORI\EY i\T LAW 

POST OFFH.'E Rox 2477 
Rf:~0. NEVADA 89505 

plea of guilty to the charge. Because there was no actual plea 

to the charge there was no conviction which can be used to 

enhance the penalty in this case. 

Dated this 11th day of December, 2003. 

Jo 

2 
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counsel indicated that, although there was 
some evidence of the defendant's intoxi­
cation on the night of the ·murder, the 
Commonwealth had "rather strong ... ev­
idence" to the contrary. He also reiterat­
ed that he had reviewed the possible "de­
fenses" with the defendant, and that the 
defendant understood and was aware of 
those defenses. 

6. Conclusi011. The record supports 
the judge's determination that the defen­
dant was competent when he made his 
plea. The record also indicates that the 
defendant's plea was knowing and volun­
tary. There is nothing to suggest that 
"justice may not have been done." Cmn­
monwealth v. Russin, 420 Mass. 309, 318, 
649 N.E.2d 750 (1995), quoting Mass. 
R.Crim. P. 30(b), 378 Mass 900 (1979). 
See Cmnmonwealth v. DeMarco, supra at 
482,440 N.E.2d 1282. 

Judgment affirmed. 

431 Mass. 453 

..L,,COMMONWEALTH 

v. 

John E. NIKAS, Jr. 

Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, 
Middlesex. 

Argued March 6, 2000. 

Decided May 11, 2000. 

Defendant pled guilty to carrying a 
firearm without a license and second-de­
gree murder. The Superior Court Depart­
ment, Middlesex County, Hiller B. Zobel, 
J., granted defendant's subsequent motion 
for new trial on the murder conviction, on 
ground that defendant's plea was not 
knowing and voluntary. Commonwealth 

appealed, and the Appeals Court affinned. 
After granting Commonwealth's request 
for further appellate review, the Supreme 
Judicial Court, Abrams, J., held that rec­
ord supported determination that- defen­
dant was not sufficiently informed of ele­
ments of first-degree murder and second­
degree murder prior to when he entered 
guilty plea. 

Affirmed and remanded. 

1. Criminal Law ~273(4.1) 
There are two constitutionally permis­

sible ways to establish a defendant's guilt 
without a trial: a defendant may admit his 
guilt in open court or a defendant may 
make an Alfrmi plea of guilty accompanied 
by a claim of innocence. 

2. Criminal Law ~273(4.1) 
An individual accused of crime may 

voluntarily, knowingly and understanding­
ly consent to the imposition of a prison 
sentence even If he is unwilling or unable 
to admit his participation in the acts con­

stituting the crime. 

3. Criminal Law ~274(3.1), 949(1) 
A postsentence motion to withdraw • 

guilty plea, which the court treats ss • 
motion for a new trial pursuant to postcon· 
viction relief rule, should be granted only if 
it appears that justice may not have t,een 
done. Rules Crim.Proc., Rule 30, 43[ 
M.G.L.A. 

4. Criminal Law ~274(3.1) 
Judges are to apply the standard ;;cl 

out in rule governing postconviction rne­
tions for new trial rigorously, and shouln 
only grant a postsentence motion 10 

withdraw a plea if the defendant corn" 
forward with a credible reason whirh 
outweighs the risk of prejudice to tJ>r 
Commonwealth. Rules Crim.Proc., J!ulr 

30(b), 43C M.G.L.A. 

5. Criminal Law """914 . 
Justice is not done, and a new trial ~ 

therefore warranted, where a defe~da:i 
pleads guilty without an understandlJlg · 

V3. 336

V3. 336



weal 
ew, th 
r., he! 
.tion 
inform 

ed. 

I.I) 

,utionally 
defendan 
nt may a 
, defend 

1.1) 
,d of c · 
d unders 
ition of 
willing 0 

l in the 

·,mant to 
be granted o· 
ay not have,·• 
., Rule 30;; 

3.1) 
the stand 

,stconvicti 
msly, and 
ence mo 
defendan 
le reason 

COM. v. NIKAS Mass; 1167 
Cite u 727 N.E.2d J 166 (Mau. 2000J 

the proceedings. Rules Crim.Proc., Rule against him, so as to support his Alford 
30(b), 43C M.G.L.A. plea of guilty to second-<legree .murder. 

6. Constitutional Law ~265.5 
Criminal Law ~274(4) 

As a matter of constitutional due pro­
cess, a guilty plea must later be set aside, 
unless the record shows affirmatively that 
the defendant entered the plea freely and 
undei,;tandingly, and a defendant's plea is 
not entered into freely and understanding­
Jv unless he comprehends the nature of the 
;,;me to which he is pleading guilty. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14. 

7. Criminal Law ~273.1(5) 
Where the defendant makes an Alford 

plea of guilty, the record must support the 
conclusion that the defendant understood 
the nature of the crime of which he was 
accused. 

8. Criminal Law ~274(1), 956(4) 
Record supported determination that 

defendant was not sufficiently informed of 
elements of first-degree murder and sec­
ond-<legree murder prior to when he en­
tered Alford plea of guilty to second-de­
gree murder, and thus plea had to be set 
aside and defendant was entitled to new 
trial, where trial judge gave incorrect ex­
planation of difference between the two 
offenses, record showed only that defense 
counsel discussed Commonwealth's evi­
dence with defendant and not the law, and 
defendant's statement during colloquy did 
not show that he understood nature of 
intent required for first-degree murder. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; Rules Crim. 
Proc., Rule 30(b), 43C M.G.L.A 

9. Criminal Law ~273.1(5) 
Fact that evidence against murder de­

fendant was strong did not support conclu­
sion that he understood nature of charges 

I. The defendant does not request a ·new trial 
on the fireann conviction. 

2. Th~ gap in time between the filing of the 
motion and the hearing occurred because of 
various procedural and pragmatic concerns. 
The defendant's initial motion was unaccom 4 

panied by a memorandum of law. The judge 

Douglas E. Zemel, Assistant District At­
torney, for the Commonwealth. 

Edward B. Gaffney, Wayland, for the 
defendant. 

Present: MARSHALL, C.J., ABRAMS, 
LYNCH, GREANEY, IRELAND, & 
SPINA, JJ. 

ABRAMS,J. 

On June 24, 1983, the defendant, John 
E. Nikas, Jr., pleaded guilty to carrying a 
firearm without a license and murder in 
the second degree.' After a colloquy that 
is the subject of this appeal, the judge 
accepted the defendant's guilty pleas. The 
judge sentenced· the defendant to from 
three to five yeai,; for the firearm viola­
tion, to run concurrently with a life sen­
tence for the murder. 

In October, 1996, the defendant filed a 
motion for a new trial, alleging defects in 
the plea colloquy. A hearing was held on 
the;:;Y"defendant's motion in December, 
1998, and the judge who accepted the 
defendant's guilty pleas vacated the defen­
dant's conviction of murder. The judge 
determined that the defendant's plea was 
not knowing and voluntary because the 
defendant had not been informed suffi­
ciently on the elements of murder in the 
first degree. The Commonwealth appeal­
ed, and the Appeals Court affirmed the 
judge's decision. See Comnwnwealth v. 
Nikas, 48 Mass.App.Ct. 1102, 716 N.E.2d 
1083 (1999). We granted the Common­
wealth's request for further appellate re­
view. See G.L. c. 211A, § 11. We affirm 

required the defendant to file a memorandum 
in support of the motion by January 21, 1997. 
The defendant filed the memorandum, but 
later discovered that his attornev was serious­
ly ill. The defendant obtained· new counsel. 
who filed a supplemental memorandum in 
support of the motion in October, 1998. 
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the decision allowing the defendant's mo­
tion for a new trial. 

1. Facts. The defendant was convicted 
of the January 2, 1983, murder of Michael 
P0\1o. · The defendant, the ,ictim, and an­
other friend had all been drinking and 
using drugs that night. The three drove 
around Cambridge until the defendant, 
who was dri,ing, pulled the car over so 
that one of the three could relieve himself. 

The Commonwealth offered to prove the 
following additional facts. While the vehi­
cle was stopped, the ,ictim accused the 
defendant of taking some of his Valium 
tablets. The victim and the defendant ar­
gued. The defendant pulled a .22 caliber 
shotgun from the car and shot the victim 
once in the head. After a pause, the de­
fendant shot the victim a second time in 
the head. 

At the plea colloquy, the defendant 
maintained that he had not acted inten­
tionally. According to the defendant, the 
victim and the third person in the car 
began to fight, and one of the two of them 
pulled a gun. The defendant claimed that 
he entered the fray to help. The defen­
dant told the judge_ that "[i]t was an acci­
dent" and "the gun went off while three of 
us were in a struggle." 

The Commonwealth charged the defen­
dant with murder in the first degree by 
reason of premeditation and proposed to 
bring forward two witnesses who would 
identify the defendan!._L;sas the perpetra­
tor.' Because of the strength of the Com­
monwealth's evidence, the defendant decid­
ed to plead guilty to murder in the second 
degree rather than risk prosecution for 
murder in the first degree. 

[1] 2. Alford pleas. There are two 
"constitutionally permissible ways" to es­
tablish a defendant's guilt without a trial. 
See Comrrwnwealth v. McGuirk, 376 Mass. 
338, 343, 380 N.E.2d 662 (1978), cert. de­
nied, 439 U.S. 1120, 99 S.Ct. 1030, 59 

3. The Commonwealth also planned to put on 
evidence of the defendant's consciousness of 
guilt. The defendanl, at· first, had lied about 

L.Ed.2d 80 (1979). A defendant may ad­
mit his "guilt in open court." See, e.g .. 
Camrrwnwealth v. Robbins, 431 Ma.s.s. 442. 
727 N .E.2d 1157 (2000). Or, as wa.s th,· 
case here, a defendant may make a "plt·a 
of guilty accompanied by a claim of inno­
cence in accordance with the standards of 
North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 2ii i!ll 
S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162] (1970)." Cum 
rrwnwealth v. McGuirk, supra at 34:J, :lSCI 
N.E.2d 662. 

[2] Under North Carolina v. A((urrl. 
400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d lfi~ 
(1970), a defendant need not admit his 
guilt to make a valid guilty plea. "An 
individual accused of crime may voluntari­
ly, knov.ingly, and understandingly con­
sent to the imposition of a prison senwnce 
even if he is unwilling or unable to admit 
his participation in. the acts constitutin)! 
the crime." Id. at 37, 91 S.Ct. 160. 2i 
L.Ed.2d 162. See Huot v. Commonwea/fl,. 
363 Mass. 91, 95 n. 4, 292 N.E.2d 700 
(1973), quoting North Carolina v. A((ord. 
supra. Typically, a defendant makes an 

A/foni plea to a lesser charge, or for th1
• 

purpose of obtaining a lesser sentence, 
when the State's evidence is strong. See. 
e.g., North Carolina v. A/ford, supm: 
Huot v. Camrrwnwealth, supra. 

The Commonwealth's case for a conn<.·· 
tion of murder in the first degree by rca· 
son of premeditation was strong. Th.­
Commonwealth planned to present an ,,y,·· 
witness to the shooting who would te,Uf)' 
that the defendant shot the ,ictim 1""'-. 

the second time after a pause of s,,\'cral 
seconds. The Commonwealth also planrwd 
to present a witness who placed the dcfen· 
dant at the murder scene immediate!;- •f· 

c mun· ter the murder. Finally, the om t 
wealth had evidence that the defend"" 
had falsely a.sserted an alibi for the ~;~ht 
of the murder, thus e,incing his consc10

~: 

ness of guilL According to the defendan 
comments during the plea colloquy, he dc-

n,ul· 
his whereabouts on the evening of I.he 
der. 
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cided to plead guilty to murder in the rigorously,' w.. at 487, 440 N.E.2d 1282; 
,econd degree because, as his attorney had and should 'only grant a post.sentence mol 
,.,plained to him, the Commonwealth's evi- tion to withdraw a plea if the defendant 
dence that he committed premeditated · comes forward with a credible reasori 
murder was strong. which outweighs the risk of prejudice to 

3. Discussion. The judge granted the the Commonwealth.' [Footnote omitted.], 
defendant's posts".:Ence..,. motion for a Id. at 486, 440 N.E.2d 1282. Common-I 
new trial because the judge determined wealih v. Hasan, 27 Mass.App.Ct. 840,1 
that the defendant's plea was not knowing 844-845, 545 N.E.2d 52 (1989)." Common-I 
or intelligent. In his memorandum and wealth v. Fanell~ supra at 504, 590 N.E.2dl 
order, the judge wrote that, "although, 186. 
under the circumstances[,] the explanation 
of second degree murder was adequate 
ialbeit barely so), the Court seriously mis­
stated the element.s of first-degree mur­
der."• The Commonwealth argues that 
the defendant understood the charges 
against him because, according to the 
Commonwealth, the record shows that (1) 
persons other than the judge explained the 
elements of murder to the defendant; (2) 
the defendant understood the difference 
between the degrees of murder; and (3) 
the case against the defendant was strong. 
We disagree with the first two of these 
assertions, and we observe that the third is 
a necessary, but not sufficient, showing to 
support an Alfrrrd plea. 

[3, 4] A postsentence motion to with­
draw a guilty plea, which we treat as a 
motion for a new trial pursuant to Mass. 
R.Crim. P. 30, 378 Mass. 900 (1979), should 
be granted "only 'if it appears that justice 
may not have been done.'" Common-
1cealth v. Fanell~ 412 Mass. 497, 504, 590 
:-I.E.2d 186 (1992), quoting Commonwealih 
,.. DeMarco, 387 Mass. 481, 482, 440 
:-I.E.2d 1282 (1982), and cases cited. "By 
focusing on possible iajustice, rule 30(b) is 
different from Mass. R. Crim. P. 
12(c)(2)(B), which provides judges with 
broad discretion to allow a defendant to 
•ithdraw his plea before the plea has been 
accepted and sentence imposed." Com-
1nonwealth v. DeMarco, supra at 484, 440 
N.E.2d 1282. "Judges are to 'apply the 
standard set out in Mass. R.Crim. P. 30(b) 

4. As we discuss, infra at 457, 727 N.E.2d at 
1169-1170,_the explanation of murder in the 

[5, 6] Justice is not done, and a new I 
trial is therefore warranted, where a de-i 
fendant pleads guilty without an under­
standing of the proceedings: "as a matter 
of constitutional due process, a guilty plea 
. . . must later be set aside, unless the 
record shows affirmatively that the defen­
dant entered the plea freely and under­
stan.!!£gly . ..," Commonwealth v. Foster, i 
368 Mass. 100, 102, 330 N.E.2d 155 (1975), I 
discussing Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. I 
238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). I 
A defendant's plea is not entered into 
"freely and understandingly" unless he 
comprehends the nature of the crime to 
which he is pleading guilty. See Common­
wealth v. M cGuirk, supra at 342, 380 
N.E.2d 662, discussing Henderson v. Mor­
gan, 426 U.S. 637, 96 S.Ct. 2253, 49 
L.Ed.2d 108 (1976) ("[I]f the defendant is 
ignorant of a critical element of an offense, 
his plea of guilty to that offense cannot 
serve as an intelligent admission of guilt"). 

[7] Where the defendant makes an Al­
ford plea, the record must also support the 
conclusion that the defendant understood 
the nature of the crime of which he was 
accused. North Carolina v. Alford, supra 
at 28-29, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162. 
Thus, the United States Supreme Court 
held that a defendant's plea was made 
knowingly and voluntarily only after not­
ing that defense counsel had explained to 
the defendant both the crime with which 
the defendant was charged (murder in the 

second degree also was incorrect. 
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first degree) and the crime to which the 
defendant pleaded guilty (murder in the 
second degree). Id. 

[81 Here, the defendant pleaded guilty 
to murder in the second degree in order to 
avoid the possibility of being sentenced to 
life in prison without possibility of parole if 
convicted of murder in the first degree. 
The Commonwealth asserts, correctly, that 
it does not matter whether a defendant 
acquires an understanding of the elements 
of the relevant crime or crimes from the 
judge, from his attorney, or in some other 
way. All that is necessary is that the 
record show that, by some means, the 
defendant possessed enough comprehen­
sion to plead "freely and understandingly." 
Commonwealth v. Foster, 368 Mass. 100, 
102, 330 N.E.2d 155 (1975), discussing 
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 
1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). 

The Commonwealth, however, argues 
that the record shows that the defendant's 
counsel explained the relevant law to the 
defendant before the plea colloquy. Even 
if we assume, arguendo, that the judge's 
subsequent incorrect explanation would 
not have vitiated any understanding the 
defendant had gained from his counsel, we 
disagree with the Commonwealth's reading 

of the record. 

The Commonwealth does not dispute 
that the judge's explanation of the differ­
ence between murder in the first degree 
and murder in the second degree was in­
correct.• The judge told the defendant 
that the elements of second degree murder 
are an unlawful killing and an "intent to 
inflict serious injury."• The judge then 
explained that, for "[f]irst degree murder, 
they hav~to prove all of that plus the:,: 
have to prove that you not only intended to 
injure, but you intended to kill." The 
judge did not mention "premeditation" or 

"deliberation." 1 

During the plea colloquy, the defendant 
said that he was pleading guilty because 
his cmirisel told him that he did not "stand 
a chance in hell" if he went to trial. In 
order to clarify the record, defense counsel 
explained to the judge that he had access 
to the police reports, grand jury testimony, 
photographs, and other. relevant evidence 
in the case. Defense counsel said that 
"[a]ll of that information was given to [the 
defendant] and . . . he indicated that he 
read it and he understood it and he is 
aware of what the Commonwealth's case is 
against him." Counsel then explained that 
he did not quantify the odds "on success or 
failure with respect to the case." 

S. The Commonwealth argues, without cita­
tion to authority, that, because the defen­
dant's motion for a new trial was grounded 
on the judge's incorrect explanation of mur­
der in the second degree, the defendant 
waived the claim that the judge's explanation 
of murder in the first degree was incorrect. 
We reject this argument. The incorrect ex• 
planation involved the distinction between the 
degrees of murder and, therefore, necessarily 
involved the judge's comment;s on both mur· 
der in the first degree and murder in the 
second degree. 

6. In fact, the malice element of second degree 
murder includes: "( 1) an intent to cause 
death ... (2) an intent to cause gril'\,,OUS bodi· 

Unlike in Commonwealth v. Robbins. 
supra at 450--451, 727 N .E.2d at 1164-
1165, here, defense counsel never stated 
that he had reviewed the relevant law with 
the defendant. The record supports onl)' 
the conclusion that defense counsel dis· 
cussed the Commonwealth's evw,ence "ith 
his client. Contrast Commonwealth t'. 

Robbins, supra (defense counsel stated 
that he had re,iewed, at length, proposed 

ly hann [or] (3) an intent to do an act 
which, in the circumstances known to the 
defendant, a reas·onable person would have 
known would create a plain and strong likeli· 
hood that death will result." . Mcx:lel Jurv In· 
structions on Homicide (1999). ~ 

7. The judge· noted that the ~ommonwealth 
did not "have to prove that [the defendant] sa-

1 

down and plotted' it out for any length of tirrie 
previously." This statement a:s to what the 
Commonwealth need not prove was insuffi· 
dent to inform the defendant that the Cof11• 
monwealth would be required to prove delilt_ 
erate premeditation to obtain a conviction ~ 
murder in the first degree. 
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Mass. 1171 

·otY instructions explaining el~ments of answer to the defendant's implicit question 
!rune with which defendant was !charged). that the judge gave his incorrect explana­
fherefore, the defense attorney's state- tion of the distinction between the degrees 
ment does not suffice to establish that the of murder. Therefore, even if the defen­
defendant understood the eleme~ts of the dant had some understanding of premedi­
,.1evant crimes. [ tation before the judge's explanation, we 

The Commonwealth also notes that the cannot be confident that his understanding 

r==utor in his recitation of the Com- remained after the explanation. p ll<7'--'"' ' ' 

,nonwealth's evidence, concluded that the 
urning of the two gun shots could!raise "an 
inference of deliberation[ ] and premedita­
tion." This statement, in the nudsLl.l,,of 
nine pages of narrative transcript describ­
ing the Commonwealth's evidenc~, is insuf­
ficient to support the conclusion· that the 
defendant understood that the Common­
~ealth would have to prove beyond a rea­
;onable doubt that he had premeditated 
the murder of the victim. I 

The Commonwealth calls our I attention 

10 the defendant's statement, dilring the 
colloquy, that one commits murder in the 

I 
first degree when one "plans to do some-
:hing and commits it." Accordiilg to the 
Commonwealth, this.statement e..4nces the 
defendant's understanding of p~emedita-
tion. 1 

The defendant's statement is incomplete. 
To prove premeditation, the Common­
•·ealth would have had to prove ,that "the 
defendant decided to kiU after I delibera­
tion" (emphasis added). Model I Jury In­
structions for Use in Superior Court 
\1999). We are not persuaded I that the 
.-ecord supports the conclusion /that the 
defendant understood the nature of the 
:ntent required. 

Furthermore, the defendant made his 
statement in response to being asked 
·•·hether he had any questions\ for the 
judge. The defendant said: "I don't really 
mderstand the law too much, as far as 
'U'St degree murder, second degi-ee mur­
•kr, only that first degree murder [means] 
~\at someone, I guess, basically pians to do 
-imething and commits it." It was in 

I 

I. Because this ground suffices to s1:1-pport the 
\·acation of the defendant's conviction, we do 
n.ot reach ihe defendant's other argllment that 
his plea was not voluntary because; the judge 

I 

[9] The Commonwealth also asserts 
that, because the evidence against the de­
fendant was strong, the record supports 
the conclusion that the defendant's plea 
was intelligent. The Commonwealth's ar­
gument misapprehends the significance of 
the fact that the evidence against the de­
fendant was strong. This fact supports 
the conclusion that the defendant under­
stood the nature of making an Alford plea, 
that he understood that he would likely be 
convicted of murder in the first degree and 
sentenced to life in prison without parole if 
he went to trial. The strength of the 
evidence against the defendant, however, 
does not support the conclusion that the 
defendant understood "the nature of the 
charges" against him. Commonwealth v. 
Quinones, 414 Mass. 423, 436, 608 N.E.2d 
724 (1993). 

4. Conclusion. The record supports · 
the judge's determination that the defen­
dant was not sufficiently informed of the 
elemen~of the crime with which he was 
charged. Because "justice may not have 
been done," we affinn the judge's decision 
vacating the conviction of murder in the 
second degree. Commonwealth ·v. Fanell~ 
412 Mass. 497, 504, 590 N.E.2d 186 (1992), 
quoting Commonwealth v. DeMarco, 387 
Mass. 481, 482, 440 N.E.2d 1282 (1982). 
"Upon the vacation of the judgment[ ], the 
defendant will face the possibility of the 
Commonwealth's moving for retrial on the 
indictments. We note that retrial might 
result in severer sentences than those im­
posed on the guilty pleas." Common-

failE!d to ask specific questions as to his un• 
derstanding of the privilege against self•in· 
crimination. 
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wealth v. Faster, 368 Mass. 100, 108 & n. 6, 
330 N.E.2d 155 (1975). 

The order allowing the defendant to 
withdraw his plea and for a new trial is 
affirmed. The case is remanded to the 
Superior Court for further proceedings 
consistent with this opinion. 

So ordered-

431 Mass. 501 

..,1p,COMMONWEAL TH 

v. 

Willie JENKINS. 

Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, 
Suffolk. 

Argued April 4, 2000. 

Decided May 12, 2000. 

Commonwealth sought relief from or­
der of a Superior .Court judge dismissing 
without prejudice an indictment charging 
defendant with drug offenses. A single jus­
tice of the Supreme Judicial Court, Lynch, 
J., denied Commonwealth's petition, and 
Commonwealth appealed. The Supreme 
Judicial Court, Abrams, J., held that Com­
monwealth was not entitled to e>.i.raordi­
nary relief from Superior Court judge's 
order, in view of existence of other reme­
dy. 

Affirmed and remanded. 

1. Courts e=>207 .1 

Commonwealth was not entitled to ex­
traordinary relief, under statute governing 
Supreme Judicial Court's superintendence 
of inferior courts, from order of a Superior 
Court judge dismissing without prejudice 
an indictment charging defendant with 

drug offenses, as Commonwealth had oth­
er available remedy in that · it was not 
precluded from prosecoting case on new 
indictment. M.G.L.A. c. 211, § 3. 

2. Courts $a207.l 

Extraordinary relief pursuant to stat­
ute governing Supreme Judicial Court's 
superintendence of inferior courts is avail­
able only where there is no other remedy. 
M.G.L.A. c. 211, § 3. 

3. Indictment and Information $al-l4 

A judge has inherent authority to des­
miss an indictment sua sponte. 

4. Criminal Law e=>l024(2) 
Because the allowance of a motion w 

dismiss ends the Commonwealth's prose­
cution, it has the right to appeal the allow­
ance of a motion to dismiss. 

5. Criminal Law $al024(2) 
If a judge dismisses an indictment on 

his or her own motion, the Commonwealth 
has a right of appeal in the same mann<'r 
as provided by rule of criminal procedure 
governing interlocutory appeals and stat· 
ute governing appeals by Commonwealth 
M.G.L.A. c. 278, § 28E; Rules Crim.Pror .. 
Rule 15, 43C M.G.L.A. 

6. Criminal Law e=>l023(3) 
The denial of a motion to dismL"-' i> 

not appealable by a defendant until aflc'. 
trial. Rules Crim.Proc., Rule 15, .i;I( 

M.G.L.A. 

7. Courts $a207 .1 
To obtain review of interlocutory mat· 

S Ju· ters under statute governing upreme . 
dicial Court's superintendence of infer"'' 
courts. a defendant must demonstrate t,ot~ 
a substantial claim of violation of his ,.,i,. 
stantive rights and irremediable error, 
such that he cannot be placed in status qUo 

" G 1,.,-1. in the regular course of appeal. "' · · 
C. 211, § 3. 

8. Courts e=>209(2) 
Unless the single justice of the : 

preme Judicial Court detennines thal ii­
denial of a motion to dismiss meell' 
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Frank DA VIS, Appellant 
(Defendant Below), 

v. 

STATE of Indiana, Appellee 
(Plaintiff Below). 

No. 50S00-900S-PD-539. 

Supreme Court of Indiana. 

Dec. 31, 1996. 

Following affirmance, 477 N.E.2d 889, of 
bi! convictions for murder and atuampuad 
•urd•r and death senuance, defendant peti­
uoned for postoonviction relief. The Mar­
,Jiall Circuit Court, Marvin D. McLaughlin, 
5peeial Judge, vacauad death senuance but 
,ot the two 50--year senuances for atuampuad 
,n1rder and denied defendant's request to 
withdraw his guilty plea. Defendant appeal­
,d. The Supreme Court, Shepard, C.J., held 
th.It: ( I) defendant was not denied effective 
,,,[,tance of counsel, and (2) guilty plea was 
"'°"ing and voluntary. 

Affirmed. 

I. Criminal Law ea>1158(1) 

In reviewing denial of petition for post­
<0n~ction relief, Supreme Court does not 
,...,igh evidence or judge credibility of wit­
wses. 

i Criminal Law ea> 1158(1) 

To prevail on review of denial of petition 
~:ir post.conviction relief, petitioner must es~ 
:.hlish that evidence as a whole leads unmis-
·aably to decision in his favor. 

~f· l Criminal Law e:>641.13(1) 

.\:i-i;'::; To establish ineffective assistance of 

i:_r :t ~:::!~1~: ~;o!::1::;3~~ 
u"" ,, -.,1 and prejudicial that defendant was de­

ll!<! fair trial. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6. 

l Criminal Law e:>641.13(1) 

lsolauad poor strategy, bad tactics, inis­
~. carelessness, or inexperience do not 
""'8arily amount to ineffective counsel un-

less, taken as a whole, defense was inade­
quate. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6. 

5. Criminal Law e:>641.13(4) 
Defendant's lead attorney's performance 

in capital murder prosecution did not fall 
below prevailing standards, so as to deny 
defendant effective assistance of counsel; al­
though lead attorney had only slim experi­
ence with jury trials, he was aided by experi­
enced cocounsel, and much of his anxiety 
appeared to have suammed from defendant's 
failure to cooperate with his defense, rather 
than from his inability to handle legal issues 
involved. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6. 

6. Criminal Law e:>641.13(5) 
Defense counsel's decision to allow de• 

fendant to plead guilty in capital murder 
prosecution did not deny defendant effective 
assistance of counsel; although uastimony ob­
tained four years afUlr defendant's conviction 
showed that defendant had suffered brain 
damage during birth, that he suffered from 
posttraumatic stress disorder, borderline 
personality disorder, and major features of 
antisocial personality disorder, and that as 
result of those problems, defendant might 
have had trouble cooperating with counse~ 
evidence available to defendant's trial counsel 
indicauad that defendant was compeuant to 
stand trial. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6. 

7. Criminal Law e:>641.13(6) 

Defendant was not prejudiced by coun­
sel's failure to atuampt to suppress evidence 
of his stauament to police in capital murder 
prosecution, since even if counsel had raised 
issue during suppression hearing, it was not 
clear he would have prevailed. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 6. 

8. Searches and Seizures ea> I 78 

Consent by member of defendant's fami­
ly validauad search of defendant's home. 
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 4. 

9. Searches and Seizures ea>I71 

Consent to search is valid exception to 
search warrant requirement. 

10. Criminal Law e:>641.13(2.1) 

Defense counsel was not ineffective for 
failing to prepare and present insanity de-

!l _, 

! 

. . 
i 
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fense in capital murder prosecution, even 
though testimony obtained four years after 
defendant's conviction showed that defendant 
had suffered brain damage during birth; rec­
ord indicated that counsel made substantial 
effort to prepare insanity defense, evidence 
available to counsel at time of trial indicated 
that defendant was competent, and in mo­
ments before trial began, counsel made tacti­
ca] decision to drop insanity defense in order 
to keep some of the more unsavory aspects of 
defendant's past from jury. U.S.C.A. Const. 
Amend. 6. 

11. Criminal Law ~641.13(1) 

Trial strategy decisions rest only with 
counsel and a choice of tactics rarely sustains 
ineffective assistance claim. U.S.C.A. Const. 
Amend. 6. 

12. Criminal Law ~ 1.13(5) 

Defense counsel's advice to plead guilty 
to two counts of murder and two counts of 
atrempted murder was not ineffective assis­
tance in capital murder prosecution, given 
defendant's admission to the crimes which 
provided sufficient basis for plea. U.S.CA 
Const.Amend. 6; West's AI.C. 35--41--5--1, 
35-42-1-1. 

13. Criminal Law ~273(4.1) 

Defendant must admit the offense to 
which he is pleading guilty. 

14. Criminal Law ~1.13(7) 

Defendant's attorneys were not ineffec­
tive based on their alleged failure to ade­
quately advise defendant on how to respond 
to aggravating factors charged under death 
penalty statute; counsel and defendant dis­
cussed aggravating factors, and counsel sue• 
ceeded in getting one of aggravating circum­
stances reversed. U.S.CA Const.Amend. 6. 

15. Criminal Law ~1.13(2.1) 

Defendant, who pleaded guilty to capital 
murder, was not prejudiced by his counsel's 
alleged failure to voir dire the jury adequate­
ly; even if voir dire was inadequate, it was 
not clear that failure to conduct proper voir 
dire by itself prompted guilty plea by making 
it seem to defendant he had no other choice 
but to plead. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 6. 

16. Criminal Law ~273(4.1), 273.4(1) 

Guilty plea constitutes waiver of con,(i. 
tutional rights, and this waiver requires trial 
court to evaluate validity of every plea befort 
accepting it. 

17. Criminal Law ~273.1(1) 

For guilty plea to be valid, defendant', 
decision to plead guilty must be kno•in~. 
voluntary, and intelligent. 

18. Criminal Law ~273(4.l) 

Defendant's admission that he intenrl,-d 
to murder two victims and that he intenrl,-d 
to attempt to murder two other victims, and 
introduction by prosecutor of audio tape, uf 
defendant's confession to police establish,-d 
sufficient factual basis for defendant's J!Uill.l' 
plea to two counts of attempted murder and 
two counts of murder. West's AI.C. 3.'>--11-
f>-l, 35-42-1-1. 

19. Criminal Law ~273.1(2) 

Defendant's guilty plea to two count> ,d 
attempted murder and two counts of murder 
was not induced by fear of greater puni,h· 
ment than was legally po·ssib1e, since, <•wn 
with guilty plea, death penalty was still le~­
ly possible. 

20. Criminal Law ~273.1(4) 

Defendant's right to have jury considr< 
whether it would recommend death penalty 
was not constitutional right of which defrn· 
dant had to be advised before plcadint 
guilty. West's AI.C. 35-50-2-!J(d). 

21. Criminal Law ~273(2), 273.J(l) 

Despite testimony obtained four -""'" 
after defendant's conviction which ,ho,1..d 
that .defendant had suffered brain dam"" 
during birth defendant's guilty plea ll> r,,11 

• d two ro1Jnt1 counts of attempted murder an 
of murder was voluntary and intelligent. 

Susan K. Carpenter, Kenneth _L. Bir~~~ 
M. Pfarr, Eric K. Koselke, Indian•Po 
appellant. 

Pamela Carter, Attorney Gene7,. :. 
Indiana, Thaddeus Arthur Perry, Deptl ~ 
tomey General, Indianapolis, for •P 
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DAVIS v. STATE Ind. 1099 
Clteu675 N,E.ld 1097 (Ind. 1996) 

SHEPARD, Chief Justice. 

I. Introduction 

In his post-conviction appeal, appellant 
frank R. Davis alleges that ineffective assis­
t>Dce of counsel prompted him to plead 
guiltY to two counts of murder and two 
coUJ!!.S of attempted murder. He also alleges 
hi.< guilty plea was not intelligent or volun­
tarl'· The post-conviction court held other­
, .. ~, and we affirm. 

U. Statement of the Facts 

Davis was arrested following separate as­
,awt.s on four teenaged boys in northern 
Indiana over a six-month period in 1983. 
The State's evidence showed that he molest­
ed and attempted to murder one fifteen-year­
old boy by hitting him repeatedly in the head 
with a handgun in January 1983. Six months 
later, he molested another teenage boy be­
fore choking him to death. Two days after 
that. he befriended two more teenaged boys 
.no were camping. He forced one youth 
oho had been sleeping out.side the tent to 
,crompany him to a set of nearby railroad 
1ratks. Along the tracks, he molested the 
ooy and strangled him with a piece of wire. 
Davis returned to the campsite and told the 
other youth his friend had been hurt. The 
,outh followed Davis back to the railroad 
tracks where Davis, at knife point, tied the 
youth's hands with wire and performed oral 
"" on him. Then he told the boy to roll over 
onto his stomach and hit him in the head 
<ith an axe four times. The youth lost con­
;crmLsness but survived to tell police later 
:hat a man named Frank Davis had harmed 
him. Davis was arrested on June. 21, 1983 
wl told police about his involvement in all 
four crimes. 

On July 13, 1983, the State charged Davis 
•ith ten criminal counts, and asked for the 
'1eath penalty. Davis initially planned an 
if!Sanity defense, but "'thirty seconds" before 
•.he trial started his defense counsel with­
½ew the insanity defense. That decision left 
liJn without any defense at all. The next 
<lay Davis told his lawyer he wished to plead 

I. Ind.Code Ann.§ 35-42-1-J (West 1986). 

l Ind.Code Ann.§ 35-41-5-1 (West 1986). § 35-
<l-i-l (West 1986). 

guilty. As part of an agreement, he pied 
guilty to two count.s of murder 1 and two 
count.s of attempted murder, a class A felo­
ny.2 

Twelve days later, the trial court sen­
tenced Davis to death for murder and im­
posed two consecutive fifty-year sentences 
for the attempted murder convictions. On 
direct appeal, we affirmed. Da,rn, v. State, 
477 N.E.2d 889 (Ind.1985), cert. denied, 474 
U.S. 1014, 106 S.Ct. 546, 88 L.Ed.2d 475. In 
early 1986 Davis filed a petition for post­
conviction relief. The State disputed the al­
legations in the motion and argued he should 
have sought relief on direct appeal. After 
two amendments to Davis' petition, the trial 
court opened a postconviction relief hearing 
on November 10, 1993. 

The hearing terminated when the court 
approved a Joint Motion for Equitable Relief. 
Under its terms, the post-conviction court 
vacated Davis' death sentence but not the 
two fifty-year sentences. It determined that 
the. sentencing hearing would be reopened 
"for the sole purpose of entering additional 
mitigating evidence. There are no restric­
tions on the penalties that may be given." 
(R. at 278.)' The only issue remaining was 
Davis' request to \\ithdraw his guilty plea, 
which the post-conviction court denied. 

III. Statement of the Issues 

Davis advances two argument.s in support 
of his request to withdraw his guilty plea.. 

First, Davis argues his lawyer rendered 
ineffective assistance by forcing him to fore­
go a jury trial and waive his constitutional 
rights in exchange for a plea agreement that 
gave him no real benefit. Specifically, he 
argues his counsel lacked the experience to 
handle a death penalty case, allowed an in­
competent defendant to plead guilty, failed to 
suppress statement.s and the fruit.s of an 
illegal search of the Davis family home, failed 
to prepare and present an insanity defense, 
and allowed Davis to plead guilty without the 
requisite intent. Finally, Davis argues his 
counsel failed to advise him on the aggrava-

3. References to the post-conviction record are 
denoted by the letter "R." The record of the 
guilty plea is denoted by "G.R" 
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ting circumstances and failed to voir dire the 
jurors properly. 

Second, Davis argues that his plea was not 
voluntary and intelligent. In particular, 
Davis alleges his plea was invalid because 
during the plea hearing he denied an intent 
to kill until after an off-the-record confer­
ence, received incorrect advice about the ag­
gravating circumstance that would apply to 
the case, pied guilty to what the defense 
called an "illusory plea," and was not proper­
ly informed about the role of the jury in 
evaluating the appropriateness of the death 
penalty. Finally, Davis alleges he was not 
sufficiently competent to enter a guilty plea. 

IV. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

[1, 2] In reviewing the denial ·of a petition 
for post-conviction relief, we do not reweigh 
evidence or judge the credibility of the wit­
nesses. To prevail, a petitioner must estab­
lish that the evidence as a whole leads unmis­
takably to a decision in his favor. Schiro v. 
State, 479 N.E.2d 556 (lnd.1985), c,Tt de­
nied, 475 U.S. 1036, 106 S.Ct. 1247, 89 
L.Ed.2d 355 (1986). 

[3, 4 l Defendants who challenge the qual­
ity of their legal defense face a demanding 
two-part test. First, the defendant must 
show that the attorney's performance fell 
below an objective standard. Second, the 
defendant must show the attorney's perfor­
mance was so deficient and prejudicial that 
the defendant was denied a fair trial. Strick­
land v. Washington. 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 
2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Whatley v. 
State, 508 N .E.2d 537 (lnd.1987). Indiana 
courts have required strong and convincing 
evidence to overcome the presumption of ef­
fective defense counsel. Terry v. Stale, 465 
N.E.2d 1085, 1089 (lnd.1984). "Isolated poor 
strategy, bad tactics, a mist.ake, carelessness 
or inexperience do not necessarily amount to 
ineffective counsel unless, t.aken as a whole, 
the defense was inadequate." Id., citing Hol-

. Ion v. State, 272 Ind. 439, 398 N .E.2d 1273 
(Ind.1980). 

[5] Davis' lead attorney, George Hofer, 
had just two years experience, but he had 
worked as both a deputy prosecutor and a 
public defender. Hofer had only slim experi­
ence with jury trials, none of them a capital 

case, but he was aided by an experienced l'<► 

counse~ Jere Humphrey. Humphrey, wt., 
assisted with jury selection, had handled ..... 
era! capital cases. Hofer was also a,;tu" 
enough to argue that the charged aggrantor 
of lying-in-wait did not apply to D"';5 ,._..,. 
This Court later agreed with Hofer and hr•lrl 
that the trial court erred when it found th,· 
lying-in-wait aggravator was supported hy 
the evidence. Davis, 477 N.E.2d at 897. A, 

the post-conviction court noted, '\ie\\in~ th1• 
case as a whole, the Trial Counsel wpn• 
competent." (R. at 269.) 

Hofer conceded at the post~comiction 
hearing that he was "overwhelmed" by th,­

case. Much of his anxiety appeared to han 
stemmed from the Davis' failure to coopera" 
with his defense, however, rather than from 
his inability to handle the legal issue, in· 

volved. · 

At the post-conviction hearing, Hofer at· 

knowledged that even with the e,,-perien,e t.­
had gained since Davis' original trial, he did 
not believe he could have been able to obtain 
Davis' cooperation. Hofer recalled De,-i>" 
answering his lawyers' questions with staU·· 

ments such as "Well, you find out'' or "you 
get the answer" or "that's your job." I 1(. • 1 

433.) Ultimately, it was the defendant', t•·· 
havior, not his counsel's representation, lha1 
hampered the defense. It is hard to ""'· 
therefore, how the attorney's conduct fell 
below . prevailing standards require<! by 
Strickland. 

[6] Davis also argues he was denie<l ,.f. 
fective assist.ance of counsel because hi~ law· 
yer allowed him to plead guilty even thou~h 
he was incompetent. Testimony obtain,..J 
four years after the conviction showed I>u,-ui 
suffered brain damage during birth that 
caused his right brain to function les.s cfTr<· 
tively than his left. A;; a result of this injul')' 
and the odd behavior it produced, he ,..., 
placed in Beatty Hospital at age fouJ1R<'fl. 
During his time at Beatty, testimony sh.,..,..i 
he was placed in an adult ward where hr ,..., 
sodomized and abused for his entire onr-yrar 
commitment.' Due to this traumatic abu"''• • 
physician testified, Davis suffered from po•t· 
traumatic stress disorder, borderline pe1'1"'"" 
ality disorder, and major features of anti-
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,ocial personality disorder. (R. at 658.) As 

1 
result of these problems, a physician testi­

fied, a criminal defendant might have trouble 
"'°perating with his counsel. 

This evidence contradicts, however, the ev­
idence available to Davis' trial counsel, Ac­
eording to the guilty plea record, psychiatric 
,µrninations had found Davis competent 
,G.R. 637-38,653--54), and even Humphrey 
thought Davis was competent to stand trial. 

1 
R. at 728). Faced with this evidence, Hofer 

and Humphrey opted to drop the insanity 
defense just before the trial started. Under 
the Strickland standard, counsel's decision to 
a)Jow Davis to plead, especially in light of the 
~idence, appears reasonable. 

[7] Davis also argues that because of the 
ineffective work of his counsel, there was no 
attempt to suppress evidence of his state­
ment to police. With respect to the suppres­
~on of Davis' admission he committed the 
crimes, counsel testified that he believed the 
State had promised to forego the death pen­
alty charge in exchange for Davis' confession. 
1R, at 329,) Counsel also said the deputy 
prosecutor trying the case told him there was 
no such promise. Despite the conflict in 
,,idence, trial counsel did not ask the county 
prosecutor to testify at the suppression hear­
ing, The contradictory statements about the 
link between the death penalty and the con­
fession, however, ·shows that the record does 
not inevitably lead to the conclusion that 
.,uch a promise existed. Even if counsel 
raised this issue during the suppression hear­
ing, it is not clear he would have prevailed.' 

[8, 9] Davis also claims ineffective assis­
tanee with respect to suppression of the re­
sults of a search of the Davis family's home. 
~t the suppression hearing, a police officer 
testified he told Davis' family he had a war­
rant to search Davis' room. A family mem­
her told him that if he was going to search 
that room he would search the entire house 
Hlyv..-ay, so he gave him his consent. Even 
•ithout a search warrant, the consent given 
hy the family member would have validated a 
-"'areh of the home by police officers. "The 

'- _ The post-conviction court made a finding that 
implicitly rejects Davis' claim that the State 
~romised to forego its death penalty request: 
After Defendant proceeded to plead guilty, 

consent to search is a valid exception to the 
search warrant requirement under Indiana 
law." . Hill v. Stai.e, 267 Ind. 480, 487, 371 
N.E.2d 1303, 1307 (Ind.1978). Davis sug­
gests that duress was applied to the Davis 
family in order to obtain consent, but the 
record reveals no evidence of duress. There 
is no showing of ineffective assistance on this 
score. 

[10] Davis also argues that his lawyers 
were ineffective for failing to prepare and 
present an insanity defense. He finds this 
particularly egregious because of the later 
discovery of his childbirth brain injury, As 
not.ed above, however, there was substantial 
testimony suggesting Davis was indeed sane. 
For the post-conviction court, there was 
enough evidence in the record to support a 
conclusion Davis was sane when he commit­
ted the acts. 

[11] The record also shows Davis' counsel 
made a substantial effort to prepare an in­
sanity defense, In the moments before the 
trial began, however, they elected to abandon 
the defense in order to keep some of the 
more unsavory aspects of Davis' past from 
the jury, (R. at 349.) Trial strategy deci­
sions rest only with counsel and a choice of 
tactics rarely sustains an ineffective assis­
tance claim. See Adams v. Stai.e, 575 N.E2d 
625, 629 (Ind.1991). In light of the evidence 
of sanity before the postconviction court and 
the reasoned decision to drop the insanity 
defense by Davis' counsel, it is apparent the 
Strickland standard has not been met, 

[12, 13] Davis also alleges that Hofer ad­
vised him to plead guilty even though he 
never admitted committing the crimes. An 
Indiana defendant must admit the offense to 
which he is pleading guilty, Paftrm v, Stai.e, 
517 N.E.2d 374, 37~76 (lnd.1987), aff'd after 
remand, 588 N.E.2d 494 (Ind.1992). Davis 
states Hofer suggested he plead guilty even 
though Davis told him he would not say he 
intentionally committed the crimes. By urg­
ing him to plead guilty under these circum­
stances, Davis argues, his defense team was 

counsel did advise him that they believed that 
with a guilty Plea his odds of not getting the 
death penalty were better with a judge that with 
a jury." (R. at 267.) 
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aware the plea would not meet the require­
ments for a guilty plea. 

A review of the record reveals that Davis, 
albeit reluctantly, admitted to the attempted 
murder in January, and the second attempt­
ed murder count in June. lt also shows he 
admitted intentionally killing the two youths 
in June. (G.R. at 567-68.) ln light of Davis' 
own testimony, it appears obvious that a 
sufficient factual basis existed for the guilty 
plea and that counsel's conduct was not defi­
cient. 

(14] Davis also argues that his counsel 
inadequately advised him on how to respond 
to the aggravating factors charged under the 
death penalty statute. There is evidence in 
the record, however, that Hofer and Davis 
discussed the aggravating factors. Indeed, 
as noted earlier, Hofer's legal theory that at 
least one of the aggravators, lying in wait, 
did not apply was found to be cotTect. 
Davis, 477 N.E.2d at 897. ln light of the 
discussions and our later decision it is hard 
to understand Davis' claim his counsel was 
ineffective. 

(15] Finally, with respect to his ineffec­
tive assistance claims, Davis argues that his 
counsel failed to voir dire the jury adequate­
ly. However, the defense t,,am had inter­
viewed the jury enough to know how it might 
view capital punishment. In fact, one mem­
ber of the defense team described it as a 
"hanging jury." (R. at 730). In any event, 
the composition of the jury appeared to have 
little impact on Davis. According to Hum­
phrey, one reason Davis decided to plead 
guilty was to spare his family any pain, not 
because he felt the jury was against him. 
Even if voir dire was inadequate, it is not 
clear that failure to conduct proper voir dire 
by itself prompted the guilty plea by making 
it seem to Davis he had no other choice but 
to plead. 

V. Guilty Plea Was Knowing 
and Voluntary 

Davis argues his guilty plea was not know­
ing and voluntary due to ineffective assis­
tance of counsel. He claims the record 
shows he denied an intent to kill and that the 
advice he received at his trial was insufficient 

to allow him to make an intelligent and vol­
untary decision about pleading. He ar!(U,-. 
this failure in advice meant he was improper­
ly advised about the aggravating circum• 
stances that would apply to his case. Fur­
ther, he argues, the breakdoVt'll in a<hirt· 
from counsel led him to an "illusory ph•a· 
which gave him no real benefit Finalh· 
Davis argues he was not competent to ent~; 
a plea voluntarily and intelligently. 

(16, 17] A guilty plea constitutes a wail'l•r 
of constitutional rights and this waiver ,. .. 
quires a trial court to evaluat,, the validity of 
every plea before accepting it. Bullrr r 

Stau, 658 N.E.2d 72, 75 (Ind.1995), citin~ 
Stowers v. Staie, 266 Ind. 403, 363 N.E.Zd 
978 (lnd.197'7). For the plea to be valid, th,· 
defendant's decision to plead guilty must t,, 

knowing, voluntary and intelligent. Boyk'" 
v. A/nbama, 395 U.S. 238, 242-44, 89 S.!\ 
1709, 1711-13, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969/. In 
Baykin, the U.S. Supreme Court nowd· 
"What is at stake for an accused facing rieatl, 
or imprisonment demands the utmol,t goliri• 
tude of which courts are capable in can"a."'· 
ing the matter with the accused to mak<' sun· 
he has a full understanding of what thr pk• 
connotes and it.s consequences." Id. at Z-t~-
244, 89 S.Ct. at 1712. Indiana's guidelines 0

• 

this issue predate the U.S. Supreme Court'• 
holding. "[L)ong before the leading ferir~ 
cases on guilty pleas, Indiana courts ~­
nized that fundamental fairness rc,;uin,<l 
something more than a docket sheet notatiori 
that the defendant appeared and piearle<! " 
White v. Stau, 497 N.E.2d 893. 896 ilod 
1986). 

Indiana law specifies that a trial court .hall 
not accept a plea of euilty or guilty·t,ut· 
mentally-ill ,-ithout fir.;t determinin1 u,,I 

the defendant understands the nature of t/11 
charges against him and that pleadin_, ~; 
waives a number of valuable consutuU 
rights. Ind.Code Ann. § 35-35--1-2 f\\'coll 
1986). 

(18] Davis argues specifically hi-' ,rui/11 
plea is invalid because at the guilty ::: 
hearing he initially denied he had an •:i, • 
to kill. (G.R. at 562--04.J To e.,tJ!h~IIJII' 
factual basis for the plea agreenien~,,.uo"' 
phrey asked Davis a series of qu 
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the crimes. Initially, Davis said he did 
know what he was doing when he killed 

Reed. (G.R. at 564). It was only after 
-the-record conference that he testified 

· - ded to la1l the two youths and intend-
kill two others. (G.R. at 566--ffl.) 

· .. respect to each crime, Davis admitted 
Intended to murder the two boys and 
' to attempt to murder the two otb-

,, , (G.R. at 566--68.) In U7UlerhiU v. Stnte, 
ffii;/N.E.2d 284, 287 (Ind.1985), this C,ourt 
~'that a defendant's admission of the facts 
"'::ff...""". :~ae,i before the trial oourt sufficed to 
?~lish a basis for the entry of a plea. 
~8'ilarly, Davis' admission at his guilty plea 
\~ and the introduction by the prosecu­
:!/1,f of audio tapes of Davis' confession to 
,'iiU/re est:'blished a sufficient factual basis 
;.ti}1ihe guilty plea. 
-l ,;,, ! 

,-< ~ · • . also argues his plea should be with-
:due to the advice he received from 
" ·and his knowledge about the conse­

. · · of a guilty plea when he made the 
~ .n. to plead. Specifically, he asserts 

·. oounsel failed to advise him properly 
· ~arged aggravating circumstances. 
. es when he pied guilty, he had 
jlum the mere expectation he would 

·>:, .. '. a term of years. He believed he 
ipuJd not receive the death penalty because 

vating circumstances did not apply 
., ." (Appellant's brief at 62). Davis 

es that the trial court did not cor­
miaimderstanding he had. 

·, is ample evidence in the record, 
;cto· show that Davis and his counsel 

the aggravating circumstances. As 
,~e, Davis' counsel succeeded in get­
~ne of the aggravating circumstances 

. : Davis, 477 N.E.2d at 897. Also, 

.counsel never said the "intentional 
:l,j the course of a felony" aggravator 
ot apply. He only said he would try 
• against it. 
"· 
.':biwis also argues he pied guilty to 
U>Unted to an "illusory plea." As 

I. 

1
, plea agreement, Davis pied guilty 

·ts· of murder and two counts of 
. 'murder. In exchange, the State 
· ·.tlrop ,two counts of felony murder 
· · · ts · of deviate sexual conduct. 

,there was no real benefit to the 

plea since the trial court still had the option 
under the plea agreement to impose the 
death penalty. Counsel asserts the bargain 
was meaningless because the doctrines of 
double jeopardy and merger would have pre­
vented the convictions and sentences on all 
ten counts as alleged. Eddy v. Stnte, 496 
N.E.2d 24 (Ind.1986) (one may not be con­
victed and sentenced for both felony murder 
and the accompanying felony of robbery). 
Davis also cites Danieu, v. Stok, 531 N .E2d 
1173 (Ind.1988), for the proposition that a 
guilty plea is invalid if induced by the fear of . 
greater punishment than would have been 
legally possible. In this case, however, Davis 
pied guilty after his defense counsel made a 
calculated decision that he would be less 
likely to receive the death sentence if he did 
so. His plea was not induced by a fear of 
greater punishment than was legally possi­
ble. Even with a guilty plea, the death 
penalty was still legally possible. 

(20] Finally, with respect to the advice he 
received about the plea agreement, Davis 
argues the pleas should be set aside because 
the trial court simply read the death penalty 
statute to him but did not explain the special 
role the jury plays in evaluating the appro­
priateness of the death penalty. Davis is 
correct in asserting that Boykin requires a 
conviction to be vacated unless the defendant 
knows or is advised at the time of his plea 
that he was waiving his right to a jury trial. 
Davis uns advised he was waiving his right 
to a jury trial. He may not have been specif­
ically told he was also waiving the (lj)pOrtuni­
ty to have a jury consider whether it would 
recommend that death penalty, as required 
by Ind.Code Ann. § 35-50-2-9(d) (West 
1986). However, Baylcin establishes only 
that the U.S. Constitution requires that a 
defendant be advised of his right to a trial by 
jury, the right to confront one's accusers and 
the right against self-incrimination. By fore­
going the opportunity for a jury to make a 
recommendation on his sentence, Davis was 
not giving up a constitutional right that 
would require a separate advisement. 

(21] Finally, Davis alleges he was not 
sufficiently competent to enter a guilty plea 
voluntarily and intelligently. As has been 
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noted earlier, however the post-conviction 
court found there. was sufficient evidence to 
determine that Davis was competent to stand 
trial and consequently participate in his 
guilty plea hearing. To prevail on appeal, a 
petitioner must establish that the evidence as 
a whole leads unmistakably to a decision in 
his favor. Schiro v. State, 479 N.E.2d 556 
(lnd.1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1036, 106 
S.Ct. 1247, 89 L.Ed.2d 355 (1986) .. Davis has 
not met this burden. 

VI. Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, the decision of 
the post-conviction court to deny Davis' re­
quest to ";thdraw his guilty plea is affirmed. 

. DICKSON, SULLIVAN, SELBY and 
BOEHM, JJ., concur. 

In the Matter of L.B., a Child Alleged to 
be a Delinquent Child, Appellant­

Respondent, 

V, 

STATE of Indiana, Appellee-Petitioner. 

No. 71A0~9511-JV-391. 

Court of Appeals of Indiana. 

Dec. 23, 1996. 

In juvenile delinquency proceedings, St. 
Joseph Probate Court, Peter J. Nemeth, J., 
entered finding of delinquency based on mo­
lestation of 14-year-old victim. Appeal was 

taken. The Court of Appeals, Hoffman, J., 
held that: (1) right of parents to be present 
at proceedings on delinquency of their child 
existed at time of delinquency hearing from 
which they were excluded; (2) exclusion of 
parents, on basis of v.itness separation order, 
from substantial portion of delinquency pro­
ceedings was not hannless absent knowing 
and _voluntary waiver; and (3) child could 

assert right to have his parents present 11 
juvenile delinquency proceedings. 

Reversed and remanded. 

Chezem, J., concurred in result .... ,Ll'i 
opinion. 

1. Statutes <i>o230 

Amendments to statutes are to h<· {·11r, 
strned in conjunction with original .a(·t 1,, 

which they relate, as constituting om• 111 ..... 

and Y..ith other statutes on same suhjt•l'l 11r 

relati\'e subjects whether in force or n· 
pealed. 

2. Statutes <i>o230 
Upon enacting' amendatory :statute. ltf 

islature is presumed to have intended to ~llN 

Jaw, but presumption_ is inapplicable if it "I' 
pears that amendment was made only ll• 

express original intention of legislatun• mor,, 
clearly. 

3. Infants <i>o200 
Right of parents to be present at ,,,,,. 

ceedings on de[inquency of their child exi.<t.-1 
at time of delinquency hearing from whirh 
they were excluded, even though ~t.alilt 11r.­
amendment formalizing status of pan•nt.~ a,. 

parties to delinquency proceeding, wa.• nol 

added until several months after hearinr. 
legislature intended amendment to rla~ 
parents' rights as parties, in light of otl,"' 
acts regarding juveniles which were aln•ad) 

• · hlf l" replete ,1,,ith references to parent..'- n,c-
attend and participate in proceeding:: n•f,!~nt· 
ing their minor children whether prorcrdtnt' 
were directed to acts of pacent.s or childrrn 

West's A.LC. 31-6-4-9. 

4. Criminal Law eo636(1) 
Generally, it is right of ever)' part)' bU· 

gant to be present in person in cour1 ul"" 
trial of his or her own case. 

:;. Infants <i>o200, 2,3 

b 
. f ~;,,.,. 

Exclusion of parents, on as1s O . rJ 
separation order, from substantial port.I~ 
delinquency proceedings, includirtj( .:.i­
case-in-chief for state during adjud,:...,,, 
hearing, was not hannless absent k W 
and voluntary waiver of parents' right to 
present. 
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ATTORNEY Ar LAW 

POST OF'FH'E Box 24 77 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

Pursuant to NRCP S(b), I certify that John J. Kadlic, Esq. 

on the 11th day of December, 2003, personally delivered a true 

copy of the Defendant's Brief to the following: 

Tammy M. Riggs, Esq. 
Washoe County District Attorney's Office 
75 Court St. 
Reno, NV 89501 
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1 CODE NO. 1850 

• • 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

9 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

10 

11 vs. 

12 FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 

•• * 

Plaintiff, 

13 Defendant. 

14 ---------------~' 

JUDGMENT 

Case No. CR02-0147 

Dept. No. 9 

Reporter: D. Davidson 

15 

16 The Defendant having been found Guilty by a jury, and no sufficient cause 

17 being shown by Defendant as to why judgment should not be pronounced against him, the 

18 Court rendered judgment as follows: 

19 That Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli is guilty of the crimes of Indecent Exposure, a 

20 violation of NRS 201.220, a felony, as charged in Count I of the Amended Information and 

21 Open or Gross Lewdness, a violation of NRS 201.210, a felony, as charged in Count II of 

22 the Amended Information, and that he be punished by imprisonment in the Nevada State 

23 Prison for the minimum term of twelve (12) months to a maximum term of forty-egiht (48) 

24 months and by payment of a fine in the amount of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00), as to 

25 each of Counts I and II. The sentence in Count II shall run concurrently with the sentence in 

26 Count I. The Defendant is further ordered to pay the statutory Twenty-Five Dollar ($25.00) 

27 administrative assessment fee, submit to a DNA analysis test for the purpose of determining 

28 genetic markers and pay a testing fee of One Hundred Fifty Dollars ($150.00), an Eight 
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1 Hundred Dollar ($800.00) Psychosexual Evaluation fee and reimburse the County of 
.. 

2 Washoe the sum of One Thounsad Dollars ($1,000.00) for legal representation by the 

3 Washoe County Public Defender's Office. The Defendant is given credit for two hundred 

4 twenty-eight (228) days time served. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
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14 

15 
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DATED this 12th day of December, 2003. 

\ 

JAMES W. HARDESTY 
DISTRICT JUDGE 
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CASE NO. CR02-0147 

DATE, JUDGE 
OFFICERS OF 

STATE OF NEVADA VS. FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI 

COURT PRESENT 

12/12/03 
HONORABLE 
JAMESW. 
HARDESTY 
DEPT. NO. 9 
S. Sattler 
(Clerk) 
D. Davidson 
'"--·-+er) 
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APPEARANCES-HEARING 

ENTRY OF JUDGMENT AND IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE 

Deputy D.A. Tammy Riggs represented the State. 
Defendant present with counsel, John J. Kadlic. 
Probation Officer, Heidi Poe, also present. 

CONTINUED TO 

Court indicated respective counsel had provided him with briefs 
regarding the admissibility of State's exhibit A. Court indicated he 
had reviewed the transcript and the microfilm and concluded with 
regards to the proposed enhancement judgment, that the 
Defendant was to be advised of certain constitutional rights, or at 
least that was the case in 1983 and further noted said rights had 
been waived. Further, stated that he was satisfied with the canvass 
and indicated a guilty plea was entered by the Defendant. COURT 
ORDERED: State's exhibit A is hereby admitted. 
Counsel for State addressed the Court and submitted the matter as 
to the concurrent or consecutive time stating that the Albertson's 
incident had been stricken, however, requested a sentence of 
eighteen (18) to forty-eight (48) months and presented argument 
thereto. 
Officer Poe indicated the Defendant had two hundred twenty-eight 
(228) days credit for time served. 
Defendant read letter into the record. 
COURT ORDERED: Judgment entered. Defendant sentenced to 
the Nevada State Prison for the minimum term of twelve (12) 
months to a maximum term of forty-eight (48) months and by 
payment of a fine in the amount of Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000.00), as to each of Counts I and II. The sentence in Count II 
shall run concurrently with the sentence in Count I. The Defendant 
is further ordered to pay the statutory Twenty-Five Dollar ($25.00) 
administrative assessment fee, submit to a DNA analysis test for 
the purpose of determining genetic markers and pay a testing fee of 
One Hundred Fifty Dollars ($150.00), an Eight Hundred Dollar 
($800.00) Psychosexual Evaluation fee and reimburse the County 
of Washoe the sum of One Thounsad Dollars ($1,000.00) for legal 
representation by the Washoe County Public Defender's Office. 
Office. 
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CASE NO. CR02-0147 

DATE, JUDGE 
OFFICERS OF 

STATE OF NEVADA VS. FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI 

COURT PRESENT 

12/12/03 
HON. JAMES W. 
HARDESTY 
DEPT. NO. 9 
S. Sattler 
(Clerk) 
D. Davidson 
(Reporter) 

APPEARANCES-HEARING 

ENTRY OF JUDGMENT AND IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE­
CONTINUED 

CONTINUED TO 

The Defendant is given credit for two hundred twenty-eight (228) 
days time served. 
Counsel for Defendant indicated the Defendant would be appealing 
this matter and moved the transcript be prepared at the county's 
expense; SO ORDERED. 
Defendant remanded to the custody of the Sheriff. 

• 2 • 
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I EXHIBITS 
' ' 0 
0 

PLTF: STATEOFNEVADA PATY: TammyRiggs C 
> • DEFT: FERRILL VOLPICELLI DATY: John J. Kadlic 

Case No: CR02-0147 Dept. No: 9 Clerk: S. Sattler Date: 12/12/03 

Exhibit No. Party Description Marked Offered Admitted 

Defendant's prior Judgment 
of Conviction, Transcript of 

A STATE'S Proceedings, Waiver of 12/05/03 OBJ 12/12/03 
Preliminary Examination, 
Information 

1 

• Print Date: 12/16/2003 
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CODE: 4185 

• 
FILED 

DEC 16 2003 

RON~~~ A~LERK 

~ 
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

THE HONORABLE JAMES W. HARDESTY, DISTRICT JIBX;E 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

vs. 

--00000--

Plaintiff, 
Case No. CR02-0147 
Dept. No. 9 

FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 

Defendant. 

_______________ ! 

Reported by: 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

SENTENCING 

DECEMBER 10, 2003 

RENO, NEVADA 

DONNA DAVIDSON, CCR #318, RMR, CRR 
Computer-Aided Transcription 

1 

DJNNA DAVIDSON, RMR, CRR - (775) 626-0132 
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APPEARANCES 

For the Plaintiff: 

TAMMY M. RIGGS 
Deputy District Attorney 
75 Court Street 
Reno, Nevada 89520 

For the Defendant: 

JOHN A. KADLIC 
Attorney at Law 
147 East Liberty Street 
Suite 2 
Reno, Nevada 89801 

For the Division of Parole and Probation: 
HEIDI POE 
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RENO, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 2003, 9:53 A.M. 

--000--

THE COURT: All right. State versus Ferrill 

Volpicelli, CR02-0147. 

Ms. Riggs is here for the State, Mr. Kadlic is 

here on behalf of Mr. Volpicelli. 

This was a continued sentencing in order to 

allow Mr. Kadlic the opportunity to review the Exhibit 

A. 

Mr. Kadlic, have you had an opportunity to do 

that? 

MR. KADLIC: Yes, I appreciate Ms. Riggs. She 

faxed it to me over the weekend. I did have an 

opportunity to look at it. I appreciate that. 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. KADLIC: Absolutely, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. KADLIC: If you go back and read the 

transcript, the change of plea of September 22nd of 

1983, you run into you one slight problem. If you go to 

page 5, they explain to Mr. Volpicelli the elements, 

although I must admit Mr. Mooney never did explain to 

him that this occurred in the County of Washoe, State of 

3 
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Nevada, they asked him if he understands the elements. 

Then he goes down, and the judge says, "Are you 

entering a guilty plea then because you are guilty?" He 

says, "Yes, Your Honor, I will accept the plea then." 

The problem is he never asks him to plead to the 

charge. So there is no actual plea in this case. He 

never pled to the charge. 

So if you don't plead, you can"t be guilty of 

something. And NRS 174.035, the only plea a judge can 

enter for you is a plea of not guilty. 

So there is nothing in the transcript, and I 

went through it several times to check it out, that 

indicates he's ever pled to the charge, which -- and I 

was looking at a case this morning, which is State v. 

Freese, which is 116 Nev. 1097, it's a 19 it"s a 2000 

case where the supreme court says while you don"t have 

to have sort of a ritualistic routine, you must follow 

some kind of guideline. 

Of course in later times -- now, this was in 

1983. They apparently weren"t doing written waivers. 

They are now doing those. But if you look at it, 

there"s no written waiver in this case. 

There are other problems with the canvass 

itself, and which is also covered in the Freese case. 
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And I'll just point out a couple of other little 

problems. 

One, they never mention he has a right to 

subpoena witnesses. 

There's sort of what I call a half explanation 

of the facts that lead to the underlying charge. 

There's no discussion of possible defenses, no 

discussion of his right to appeal, no discussion of his 

right to counsel or if he's satisfied with his counsel; 

if you read the Freese case, if the counsel has had 

enough time to discuss the elements with him. 

In other words, back in 1983, this may have been 

what courts would have considered an adequate canvass, 

but it's certainly not today. 

But again, if you go back through it, he's never 

pled guilty to the charge. So all of the other 

documents are extraneous. Because if he didn't plead 

guilty and the judge can't accept a plea of guilty 

unless he actually pleads to it, you don't have a valid 

prior conviction, which then takes this out of being a 

felony and puts this back to being a gross misdemeanor. 

And so I strenuously object to the admission of 

the exhibit on the basis I have stated. 

THE COURT: Okay. Before we move on to 
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arguments from counsel for the State on this point, the 

Court's administrative assistant received a letter from 

Mr. Volpicelli bringing to my attention, which I was not 

aware of until this morning, that there was a pending 

motion by him to remove his counsel. Have you seen that 

motion, Mr. Kadlic? 

MR. KADLIC: No, I have not. 

THE COURT: So your client never sent that to 

you? 

MR. KADLIC: Apparently not. I don't know what 

date it's file-stamped. I haven't received it. 

THE COURT: Well, the one that I have in the 

file here, once I located it, after seeing the AA -- the 

letter from the AA this morning, is October 24th, 2003. 

And it, the letter makes reference to two of them, and I 

haven't found the other one yet, but I'm looking for it. 

Mr. Volpicelli, are you wanting to remove your 

counsel before sentencing in this case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, if you review the 

record, you'll see that -- I believe that there was a 

conflict of interest with Mr. Kadlic being my attorney 

for reasons that are referenced in I believe a motion 

for new trial or acquittal filed within five days of the 

July 10th, I believe, trial itself. And --
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THE COURT: Did you serve that on the State? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did. 

MS. RIGGS: No, Your Honor, the State has not 

received any kind of motion in this case. We have 

received an ex parte document referred to us by the 

Court, I believe, or -- it's hard to keep track, Your 

Honor. He sends so much stuff to us, to you, and 

there's no formal motion regarding his trying to get 

Mr. Kadlic off his case. 

MR. KADLIC: If I can explain the basis of what 

that comes from, Your Honor. 

Apparently back when I was a justice of the 

peace, I issued a search warrant on a totally unrelated 

case than this. We went through a similar hearing with 

Mr. Grayhouse in front of Judge Elliott, and if you look 

at the statute, there is a statute that says judges 

aren't supposed to represent people if they have had 

anything to do with a case, but as I read that and the 

way Judge Elliott read it in Grayhouse decision that he 

made, it goes to the case that's in front of the Court. 

This thing happened I couldn"t even tell you how 

long ago. It was probably 10 to 15 years ago when I was 

a justice of the peace. It has nothing to do with this 

charge. 
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So if you read the rule, I'm now convinced -­

originally I wasn"t sure until we did that hearing in 

front of Judge Elliott -- that you have it has to be 

the case you were working on. In other words, if you 

were to leave the bench today and suddenly representing 

Mr. Volpicelli in this case tomorrow, you couldn't do it 

without both sides agreeing, the State and the defendant 

agreeing to allow you to represent him. 

Well, this isn't the case. This is a case that 

has nothing to do with this case here, it has nothing to 

do with probably half of Mr. Volpicelli's cases. And 

that's the only thing apparently I did, and that one 

somehow slipped through the cracks that I didn't catch 

until later on and somebody caught it. I tried to go 

back. There were only about three that I actually had 

during my 15-year tenure in the justice's court that 

actually had any, and one was Mr. Grayhouse, one was 

Mr. Mills, I believe, and one was Mr. Volpicelli, and 

that's it. 

But nothing substantive to this case. So the 

motion, even if he were -- I doubt the Court is going to 

rule in his favor based on what I now believe the rule 

to say. 

THE COURT: Is there any other basis, 
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Mr. Volpicelli, for the removal of counsel, other than 

the conflict issue that you have referenced? 

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, in regards to the 

conflict issue, I initially brought to the Court's 

attention that there's an ongoing issue at this point, 

and the fact that a search warrant was signed which 

turned me into a repeat offender program -- eventually a 

repeat offender program target, and if you review the 

record you'll see during the trial that it was brought 

up that I was under investigation as a ROP target. So I 

believe that it was a related case. 

THE COURT: A search warrant issued in '83 -­

THE DEFENDANT: A search warrant issued back in 

1992. In addition to that, there is still an ongoing 

issue with the fact that the property that was seized 

during the investigation has not been resolved to date, 

and that I've been in touch with the California 

Department of Justice as late as July, I believe, of 

2002, in regards to that matter. 

So the way I interpreted the statute was that if 

there"s an ongoing matter still pending or if there 

wasn't complete agreement between counsel and client as 

to a conflict of interest, that a relationship between 

client and attorney created a conflict. 
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THE COURT: Why didn't you send a copy of this 

motion to your lawyer? 

THE DEFENDANT: I did, Your Honor. And the 

Court has -- I have filed documents, but I didn't bring 

them here today because I didn't anticipate this. I 

thought it was just going to be sentencing. 

MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, he may have sent it to 

me. Again, as Ms. Riggs said, this is the one thing 

we'll both agree on. Mr. Volpicelli sends out volumes 

of stuff. Some applies to one case; some applies to 

another. 

As I have said in the past, I think he has three 

different conflict attorneys. So he may well have sent 

this one. Again, I was aware of what Judge Elliott did, 

so if he did, it's probably in the file somewhere along 

with numerous other documents. I think my file is 

probably about 10 inches thick at this point. 

I mean I just basically -- knowing what Judge 

Elliott already ruled, I did not respond because I'm of 

the opinion he's not going to prevail anyway just based 

on the rule. The reading of the rule, after having that 

other hearing, has convinced me that you have to be the 

actual case that it's involving, and the indecent order 

had nothing to do with the search warrant that was 
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issued -- if it"s issued in 1992, that"s 11 years ago. 

It had nothing to do with this case. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. KADLIC: To be honest with you, I would be 

happy to step aside if the Court gives him another 

counsel. I mean, it isn't going to hurt my feelings. 

But I'm here as a professional to represent him. 

I think I've gone a good job at trial. I'm 

raising the issue as far as this conviction here that 

they are trying to get into evidence. I mean, I'm 

trying to do my job as a professional. 

THE COURT: You have not seen this motion, 

though? 

MR. KADLIC: I probably have. You know, it ' s 

just -- I mean, like, again, I agree with Ms. Riggs, 

there are numerous papers that come through, again some 

apply to other cases that don't apply, you look at them 

and I must admit you don"t spend a lot of time with 

them. Most of them frankly lack merit. 

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Volpicelli doesn"t cite 

the statute that addresses the conflict question in his 

paper to me, but apparently this is an issue that you 

have discussed in an unrelated case with Judge Elliott. 

MR. KADLIC: That is correct, Your Honor. I 
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believe -- I hate to be held to this, I believe it's 

Supreme Court Rule 1 -- it"s either in the 150s or the 

170s. 

THE COURT: I think it"s 162. 

MR. KADLIC: Okay. 

THE COURT: But factually what occurred in this 

case, there was a search warrant that you signed in 

when? 

MR. KADLIC: Apparently in 1992 that had to do 

with some form of property crime. This is obviously an 

indecent exposure -- it has nothing to do with this. 

I mean, it could have longstanding 

repurcussions, and you could, I guess, bootstrap your 

way all the way in, if you want to think about it, into 

the fact that I mean, yeah, it probably -- if I issued a 

search warrant, they found evidence, he was convicted, 

that condition is then used to have him held to be a 

habitual criminal, I suppose there"s some marginal 

connection. 

But as far as the actual charge of indecent 

exposure and the charge which is what we are here on 

today, that search warrant had nothing to do with that 
' 

case, it had to do with things that may have led to 

convictions of other charges that may be,- granted the 
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habitual criminal isn"t before this court on this case 

either, so it would actually go in front of Judge 

Elliott, which I"m not representing him on, Mr. Van Ry 

is. I have nothing to do with that case. 

THE COURT: What's the disposition of the '92 

case, if you !mow? 

MR. KADLIC: I don"t. Alls I did is signed a 

search warrant. I haven't the slightest idea, Your 

Honor, whatever happened to it beyond that. I assume 

that he may have been convicted. I have no way of 

!mowing. 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, he was convicted of two 

counts of burglary in that case. Also --

THE COURT: When was that conviction? 

MS. RIGGS: When was it? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MS. RIGGS: It was in 1993, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MS. RIGGS: Also, Your Honor, regarding this or 

Mr. Kadlic's representation resulting in this defendant 

being a ROP target, that's inaccurate. This defendant 

was not voted in as a ROP target until August 2001, 

after he corrmitted several other property crimes, as 

Mr. Kadlic says, corrpletely unrelated to the indecent 
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exposure charges. 

THE COURT: Okay. The motion to discharge 

Mr. Kadlic on the basis of conflict is denied. With 

respect to the judgment then, Ms. Riggs, what is your 

position with regard to the arguments of counsel on 

that? 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, firstly, this sounds 

like a collateral attack on this defendant's guilty 

plea. Of course that should have been made many, many 

years ago. And any problem that this defendant had with 

his guilty plea should have been handled, he should have 

appealed it and the issue is over. 

The Court now -- or the State is arguing that 

this prior or record of prior conviction follows the 

mandates of Dressler, and under Dressler what the State 

must show is that the spirit of constitutional 

principles were followed and that this defendant was 

either represented by counsel or made a valid waiver of 

counsel. 

THE COURT: And if the underlying -- if the 

judgment is the product of a void plea, I mean, 

counsel's correct, for some odd reason the judge in 1983 

never asked the defendant to plead. 

MS. RIGGS: Well, Your Honor, and I will go 
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through that. As you"ll see, this is a valid guilty 

plea to begin with. 

THE COURT: Well, here"s what I'm going to do, 

because there's a lot of -- in the Court's mind, there"s 

a lot riding on these issues in this case and some other 

cases. And I'm not going to make a decision on this 

just based upon this matter having been presented to me 

this morning. 

I want you to submit, each of you, some 

authorities with respect to your arguments on this 

matter. I'm going to continue it to the 19th. I want 

your authorities submitted by the 17th so that I know 

what your argument is. 

MR. KADLIC: Okay, Your Honor, that -- that 

presents a problem. I'm going -- as a matter of fact, a 

week from today at this time, I may actually be able to 

see -- well, I won't be able to see without glasses. 

I'm having laser surgery on the 17th. 

The 19th presents -- I'll be out of commission 

for two days. So -- at least that's what they tell me. 

So I mean, I've even scheduled some things for the 19th 

I'm going to try to vacate. I would prefer to move it, 

if the Court is going to hear things on the 26th, which 

is the day after Christmas, I would prefer to do it 
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then. 

THE COURT: I can do it on the 31st. 

MR. KADLIC: The 31st would be better. 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, I'm not going to be able 

to do it on the 31st, I know for sure. 

If Mr. Kadlic is going in for surgery, I would 

actually ask to move it backwards from the 19th -- or 

from the 17th. If we could do this by the -- I'm sorry, 

what is the date today? 

MR. KADLIC: Today is the 10th. 

MS. RIGGS: I could do this, Your Honor, by 

either the end of the week or Monday. 

THE COURT: Well, Mr. Kadlic, would you be 

available to argue this and provide me with your 

authorities on this -- I have hadn't had a chance to 

look at Freese, I think I remember the case, but I want 

to read it. Would you be available the morning of the 

16th? 

MR. KADLIC: No. :M::,r schedule -- I'm trying to 

get everything else done before I'm out of commission on 

the 17th and 18th, so that is no. That's putting a real 

short notice. I have another I am working on a writ 

of habeas corpus on a client out of Yerington that is 

basically taking up a lot of time, he's a retained 
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client, he paid me a lot of money, frankly. I prefer to 

do it after Christmas. 

THE COURT: Are you available this Friday? 

MR. KADLIC: That is open. We were supposed to 

have -- I've got a major business case in Carson City. 

We may be -- we were a third set. I've got a call from 

the judge's chambers. Apparently -- we have got 

co-counsel coming out of San Jose on that one. It looks 

like it's going to be vacated. If it's vacated, the 

answer is yes; but I don't know if I can get a brief to 

you in 

THE COURT: No, I want to, if you have time or 

you want to submit any authorities, I just want to 

research this myself. 

MR. KADLIC: I will try to make time. It looks 

like we"re going to vacate because there"s a jury trial 

and we were a third setting in Carson City. It's just 

that I have co-counsel coming out of San Jose. But I 

can do it Friday. I can work it out with my -- they 

have been admitted to practice, so I think they can work 

without me being there if they have to. 

THE COURT: 8:30. 

MR. KADLIC: 8:30 would be fine, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Ms. Riggs, if you have 
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some legal authorities to address, you can present them 

by tomorrow. 

I'll see you back here Friday morning. 

MR. KADLIC: Thank you, Your Honor. 

MS. RIGGS : Thank you, Your Honor. 

(Proceedings concluded.) 

--000--
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STATE OF NEVADA ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

I, OONNA DAVIDSON, Official Reporter of the 

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, 

in and for the County of Washoe, do hereby certify: 

That as such reporter, I was present in 

Department No. 9 of the alx>ve court on said date, time 

and hour, and I then and there took verbatim stenotype 

notes of the proceedings had and testimony given 

therein. 

That the foregoing transcript is a full, true 

and correct transcript of my said stenotype notes, so 

taken as aforesaid. 

That the foregoing transcript was taken down 

under my direction and control, and to the best of my 

knowledge, skill and ability. 

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this 15th day of 

December, 2003. 

DONNA DAVIDSON, CCR #318 
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RENO, NEVADA, FRIDAY, DEC11EBER 12, 2003, 8:29 A.M. 

--000--

THE COURT: Please be seated. 

State versus Ferrill Volpicelli, CR02-0147. 

Ms. Riggs is here for the State, Mr. Kadlic is 

here on behalf of Mr. Volpicelli, Ms. Poe is here for 

the Division of Parole and Probation. 

Counsel has provided to the Court a brief -­

both counsel have provided to the Court briefs on this 

topic and the admissibility of State"s Exhibit A. The 

Court has reviewed the transcript; in fact, I have 

looked at the microfilm of the file in 1983. 

The Court concludes that with respect to the 

proposed enhancement judgment that have been offered, a 

defendant is to be advised of certain constitutional 

rights under Boykin versus Alabama, 395 US 238, at the 

time of a plea canvass. At least that was certainly the 

situation in 1983. 

Several federal constitutional rights are 

involved in a waiver that takes place when a plea of 

guilty is entered in a state criminal trial. First is 

the privilege against corrpulsory self-incrimination; 

next is the right to a trial by jury; third is the right 
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to confront one"s accusers. 

In reviewing the transcript, the Court concludes 

that all three of those constitutional rights were 

discussed with Mr. Volpicelli; he acknowledged the 

existence of those rights and waived them. 

Although counsel has argued that the question of 

his right to subpoena witnesses was not addressed, the 

Court is satisfied that the constitutional rights 

required by Boykin were provided and discussed with 

Mr. Volpicelli and he waived the necessary 

constitutional rights through the plea canvass. 

Therefore, the Court concludes that at least the canvass 

was satisfactory and met constitutional requirements. 

The next issue raised by the defense concerns 

whether the defendant entered a guilty plea. The 

transcript says on page 5: 

"The Court: Mr. Volpicelli, do 

you understand what the State 

would have to prove, all the 

elements of the offense to a 

jury of 12 people beyond a 

reasonable doubt if this case 

did go to a trial? 

"The Defendant: Yes, Your Honor. 
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"The Court: You are entering a 

guilty plea then because you 

are guilty? 

"The Defendant: Yes, Your Honor. 

"The Court: I will accept the plea then." 

The question is whether the defendant must enter 

or state the words guilty as a basis for a guilty plea. 

The Court has been provided with a reference to 

the Croft case, but in addition the Court believes that 

the defendant in this case and in other cases can by an 

affinnative acceptance of a leading question by the 

Court enter a guilty plea; therefore, the Court 

concludes that the guilty plea in 1983 was entered by 

the defendant, the objection to Exhibit A is overruled, 

and Exhibit A is admitted. 

(Exhibit 1 admitted into 

evidence.) 

THE COURT: I would now like to proceed with 

sentencing in this matter. 

Is there anything further you would like to add 

in the way of argument, Mr. Kadlic? 

MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Ms. Riggs? 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, regarding the 
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reconrrnendation of the department, we"re going to submit 

it to your discretion whether you want to run these two 

counts concurrently or consecutively. 

You'll recall that -- and actually I do have a 

correction to make to the P and P report. On page 6, 

you'll note in the second paragraph about in the middle 

the report goes into the Albertsons incident on December 

27th, 2001. You'll recall that that incident and all 

reference to it were stricken in this case. We weren't 

allowed to proceed on those. 

And so the two separate incidents that we 

started with, we ended up with two counts coming out of 

one, so that's the reason the State is going to submit 

on the issue of concurrent versus consecutive, Your 

Honor. 

The P and P came back, though, with minimums, 

Your Honor, and we certainly don't think that is 

appropriate. The State is asking you to sentence this 

defendant to 18 to 48 months in the Nevada State Prison 

and $5,000 on each count. 

Your Honor, this defendant admits to multiple 

incidents of masturbating in his car in public areas, 

and that's on page 7 of --

MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, I object to that. He's 

6 

DONNA DAVIDSON, RMR., CRR - (775) 626-0132 

V3. 381

V3. 381



' ' 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

• • 
not been charged with those, so I don't think you can 

bring that into the sentencing now. He has to be 

charged with them. If they want to charge him, fine, 

charge him. 

R . ? THE COURT: Ms. iggs. 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, we"re letting you know 

the background of this defendant, why we think that 18 

to 48 months is appropriate. It's already on the 

record. He"s already asserted this. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

MS. RIGGS: Thank you. He says at least 40 such 

acts since he was 17 years old. The State considers 

this conservative since when the ROP detectives were 

following him he engaged in this kind of conduct at 

least three to four times, and they only saw him on 

eight different days. 

Simultaneously, Your Honor, this defendant 

denies his actions. He has what the assessment 

physician says is a pronounced history of antisocial 

thinking and appears unable to take responsibility for 

his actions. And the explanation that he gives to the 

assessor borders on the ridiculous, Your Honor. It's 

also inconsistent with prior statements that he"s made. 

Ironically, even though the evidence in the 
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Albertsons case got thrown out, he admits the fact of 

performing that conduct in his statement to the 

assessor, so the State is sort of at a loss as to 

whether he is going to be taking responsibility for 

these or not. But he does blame everybody else for his 

conduct. 

Your Honor, you recall that there was an 

assessment done by Lakes Crossing physicians back in 

July. In that assessment he blamed his attorneys, the 

repeat offender program, officer witnesses in this case, 

the co-conspirator in his burglary cases; and now a new 

thing, addictions, for his predicament. In fact, on 

page 8 of the Lakes Crossing assessment, Your Honor, he 

even blames you and makes some sort of allegations of 

possible prejudice by you. 

Also, Your Honor, the evaluator considers his 

likelihood to reoffend high, moderate to high. The 

three assessments that were conducted, there was one, 

the RRASOR assessment mentioned on page 8 of the 

evaluation that puts generally his risk at 21 percent to 

reoffend in ten years. 

However, since 1987, Your Honor, or, excuse me, 

1977, when he was first arrested, to 1983, he had a 100 

percent risk -- or 100 percent rate of reoffense. He 
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did the exact same conduct in 1977 for which he was -­

the charges were dismissed; 1983 he gets convicted of 

the exact same conduct; and then and now, this conduct. 

The State believes that he will reoffend when 

he's out, Your Honor, so we think that the best course 

is to segregate him from the population as long as 

possible. 

Also, Your Honor, you'll note that the evaluator 

regards his treatment possiblibilities at page 9 as 

guarded at best. He's resistant to treatment. And 

interestingly, the assessor states that his other 

criminal behavior needs to be stabilized before 

treatment can be effective. 

Well, Your Honor, this defendant has just been 

found guilty on eight counts of burglary and two other 

misdemeanor counts, and he also has a burglary case 

pending in this court. 

Your Honor, he's -- this defendant has been in 

custody for the last five years, at least, and during 

the four months that he was out he was reoffending. So 

we don't believe that he's amenable to treatment at all. 

We believe that the 18 to 48 months is the appropriate 

sentence in this case. Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Ms. Poe, anything you 
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wish to add? 

MS. POE: No, Your Honor. Corrected credit for 

time served should be 228 days, though. 

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Volpicelli, is there 

anything you would like to say before the Court imposes 

sentence in this case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. I have been in 

denial with my addiction for the past decade, and since 

my arrest for these charges in 2001, I went and cleaned 

up my 1998 judgment and put in to date almost two years. 

During that time I've been convicted, changed 

with programming, but more importantly I've been on 

psychotropics, and I think it's made a definite impact 

on my life. 

I'd like for you to consider the fact that over 

the last six years outside of the four and a half months 

that I was on parole, I have just been warehousing my 

problems, and it didn"t do anything; and what I need is 

obviously psychotherapy, the psychotropic regimen, and 

some type of structured drug program, but it just 

doesn't seem to be in the cards. 

And in view of that, it would appear that I"m 

probably going to be going back to prison. And in that 

event, what I was requesting is that you defer my 
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transport to prison until I conclude with all of these 

cases, including my family court matters, which would 

probably be around February the 1st. 

The other thing is that if you recall back in 

April, when I first arrived here, I came here with my 

legal supplies and/or resources, and you allowed me to 

keep them at Washoe County in the sheriff's office. 

As a result of their investigations, a 

typewriter that I purchased in prison was seized, and I 

was wondering if you could put that back -- have that 

put back on my property so I can return to prison with 

that. 

THE COURT: A what? What is it? 

THE DEFENDANT: It's just a typewriter I 

purchased in prison. 

THE COURT: A typewriter. 

THE DEFENDANT: It was seized, and I want to put 

it back on my property at the Washoe County Sheriff's 

Office so that I can return to prison with that. 

And I think I'm probably going to need a court 

order for my box itself to accompany me back with the 

transport to the Nevada Department of Corrections 

because they probably won't want to take it right away. 

And then I'd just ask for work time credit 
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because I was a porter at Washoe County Sheriff's Office 

as well. Thank you. 

THE COURT: Okay. The Court sentences you to a 

term of 48 months in the Nevada Department of 

Corrections on Count 1, with a minimum parole 

eligibility of 12 months. 

On Count 2 you're sentenced to a similar 48 

months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, with a 

minimum parole eligibility of 12 months concurrent to 

Count 1. 

You'll have 228 clays credit time served. 

You will pay a $25 administrative-assessment 

fee, $1,000 in attorney's fees, $150 DNA fee, $800 

psychosexual evaluation fee. 

And you're fined in the sum of $5,000 on each of 

the two counts. 

With respect to your current custody status, 

there is a pending case. The Court expects to rule on 

that matter next week. I'll set it for Wednesday at 

8:30. We'll notify Mr. Alian on that point, and I'll 

address any further custody status with you at that 

time. 

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. 
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MR. KADLIC: One thing, Your Honor, since 

obviously I'm going to appeal this case, could you order 

the court reporter -- I'll file the necessary paperwork, 

but I seem to get in these glitches of getting the 

transcripts prepared, and I always end up having to ask 

for extensions on these fast tracks; so order that. they 

prepare the transcript at county expense so I don't have 

to go through that. I'll file the request for 

transcript, the case appeal statement, the notice of 

appeal; but I run into these glitches with the court 

reporters, but I'm trying to avoid that right now. 

THE COURT: So ordered. 

MR. KADLIC: Thank you, Your Honor. 

(Proceedings concluded.) 

--oOo--
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STATE OF NEVADA ) 

) ss. 
COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

I, OONNA DAVIDSON, Official Reporter of the 

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, 

in and for the County of Washoe, do hereby certify: 

That as such reporter, I was present in 

Department No. 9 of the above court on said date, time 

and hour, and I then and there took verbatim stenotype 

notes of the proceedings had and testimony given 

therein. 

That the foregoing transcript is a full, true 

and correct transcript of my said stenotype notes, so 

taken as aforesaid. 

That the foregoing transcript was taken down 

under my direction and control, and to the best of my 

knowledge, skill and ability. 

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this 19th day of 

December, 2003. 
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REQUEST FOR TRANSCRIPTS 

Notice is hereby given that Defendant, FERRILL JOSEPH 

VOLPICELLI, by and through his attorney, John J. Kadlic, hereby 
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

g FERRILL JOSEPH VOLPICELLI, 

10 

11 

vs. 
Appellant, 

12 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

13 

14 

15 

Respondent, 

----------------' 

Case No. CR02-0147 

Dept. No. 9 

16 CERTIFICATE OF CLERK 

17 I hereby certify that the enclosed documents are certified copies of the original 

18 pleadings on file with the Second Judicial District Court, in accordance with the 

19 Revised Rules of Appellant Procedure Rule 0(1). 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Dated: January 6, 2004 

Ronald Longtin, Jr.;·court Clerk 
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1 A P P E A R A N C E S 

2 

3 

4 For the Plaintiff , 

5 TAMMY M. RIGGS 
Deputy District Attorney 

6 75 court Street 
Reno, Nevada 89520 
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11 
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19 
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22 
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For the Defendant: 

JOHN A. KADLIC 
Attorney at Law 
147 East Liberty Street 
suite 2 
Reno, Nevada 89801 

PAGE 3 
1 RENO, NEVADA, THURSDAY, JULY 10, 2004, 8:38 A.M. 
2 --000--

3 
4 THE COURT: Please be seated. 

This case is State versus Perrill Volpicelli, 
6 CR02-0147. 
7 Ms. Riggs is here for the State, Mr. Kadlic 
8 is here for Mr. Volpicelli, who is present. Good 
9 morning to all of you. 

10 MS. RIGGS: Good morning, Your Honor. 
11 MR. KADLIC: Good morning, Your Honor. 
12 THE COURT: This was the time set prior to 
13 the trial for a pretrial motions. 
14 Ms. Riggs, did you have any? 
15 MS. RIGGS: State has no pretrial motions, 
16 Your Honor. We do have a stipulation to discuss with 
17 you regarding the jury panel. There are three jurors 
18 that both parties would like to stipulate to have 
19 dismissed before the jury comes in. They. 
20 Would be Deb Bartgis, who is a court reporter 
21 and has asserted in her jury questionnaire that she 
22 does not believe she can be impartial towards a 
23 criminal defendant. 
24 We would also ask to dismiss Rachel Villareal 

PAGE 4 
1 who asserts in her questionnaire that she -- due to 
2 her religious convictions she is enable to judge 
3 another. 
4 Also, Your Honor, we would like to --
5 THE COURT: I have Rafaela . 
6 MR . KADLIC: It's Rafaela. 
7 MS . RIGGS: I apologize, Your Honor, that's 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

correct. 
THE COURT: Okay. 
MS. RIGGS: And lastly, Your Honor, there's a 

person named Xan Harris, and that person is the 
sister of a criminal defendant who subsequently was 
involved in civil proceedings that I participated in 
as a law clerk for Judge Breen. 

So on that basis, we would ask that those 
three jurors be dismissed. 

MR. KADLIC: I would agree with that, Your 
Honor, Ms. Bartgis, everybody knows her situation; 
Ms. Harris I was reading that, she was part of the 
Ali Shaw situation; and the other lady are dealing 
with people who say that only God can judge, I don't 
care how many questions you ask them, they are going 
to stick to that. You may as well in my book get rid 
of them early and not even spend time because you are 

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT 
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never going to rehabilitate them looking to God to be 1 
the judge. 2 

THE COURr·: All right. Pursuant to the 3 
stipulation of counsel, the Court will excuse 4 
prospective Jurors Bartgis, Harris, and Villareal, 5 
and we will notify the jury commissioner to notify 6 
those three jurors, if they have reported, that they 7 
are excused. 8 

THE CLERK: I don't recognize the last name 9 
that you called. 10 

THE COURT: V-1-L-L-A-R-R-E-A-L. V, as in 11 
Victor. 12 

THE CLERK: This is the latest list that I 13 
got. 14 

THE COURT: Maybe she was taken off the list 15 
anyway. 16 

MR. KADL!C: It appears, Your Honor, that she 17 
is not on the list. So she may not be -- 18 

THE COURT: All right. So Ms. Villareal 19 
wasn't on the juror list anyway. Okay. 20 

21 
22 
23 
24 

Any other pretrial matters for the State? 
MS. RIGGS: None, Your Honor. 
MR. KADLIC: Didn't you want to do your -­

the photograph. 

PAGE 6 
MS. RIGGS: Well, Your Honor, when we were 1 

discussing exhibits yesterday, the defense has 2 
stipulated to the admission of seven of the State"s 3 
exhibits, and I just wanted to put on the record that 4 
regarding Exhibits l, the Safeway parking lot exhibit 5 
and Exhibit 4, the Albertson's parking lot we have 6 
stipulated that it would be all right to write on 7 
those in front of the jury for demonstrative 8 
purposes. 9 

MR. KADLIC: And I agree with that, Your 10 
Honor. We just wanted to put that on the record. 11 

THE COURT: Exhibits 1 through 7 will be 12 
admitted. 13 

(Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 14 
admitted into evidence.) 15 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. 16 
THE COURT: Mr. Kadlic, any pretrial matters 17 

on your part, sir? 18 
MR. KADLIC: Yes, I just wanted to make sure. 19 

I know that it was redacced from the Information his 20 
prior conviction, but I just want to make that as a 21 
motion in limine to make sure that that is redacted 22 
and there is no reference to the fact that 23 
Mr. Volpicelli has a prior conviction both in Count 1 24 

• 
PAGE 7 

1 and Count 2. Line 6 on page 2 of the Amended 
Information and also on line 21 from that, that that 
is redacted; two, that there be no reference to the 
fact that the defendant is a ROP target, that is a 
Repeat Offender Program target, that none of the 
officers refer to that; three, that they not refer to 
any prior incidences, involving Mr. Volpicelli, that 
there be no reference to that. 

The fourth part, that's the part that 
concerns me, is how we"re going to get to the State"s 
cases because they were -- if you read the police 
reports, they were investigating him and these 
charges are actually weren't the target of what they 
were really trying to do, they were trying to do 
something else, it's just that these charges arose 
from what they were doing. 

I have great concern as to how the State is 
going to be able to, since one of the incidents 
results as an effort of using binoculars to observe, 
to try to see what the defendant was doing, the other 
one they voluntarily walked up to his car to look in 
to see what he was doing. I just have great concern 
how the State is going to prove that without 
referring to other prior criminal conduct which is 

PAGE 8 
not the subject of this proceeding. 

so I move in limine to eliminate all of those 
issues where possible, because otherwise they are 
going to prejudice Mr. Volpicelli. 

That's why in some ways it is unfortunate 
that the State chose to have a jury, this would have 
been the better case to try before a judge because 
the judge can erase out of his mind that evidence 
which is inadmissible which is harder to make a jury 
do. 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State doesn't 
have any of the same concerns that defense has. What 
the State"s -- the way the State intends to set these 
matters up is for instance when we are directing one 
of the police officers we'll ask them are you a 
police officer, what is your position, Reno police 
detective. We won't refer to ROP. 

I'll also ask were you conducting -- what 
were you doing? They will answer we were conducting 
an investigation. They are not going to be saying 
that they are conducting an investigation of 
Mr. Volpicelli. 

Just as the defendant is concerned about 
prejudice toward his case regarding any sort of 

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT 
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1 insinuation that these people are already following 1 
2 him, there would be prejudice towards the State's 2 
3 case if we were not at least able to say there's an J 
4 investigation going on, 4 
5 It's going to become clear to the jury that 5 
6 there's at least a few police officers in the area in 6 
7 each area that we're talking about, each location at 7 
8 one time. 8 
9 Now, the jury is either going to think that 9 

10 they are ganging up on him for some reason if we're 10 
11 not allowed to say they were conducting an 11 
12 investigation, or they are going to be wondering what 12 
13 are they all doing there. It's going to create more 13 
14 confusion. 14 
15 If we're allowed to say that these detectives 15 
16 were there conducting a criminal investigation that's 16 
17 it, Mr. Volpicelli's vehicle came to their attention, 17 
18 there's no prejudice to the defendant, there's no 18 
19 prejudice to the prosecution. 19 
20 THE COURT: Well, with respect to the first 20 
21 motion redacting those portions of the Information, 21 
22 that's granted. And I always ask the clerk in the 22 
23 department to meet with counsel to review the 23 
24 Information that will be read, and I'm sure she's 24 

• 
PAGE 11 

to be consistent with respect to the reference of the 
defendant's name. 

Any other pretrial matters? 
MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor, thank you. 
THE COURT: Okay, Then I'll ask Ms. Clerk to 

have the jurors come up with the exception of Bartgis 
and Harris, and we'll get started as soon as 
everybody is here. 

(Recess taken.) 
THE COURT: Please be seated. 
This case is State versus Ferrill Joseph 

Volpicelli, CR02-0147. 
Are counsel ready to proceed? 
MS. RIGGS: State is prepared, Your Honor. 
MR. KADLIC: Defense is prepared, Your Honor, 

thank you. 
THE COURT: All right. Good morning, ladies 

and gentlemen. I would like to welcome all of you to 
Department 9 of the Second Judicial District Court. 

As you heard from the call of the case, my 
name is Jim Hardesty. I have the privilege of 
serving as the presiding judge in this department of 
this district. I'd like to welcome all of you as 
prospective jurors. 

PAGE 10 
1 done that. 

PAGE 12 
1 You have been called upon to serve as a juror 

2 Secondly, with respect to the reference to 
3 ROP, that's granted, and there will be no reference 
4 to the fact that the defendant is a target of the 
5 repeat offender program. Additionally, there will be 

2 in this case and lend your good judgment and sense of 
3 fair play to this important service. Our nation has 
4 traditionally placed great faith in its citizens to 
5 serve as jurors and to reach fair and objective 

6 no references made to Mr. Volpicelli's prior criminal 
7 history or any prior incidents or events. 

6 decisions in matters of great importance. 
7 In my opinion at no time in the history of 

8 I do think the State's suggested solution 8 our State or our country has our faith new been 
9 solved the problem. I don't think the officers 9 misplaced. I ask you now to share in this tradition 

10 should make reference to the fact that they are 10 and to look upon your service as a juror as both a 
11 engaged in a criminal investigation but rather 11 privilege and a responsibility of citizenship. 
12 engaged in an investigation, and leave it at that, 12 I ask you to serve willingly so that all 
13 and as a consequence of that investigation observe 13 persons who come before this Court, perhaps even 
14 the defendant, if that's what their claim is. 14 yourself some day, will have the benefit of a fair 
15 So that's how the State is admonished to 15 and unbiased judgment of a juror of one's peers. I 
16 advise its witnesses of the Court's rulings. 16 know that jury service is an inconvenience, and every 
17 Mr. Volpicelli, am I pronouncing your name 17 effort will be made today to take advantage of the 
18 correctiy? 18 time that you are here and not abuse that time in any 
19 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 19 respect. 
20 THE COURT: It's not Volpicelli? 20 I also know that it is uppermost in jurors' 
21 THE DEFENDANT: Either or. 21 minds the length of trial and the time that you will 
22 THE COURT: You tell me how you prefer it. 22 be corr,nitted, so let me tell you initially this case 
23 THE DEFENDANT: I prefer Volpicelli. 23 is relatively short by most circumstances and is 
24 THE COURT: Okay. I would like the parties 24 expected to last today and perhaps into tomorrow 
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1 morning under the worst of circumstances. Much 1 
2 better I might add than some trials we have coming up 2 
3 here soon which are scheduled to last anywhere from 3 
4 three weeks to three months. You're not on that 4 
5 panel. 5 
6 I'd like to introduce the Court staff that 6 
7 serve in Department 9 and have you here a little bit 7 
8 about their functions. 8 
9 To my left is the Court clerk. She is 9 

10 responsible for all of the exhibits that are 10 
11 introduced during the course of the trial. As you'll 11 
12 hear in a moment, she manages the process for juror 12 
13 selection, administers oaths and handles all of the 13 
14 computer operations that take place inside the court 14 
15 during the time we are in session. 15 
16 Ms. Clerk, would you introduce yourself. 16 
17 THE CLERK: Good morning, my name is Sigrid 17 
18 Sattler. 18 
19 THE COURT: All that we say and all that we 19 
20 do in a court of law is reported by a court reporter, 20 
21 as it should be. I am very fortunate to have one of 21 
22 the most experienced court reporters in our state. 22 
23 She has recently returned from an extended vacation, 23 
24 we're glad to have her back, which she is very tan as 24 
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1 a result of it, has us all envious. 1 
2 Ms. Reporter. 2 
J THE COURT REPORTER: Good morning, I'm Donna 3 
4 Davidson. 4 
5 THE COURT: The Court has the benefit of a 5 
6 bailiff who provides any number of services while we 6 
7 are in court, in session and out. The bailiffs are 7 
8 provided by the Washoe County Sheriff's Office by 8 
9 statute. 9 

10 The bailiff in this instance is an 10 
11 outstanding representative of the Washoe County 11 
12 Sheriff's Department and we're very fortunate to have 12 
13 him with us. 13 
14 Bailiff, would you introduce yourself to the 14 
15 jurors. 15 
16 THE BAILIFF: Good morning, ladies and 16 
17 gentlemen. My name is Mickey Oxhorn. Welcome. 17 
18 THE COURT: It is important for you all to 18 
19 get to know Deputy Oxhorn. He is the person that you 19 
20 will communicate with should there be a need to 20 
21 communicate with me. 21 
22 I'd like counsel to introduce themselves now. 22 
23 First, for the State. 23 
24 MS. RIGGS: Good morning, ladies and 24 

• 
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gentlemen. My name is Tammy Riggs, and I'm a deputy 
district attorney. 

THE COURT: And Mr. Kadlic, if you would 
introduce yourself and your client, sir. 

MR. KADLIC: Yes, my name is John Kadlic. 
I'm an attorney in the private practice in the City 
of Reno, State of Nevada. This is my client, Ferrill 
Joseph Volpicelli. Thank you. 

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, as you 
heard from the call of the case, this case is a 
criminal case. A criminal case begins with the 
filing of an Information, which is a pleading that is 
filed with the Court by the district attorney's 
office advising the Court that certain charges are 
being presented. 

It is by no means evidence in the case, and 
of course Mr. Volpicelli has pled not guilty which is 
why we are here. 

In order for you to have an understanding of 
the subject matter of the case, I will now ask the 
clerk to read the Information that has been filed in 
this matter. Ms. Clerk. 

THE CLERK: In the Second Judicial District 
Court, in and for the County of Washoe, the State of 

PAGE 16 
Nevada, plaintiff, versus Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli, 
defendant. 

Case number CR02-0147, Department Number 9. 
Amended Information filed February 21st, 

2003, Ronald Longtin, Jr., by Pat Cronin, deputy. 
Richard A. Garnrnick, District Attorney within 

and for the County of Washoe, State of Nevada, in the 
name and by the authority of the State of Nevada 
informs the above entitled Court that Ferrill Joseph 
Volpicelli, the defendant above named, has committed 
the crimes of: 

Count I, indecent exposure, a violation of 
NRS 201.220, a felony, in the manner following: That 
the said defendant, on or between the 25th day of 
September, 2001, and the 27th day of September, 2001, 
or thereabout, and before the filing of this 
Information, at and within the County of Washoe, 
State of Nevada, did willfully and unlawfully on one 
or more occasions make an open and indecent or 
obscene exposure of his person to Detective Patricia 
Brown and/or the public at large in a public parking 
lot during daytime hours located at 10500 North 
McCarran Boulevard and/or 5150 Mae Anne Boulevard, 
Reno, Washoe County, State of Nevada, in that the 

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT 

V3. 402

V3. 402



1 
2 
] 

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

• 
SHEET 5 PAGE 17 

said defendant did masturbate inside a vehicle. 1 
Count 2, open or gross lewdness, a violation 2 

of NRS 201.210, a felony in the manner following: 3 
That the said defendant on or between the 4 

25th day of September, 2001, and the 27th day of 5 
September 2001, or thereabout, and before the filing 6 
of this information at or within the County of 7 
Washoe, State of Nevada, did willfully and unlawfully 8 
on one or more occasions cowmit an act of open or 9 
gross lewdness in a public parking lot during daytime 10 
hours located at 10500 North McCarran Boulevard and 11 
5150 Mae Anne Boulevard, Reno, Washoe County in that 12 
the said defendant did masturbate inside a vehicle, 13 
all of which is contrary to the form of the statute 14 
in such case made and provided and against the peace 15 
and dignity of the State of Nevada. 16 

Richard A. Gamrnick, District Attorney, Washoe 17 
County, Nevada, by Shawn Sullivan Deputy District 18 
Attorney, to which Amended Information defendant 19 
entered a plea of not guilty as charged. 20 

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, 21 
if you have served on a jury before and what l 'm 22 
about to say is redundant, I apologize, but I always 23 
found it helpful to get an overview of a process that 24 
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I hadn't participated in, so let me give you a kind 1 
of an overview of what we will try to accomplish this 2 
morning in connection with jury selection. 3 

In a moment, Ms. Clerk will read the names of 4 
the prospective jurors. When you hear your name 5 
announced, would you please confirm your presence and 6 
let us know that you are here. 7 

I will then ask her to ask all of you to 8 
stand and take an oath, raise your right hand and 9 
take an oath to be administered by the clerk, under 10 
the terms of which you agree to answer questions 11 
under oath placed to you by me and by the attorneys 12 
having to do with your qualifications to serve as a 13 
juror in this case. 14 

After that, Ms. Clerk will read the names 15 
randomly of 23 of you who will sit in the jury box 16 
here and then questioning will begin by myself then 17 
the attorneys and at the conclusion of the 18 
questioning each counsel will then have the 19 
opportunity to exercise four peremptory challenges. 20 

These are challenges in which the lawyers are 21 
permitted to excuse a prospective juror for any cause 22 
and without explanation to the other side or to the 23 
Court. 24 
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At the conclusion of that process, we will 
select 12 jurors and one alternate who will hear and 
decide this case. 

All right. Ms. Clerk, would you please read 
the roll of prospective jurors in the case. 

(The clerk called the roll 
of prospective jurors.) 
THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, 

would you please all stand and raise your right hand 
and take an oath to be administered by the clerk. 

(The prospective jurors were 
sworn at this time.) 

THE COURT: All right. You may be seated. 
Ladies and gentlemen, the clerk will now read 

the names of 23 of you to serve in the initially in 
the box. Please see the bailiff if you hear your 
name announced. We will begin filling the back row 
at the north wall and he'll assist you in directing 
you to your seat. 
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Ms. Clerk. 
(Jury voir dire was conducted 
at this time and is not a part 
of this record. I 
THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, 

if your name was not announced, you are excused with 
the thanks of the Court and Ms. Riggs and Mr. Kadlic 
an Mr. Volpicelli. Thank you. Please see the jury 
commissioner downstairs. 

For those of you whose names were announced, 
please remain seated. 

All right. Ladies and gentlemen, would you 
all please stand and take yet another oath to serve 
as a trial juror in this case. Please raise your 
right hand. 

(The jury was sworn at this 
time. I 
THE COURT: All right. If you would be 

seated, please, I'd like to review a couple of 
matters with you before we begin the trial, and we 
will take a rest room break in just a moment for 
those of you who are interested. 

Let me review the schedule first with you. 
Today we have kind of an awkward day. The Court has 
a number of other matters that are occurring 
throughout the course of the day. So we are going to 
go through until 12:30 today, and I'll ask you to 
come back at 2:00. The reason for that is because I 
have a hearing in another case that will start at 
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1 12:30 and go until 2:00. We wiil go until 4:00 to 1 
2 4:15 today because we have another matter that has to 2 
3 be heard at that time. It is possible that the case 3 
4 may be concluded by that time and you may be in 4 
5 deliberations by then. 5 
6 If not, you' 11 have to come back tomorrow 6 
7 morning at 10 o'clock for that purpose. 7 
8 Ladies and gentlemen, objections must be made 8 
9 by attorneys if in their judgment evidence is being 9 

10 presented or questions are being asked that may not 10 
11 be legally permissible. 11 
12 As I have indicated to you, the Court is to 12 
13 rule on objections of law. No one is trying to hide 13 
14 anything from you, rather we are trying to ensure 14 
15 that in your evaluation of the case you consider only 15 
16 legally admitted evidence. Therefore, if I sustain 16 
17 an objection, you are to ignore the question that was 17 
18 asked and not speculate on what the answer may have 18 
19 been. If I strike testimony, you are to disregard 19 
20 the testimony that I have ordered stricken. 20 
21 I tend to write a lot of notes during a 21 
22 trial, both on a note pad here and on the computer. 22 
23 I am fortunate in this district to have a court 23 
24 reporter who uses a process called real time. Real 24 
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1 time is a process which everything that she is 1 
2 currently taking down immediately comes up on my 2 
3 screen, which enables me to know exactly what was 3 
4 said by a party during the course of the trial. If 4 
5 you see me making notes during the course of the 5 
6 trial, please do not place greater evidence or 6 
7 greater weight on that. I may be making a note about 7 
8 a totally unrelated matter. 8 
9 My point is nothing that I say or do should 9 

10 be influencing your decision about the weight to be 10 
11 given to someone's testimony, that's for you to 11 
12 decide. 12 
13 You may take notes during the trial yourself; 13 
14 and in fact, in a moment when we break, the bailiff 14 
15 will provide you with a note pad and pen for that 15 
16 purpose. I would urge you to consider a couple of 16 
17 things regarding notes, however. 17 
18 I think it important for you to write down 18 
19 the names of each witness who testifies and a summary 19 
20 of the testimony that you heard that you think is 20 
21 important in the case to remind yourself of what was 21 
22 said during the course of your deliberations. 22 
23 But, as I said before, it is important for 23 
24 you to watch the witnesses who testify and evaluate 24 
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their demeanor on the stand and the reasonableness of 
the things that they say so that you can make 
credibility decisions regarding those witnesses. 

The bailiff and the other court staff are 
here to make you as comfortable as possible. If 
there's anything that you need, please let me know. 
I do not permit food or soda pop in the courtroom but 
certainly you're welcome to have bottled water if you 
like or we have lots of water and cups that can be 
provided to you. 

Occasionally the lawyers and I have to take 
up matters outside of your presence. I try to limit 
this as much as possible during the course of a trial 
to maximize the utilization of your time while you're 
in the courtroom, but we apologize in advance if we 
have to take up breaks to address legal issues during 
the course of the trial. 

As you have probably observed in corning to 
the courthouse today, all of us use the same common 
elevators and hallways and the like, and for that 
reason it's not uncommon for you to encounter or come 
in contact with the lawyers or perhaps even 
Mr. Volpicelli during the course of the trial. 

I can assure you that the lawyers in this 

PAGE 24 
case are very courteous people, very friendly people. 
However, if they reviews to acknowledge your presence 
and do not speak to you, it's not because they are 
rude, it's because they are fulfill their obligations 
to have no contact with a person who is a juror 
during a pending trial. 

In that regard, one of the things the bailiff 
will provide to you is a sticker, a blue and white 
sticker which I request that you wear at all times on 
your clothing while you're in the courthouse. 

This was something that was initiated by 
Judge Torvinen many years ago, and it was intended to 
identify jurors who are serving to other people in 
the courthouse. 

As you might imagine, the courthouse is 
always abuzz with lots of conversation and 
discussions about pending trials and the like, and 
we're trying to limit discussions in your presence by 
people about trials that are taking place. So 
identifying you as a juror is important. 

Ladies and gentlemen, no juror may declare to 
a fellow juror any fact relating to the case of your 
own knowledge. If a juror discovers during the trial 
or after the jury has retired for deliberation that 
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you or some other juror has personal knowledge of a 
fact in controversy in the case, you will disclose 
that situation to me outside the presence of the 
other jurors and not discuss it with your fellow 
jurors. What I mean by this admonition is this: 

It is not uncommon for you to see a witness 
who you now recognize or hear testimony that you now 
believe may cause you to have some personal knowledge 
about the case or hear an address or some other fact 
that gives you some personal knowledge. 

If you have that, please don't discuss it 
with your fellow jurors, just let the bailiff know 
and he will tell me. 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 

When we return to the courtroom we will begin 14 
the trial with opening statements. You will hear 15 
from the jury instructions that nothing that a lawyer 16 
says during the course of the trial is evidence in 17 
the case. Opening statements are intended by the 18 
lawyers to provide you with an outline or an 19 
explanation of what they think the evidence might be. 20 

In a criminal trial, the defense is permitted 21 
to give an opening statement following the State's or 22 
can waive their opening statement or not give one at 23 
all. I'm not sure what Mr. Kadlic will do in this 24 

PAGE 26 
trial, but I want you to know that procedurally he 1 
has the right to defer his opening statement or waive 2 
it altogether. So don't be disconcerted or place any 3 
emphasis on the fact that he may choose to waive his 4 
opening statement. 5 

When we return to the courtroom, please sit 6 
in the same position that you are, although, Ms. 7 
Bowman, you'll be sitting where Ms. Duemke is, to 8 
help in letting you see the witnesses a little 9 
easier, and then you'll just move and crunch up a 10 
little closer and fill all of the juror chairs that 11 
are sitting in the box up there and we'll be taking 12 
these chairs and moving them into the jury room. 13 

Ladies and gentlemen, it is important, in 14 
fact it is imperative that your decision rest only on 15 
what you see and hear during the trial; that is on 16 
legally admissible evidence. If your decision is 17 
tainted by conversations you have with others, by 18 
information you read or by investigations you conduct 19 
outside of the courtroom, it would be improper. 20 

Therefore, you are admonished that you are 21 
not to discuss this case among yourselves or with 22 
anyone else until it is finally given to you for a 2J 
decision at the end of the trial. 24 
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You're not to discuss this case with anyone 
outside of the courtroom, and this includes spouses, 
family, and friends. You may tell them only that you 
have been selected to serve on a jury. 

You are not to form any conclusions 
concerning the case until it is finally submitted to 
you for a decision; and you may not do any 
investigation of the facts of the case. 

In the Information you heard two addresses or 
locations mentioned. You may not go by those 
addresses during the course of this trial. 

And you are not to read or listen to any news 
media accounts about the days should there be any. 

Finally, if anyone approaches you to discuss 
this case, I ask that you immediately notify the 
bailiff who will notify me. 

We'll be in recess, counsel, until 10:30, at 
which time we will return and begin with opening 
statements. 

(Recess taken.) 
THE COURT: Please be seated. Do counsel 

stipulate to the presence of the jury' 
MS. RIGGS: The State will stipulate, Your 

Honor. 

PAGE 28 
MR. KADLIC: Yes, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: All right. Ms. Riggs, you may 

begin with the State's opening statement. 
(The State's opening statement was 
had at this time and is not a part 
of this record.} 
THE COURT: All right, Ms. Riggs. 
Mr. Kadlic, do you wish to make an opening 

statement? 
MR. KADLIC: Not at this time, Your Honor. I 

want to see what the State can show. 
THE COURT: All right, then, your first 

witness, Ms. Riggs. 
MS. RIGGS: State will call Washoe County 

Sheriff's Officer Adam Wygnanski. 
THE COURT: Okay. 

ADAM WYGNANSKI, 
called as a witness on behalf of the 
State, having been first duly sworn, 

was examined and testified as follows: 
>»»> 
»>>» 
>>>>» 
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1 DIRECT EXAMINATION 
2 
3 BY MS. RIGGS: 
4 Q. Would you state your name and spell it for 
5 the record, please. 
6 A. Yes, Adam Wygnanski, WYGNANSKI. 
7 Q. Who employs you? 
8 A. Reno Police Department. 
9 Q. Were you employed with Reno Police Department 

10 as of September 25th, 2001? 
11 A. Yes, I was. 
12 Q. What was your job title at that time? 
13 A. A detective. 
14 Q. Do you recall being on duty on September 
15 25th, 2001, at approximately 2:30 p.m.? 
16 A. Yes. 
17 Q. And at that date and time, where were you 
18 located physically? 
19 A. I was located in the parking lot of the 
20 Safeway and Shopko store on McCarran and Mae Anne. 
21 Q. Sir, is that location in Washoe County? 
22 A. Yes, it is. 
23 Q, And can you tell me what you were doing 
24 there, please? 
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1 A. We were conducting an investigation. 
2 Q. On that date and approximately that time, did 
3 a particular SUV come to your attention? 
4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. And can you describe that vehicle, please? 
6 A. Yes, it was a blue Explorer two-door vehicle 
7 that drew my attention to it in the parking lot. 
8 Q. And why was your attention drawn to that 
9 vehicle? 

10 A. Well, that day it was particularly warm, and 
11 I observed a driver without exiting the vehicle 
12 jumping over the seat into the back seat and the 
13 vehicle having a rocking motion, and I stood there 
14 and observed that vehicle and wondered why the 
15 subject or the driver did not get out of that 
16 vehicle. It was kind of suspicious to me. 
17 Q. Now, did you -- did that vehicle first come 
18 to your attention when it was parked, or did you see 
19 it as it was in motion? 
20 A. When it was parked. 
21 MS. RIGGS: May I approach for Exhibit I, 
22 Your Honor. 
23 THE COURT: Yes. Excuse me, Ms. Riggs, 
24 Ladies and gentlemen, at a pretrial hearing in this 
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matter, counsel have marked all of the exhibits in 
the case, and the Court has admitted into evidence 
Exhibits 1 through 7. 

MS. RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. 
BY MS. RIGGS: 

Q. Now, detective, I am showing you what is an 
aerial photograph. Can you describe to me what this 
photograph depicts? 

A. Would you like me to step down? 
Q. You can if you would like. In fact, I'll get 

the easel. 
And for the record, this is State's Exhibit 

1. Again, can you tell me what this depicts, please? 
A. Yes. This is Mae Anne and this is McCarran, 

this is the Shopko store and this is the Safeway 
store. 

Q. And you said that your attention was first 
drawn to the vehicle after he had parked, correct? 

A. That is correct. 
Q. Can you, with a D, please mark where you saw 

the vehicle parked. 
A. I will not be able to tell you exactly what 

space the vehicle was in, but I can tell you that for 
sure the vehicle was in line with the entrance into 
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1 the Safeway store, so I would probably venture to say 
2 that vehicle was right here. 
3 Q. Okay. And, detective, will you also mark 
4 where your position was where you were observing the 
5 vehicle from with a red pen. 
6 A. I was right -- like I said, it may not be the 
7 exact parking spot, but I was within that vicinity. 
8 Q. Okay. Thank you. You can have a seat. 
9 Was your view of the defendant's vehicle or 

10 the blue Ford Explorer unobstructed at this time? 
11 A. Yes, it was. 
12 MR. KADLIC: Can we remove the easel so I can 
13 see the witness. 
14 THE COURT: Are you through with the --
15 MS. RIGGS: Actually, I'm not, Your Honor. 
16 May I move it over? 
17 THE COURT: Sure. Of course. 
18 Mr. Volpicelli, can you see the witness? 
19 THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Thank you. 
20 THE COURT: Okay. 
21 BY MS. RIGGS: 
22 Q. Now, detective, you had mentioned that you 
23 thought it was in line with the front doors, the Ford 
24 Explorer? 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

A. Yes. 1 A. That's correct. 
Q. Based on what you saw from that parking 2 Q. Were you able to see what else, if anything, 

was going on inside the vehicle? space, would someone in that blue vehicle be able to 3 
see the front doors of the Safeway? 4 A. No, other than observe the movement from one 

subject, the driver, who was in the back seat. A. Yes. 5 
MR. KADLIC: Objection, Your Honor, that's 6 Q. What did you do at that point, sir? 

speculation. He can't say that because he's not in 7 A. I notified my supervisor of what was going on 
and the supervisor assigned Detective Allen to do a 
walk by the vehicle. 

the vehicle. 8 
THE COURT: Sustained. That answer is 9 

stricken. 10 MS. RIGGS: Thank you. No further questions. 
THE COURT: All right. Any 

cross-examination, Mr. Kadlic? 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

BY MS. RIGGS: 11 
Q. Detective, could you see the front door from 12 

where you were? 13 MR. KADLIC: Yes, Your Honor. 

A. Yes. 14 
Q. Did you observe any kind of tint on the 15 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

windows of the Ford Explorer? 16 
A. Yes. 17 BY MR. KADLIC: 
Q. Dark tint, light tint? 18 Q. What time of the day was this? 

A. It was approximately 2:00, 2:30 in the 
afternoon. 

A. It was a light tint. I could see movement in 19 
the vehicle. 20 

Q. So can you estimate approximately how far 
away you were from the vehicle? 

A. I would say 50 yards, approximately. 
Q. And from that position you could see the 
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1 defendant moving inside the vehicle? 
2 A. Yes. 
3 Q. Based on this diagram and your being at the 
4 scene, was your position approximately equal distance 
5 or the same distance from the -- to the Ford Explorer 
6 as the front door was to the Ford Explorer? 
7 A. I may have been just a little bit further. 
8 Q. So if you could see into the Ford Explorer, 
9 you are just a little bit further away than the front 

10 from the front door, is it fair to assume that 
11 someone from the front door could see into the Ford 
12 Explorer as well? 
13 MR. KADLIC: Objection, Your Honor, again, 
14 that's speculation. 
15 THE COURT: Sustained. 
16 BY MS. RIGGS: 
17 Q. Detective, did anyone ever get out of the 
18 Ford Explorer, that you recall? 
19 A. When I observed the vehicle? No. 
20 Q. You testified that you saw the driver move 
21 into the back seat, correct? 
22 A. That's correct. 
23 Q. You did this without ever getting out of the 
24 vehicle? 

21 
22 
23 
24 

Q. And what day of the week was this? 
A. I would not be able to tell you what day of 

the week it was. 
Q. Now, you said that the reason you were 
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1 observing this vehicle was it made some sort of 
2 rocking motion? 
J MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, objection, that's 
4 misstates what he said. 
5 THE COURT: He's asking for clarification. 
6 The witness can reject that proposal or accept it. 
7 Overruled. You can answer. 
8 THE WITNESS: The motion was from the 
9 individual, the driver getting from the driver's seat 

10 into the back seat, causing the vehicle to rock. 
11 BY MR. KADLIC: 
12 Q. Is it illegal to do that? 
13 A. I just found it a little suspicious. 
14 Q. That somebody moves from the front seat of 
15 their car to the back seat of their car was 
16 suspicious? 
17 A. And remains in that vehicle, yes. 
18 Q. Have you ever seen people move from the front 
19 seat to the back seat and fall asleep? 
20 A. No, I have not. 
21 Q. Weren't you on highway patrol once? 
22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. And you never saw anybody pull off the road, 
24 get out of the front -- get from the front seat of 
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1 the car, go to the back seat and sleep? 1 side and getting back in the seat. 
2 A. Well, normally they would exit through their 2 Q. Is that illegal? 
3 door and then they would walk out of the vehicle and 3 A. No. 
4 then into the back seat. But I never -- it's kind of 4 Q. And that's -- could you see what type of 
5 suspicious for someone to climb over the seat into 5 clothes the person was wearing? 
6 the back seat. 6 A. I observed light shirt and I couldn't be for 

7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
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10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Q. Has the police department ever done a study 7 
showing that the customary way to get out from the 8 
front to the back is to walk around, exit one door 9 
and enter the other door rather than going from the 10 
front to the back? 11 

A. Not to my knowledge, no. 12 
Q. So you have no way of knowing that that's any 13 

more suspicious then getting out and walking from one 14 
side back to the other, correct, those, no studies 15 
that correlate that? 16 

A. It was suspicious to me, yes, sir. 17 
Q. But you have no studies to show that that is 18 

unusual conduct from people, correct? 19 
A. I thought it to be unusual. 20 
Q. You. But you have no studies that back that 21 

up. Just your -- 22 
A. Just my personal experience as an officer. 23 
Q. Just a guess? 24 
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A. A suspicion, hunch. 1 
Q. So that's the total of the rocking motion is 2 

this moving from the front to the back, which you J 
have already agreed is not i !legal? 4 

A. That's correct. 5 
Q. Just you didn't like the way it was done? 6 
A. It drew suspicion to me, yes, sir. 7 
Q. Now, did you ever notice for example whether 8 

or not the vehicle had any kind of petition? 9 
A. No, I did not. 10 
Q. Could you tell me how far the vehicle was 11 

parked from the front door again, if you know of your 12 
own personal knowledge? 13 

A. I would say approximately JO to 40 yards from 14 
the front door, maybe more. 15 

Q. Okay. So a substantial distance? Half a 16 
football field? 17 

A. Yeah. 
Q. Okay. Now, you said you could see movement 

in the back. What kind of movement could you 

18 
19 
20 

observe? 21 
A. I observed from this point obviously the back 22 

seat was to the back of the individual, and I 23 
observed movement, the head movement from side to 24 

sure on the slacks. 
Q. Well, you said you could only see basically 

from the neck up, so you could see the top of the 
shirt? 

A. When the individual moved from the front seat 
to the back seat, I observed that he had a light­
colored shirt on. 

Q. Was it short sleeved or long sleeved? 
A. I would not be able to tell you that. 
Q. Could you tell what the color was? 
A. Light-colored. 
Q. Well, that could be anywhere from white to 

pink to yellow to light blue, light green. Any 
particular color? 

A. I couldn't tell you exactly what color. I 
know it was a light color. 

PAGE 

Q. How about the pants? 
A. I do not know the pants. 

40 

Q. 
A. 
Q, 

A. 

But he was wearing pants? 
He could have been wearing shorts. 
So you're not even sure? 
Right. 

Q. And at that point, you observed nothing else; 
is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 
Q. And at least to this point nothing illegal 

has happened; is that correct? 
A. That's correct. 

MR. KADLIC: I have no additional questions 
of this witness, Your Honor. Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. Any redirect, 
Ms. Riggs? 

MS. RIGGS: Yes, Your Honor. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RIGGS: 
Q. Detective, do you recall how warm it was that 

day? 
A. It was fairly warm for a September day. I 

believe it was pretty close to 85 degrees, maybe even 
a little warmer. 
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1 Q. And yet this defendant or the person that you 1 MS. RIGGS: Objection, relevance. 
2 saw in the car never got out? 2 THE COURT: Sustained. 
J A. No. And that kind of concerned me with it J BY MR. KADLIC: 
4 being that hot and the windows rolled up. So like I 4 Q, So to you it's unusual, but it does happen? 
5 said, I drew a little suspicion to it, 5 A. Yes, sir. 
6 Q. Any indication to you that the person inside 6 MR. KADLIC: No additional questions, Your 
7 the van was going to be going to sleep at all? 7 Honor, thank you. 
8 A. No. 8 THE COURT: All right. Anything further, 
9 Q. Would you find it unusual for somebody to be 9 Ms. Riggs? 

10 sleeping in a van in 90 degree weather? 10 MS. RIGGS: Nothing further, Your Honor. 
11 A. I would. 11 THE COURT: All right. Officer, you may step 
12 Q. And, detective, you just testified that that 12 down. 
13 van was approximately JO to 40 yards away from the 13 Your next witness? 
14 front doors, correct? 14 MS. RIGGS: State will call Patricia Allen, 
15 A. That's correct. 15 Your Honor. 
16 Q, Not quite a half football field, is it? 16 THE COURT: Okay, 
17 A. No, it's not. 17 
18 Q. More like a third of a football field? 18 PATRICIA ALLEN, 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

1 
2 
J 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

A, Yes. 
Q. And --

MS. RIGGS: I'll strike that, Your Honor. 
State has nothing further, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Kadlic? 
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RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KADLIC: 

19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

1 
2 
J 

Q. So it's unusual for people to sleep in their 4 
vehicles? 5 

A. Well, it was unusual for me to have somebody 6 
climb into the back seat when it was hot outside and 7 
the windows rolled up and not exiting the vehicle, so 8 
I found that to be a little suspicious. 9 

Q. But do people sleep in the back of their 10 
vehicles? 11 

A. There's been times when they have. 12 
Q, You've noticed that when you're a highway 13 

patrol officer, you have seen people pull off the 14 
side of the road, isn't that one of the things they 15 
encourage drunk drivers to pull off the side of the 16 
road and sleep it off? 17 

A. But it's kind of unusual for them to do it in 18 
the middle of a parking lot at 2:30 in the afternoon. 19 

Q. But have you ever seen other people do it? 20 
A. I have seen them do it in night in rest 21 

areas. 
Q. Have you ever seen people do it with their 

children? 

22 
23 
24 

>>>>>> 
>»»> 
»>>>> 
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called as a witness on behalf of the 
State, having been first duly sworn, 
was examined and testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RIGGS: 
Q. Would you state your name and spell it for 

the record, please. 
A, Patricia Allen, ALLEN. 
Q. And who employs you? 
A. The City of Reno. 
Q. And what is your position with -- what agency 

of the City of Reno employs you? 
A. The Reno Police Department, 
Q. And were you employed with the Reno Police 

Department on September 25th, 2001? 
A. Yes, I was. 
Q. What was your job title at that time? 
A, I'm a detective. 
Q, And were you a detective at that time as 

well? 
A. Yes, I was. 
Q. Do you recall, Detective Allen, being on duty 

on September 25th, 2001, or approximately 2:30 p.m.? 
A. Yes, I was. 
Q. Where were you located on that date and time? 
A. At the Shopko and Safeway stores up on North 
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1 McCarran and Mae Anne. 1 recognize what this photograph depicts, correct? 
2 Q. What were you doing there? 2 A. Yes, I do. 
3 A. An investigation. 3 Q. And it does depict the parking lot we're 
4 Q. Now, detective, can you tell me what the 4 talking about today? 
5 crowd situation was in that parking lot on that day? 5 A. Yes, it does. This is one of the entrance 
6 For instance, were there a lot of cars parked there, 6 here. 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
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19 
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not very many cars, do you recall? 7 
A. At 2:30 in the afternoon it was a relatively 8 

busy parking lot, lot of cars, lot of -- is this 9 
thing echoing or is it just me? 10 

THE COURT: It's echoing. 11 
THE WITNESS: Anyway, there was several cars, 12 

there were people coming and going, shopping. 13 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, if I may pull the 14 

microphone back a little more. 
BY MS. RIGGS: 

Q. At that time did you see anyone walking 
around the parking lot? 

A. Yes, I did. 
Q. And can you describe those people or that 

person, please. 
A. There were several people, primarily women, 

some with children, just going about their daily 
business, shopping. You're in a shopping mall, 
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15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

parking area. 1 
Q. Do you recall what the weather conditions 2 

were like on that day? 3 
A. It was warm, very warm. 4 
Q. Detective, at about that time on that date, 5 

did you receive direction to go anyplace in 6 
particular? 7 

A. Yes, I did. 8 
Q. And how did you receive this information? 9 
A. Via radio, hand-held radios. 10 
Q. Where did you go? 11 
A. Well, specifically in the parking lot 12 

primarily in front of the Safeway market, midway in 13 
the parking lot. 14 

Q. Now, I'm directing your attention to the 15 
State's Exhibit 1, which has already been marked and 16 
admitted. 17 

Detective, would you mind stepping off the 18 
stand and showing me approximately where you went? 19 

A. All right. Mae Anne, McCarran. This would 20 
be the Shopko store, and this would be the Safeway 21 
store. And I was directed to walk about in this area 22 
in here. 23 

Q. And again, for the record, detective, you 24 

Q. Explain to the jury how you got to this area 
in particular? 

A. Well, my vehicle was actually parked up here. 
I was picked up by --

THE COURT: Excuse me, officer. Can the 
jurors, particularly Ms. Huffer see -- apparently 
neither can Ms. Jonkey. Can you move that a little 
closer to the jury. There you go. All right. Go 
ahead, officer. 

THE WITNESS: Thank you. This is the Shopko 
department store and this is the Safeway market. I 
had arrived at that area in my own vehicle and parked 
up here. 

One of my partners had picked me up and drove 
me over to here, at which time he dropped -- anyway, 
I was dropped off and walked in on foot right up in 
here. And just right kind of walked down through 
here. 
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BY MS. RIGGS: 
Q. Did you have any destination in particular? 
A. Yes. I was instructed to take a look at a 

vehicle that had already parked in the parking lot. 
Q. Do you recall what kind of vehicle it was? 
A. Yes, it was a beautiful blue-colored Ford 

Explorer. 
Q. Now, detective, I'm now handing you a red 

marker pen. Could you please mark on the exhibit -­
I guess you can start with an X at the point that you 
were.dropped off. And I assume you approached the 
vehicle on foot? 

A. Uh-huh. Yes. 
Q. Could you show the jury the path that you 

took past the vehicle? 
A. I was dropped off approximately here and 

walked just once the vehicle was -- I knew exactly 
where the vehicle was, then just kind of walking down 
through here. I picked up a shopping cart along the 
way so I didn't look like I was walking, and I kept 
going and kept going a few more spaces past the 
vehicle, which was right in this area. I stopped and 
then turned around. 

Q. Detective, you can get back on the stand. 
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1 Thank you. 

• 
2 MR. KADLIC: Could we again have the easel 
3 moved, Your Honor, so I can keep an eye on the 
4 officer. 
5 BY MS. RIGGS: 
6 Q. Now, detective when you walked past the 
7 vehicle, did you look inside the vehicle? 
8 A. Yes, I did. 
9 Q. Did you see anything in the vehicle? 

10 A. Yes, yes, I did. 
11 Q. What did you see inside the vehicle? 
12 A. I saw the defendant in the back seat of the 
13 vehicle. 
14 Q. Did you make eye contact with --
15 A. Yes, we did. 
16 Q. Did you form an impression as to whether he 
17 had seen you? 
18 A. I believe he had seen me. 
19 MR. KADLIC: Objection, it's speculation, 
20 Your Honor. I object on the basis of speculation. 
21 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, this is her personal 
22 observation. 
23 TEE COURT: Overruled. 
24 BY MS. RIGGS: 

PAGE 50 
1 Q. What makes you say that? What makes you say 
2 that the person in the Explorer saw you? 
3 A. We were looking at each other, and as close 
4 as you and I are right now, if not -- maybe even a 
5 little bit closer. 
6 Q. Was there anything that was obstructing your 
7 view of the person in the Explorer? 
8 A. No. 
9 Q. Where was the person in the Explorer located? 

10 A. He was sitting in the -- I'm assuming he was 
11 sitting --
12 MR. KADLIC: Objection. If she's assuming 
13 anything, I object. You can't assume anything. 
14 THE COURT: All right. Sustained. 
15 THE WITNESS: He was in the vehicle in the 
16 passenger's side back compartment, directly behind 
17 the front passenger seat. 
18 BY MS. RIGGS: 
19 Q. And you could see his head, correct? 
20 A. Yes, I could. 
21 Q. Over the seat, between the seats, what was 
22 your vantage point? 
23 A. Right about at the seat. 
24 Q. Did you see -- happen to get a view of his 

• 
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1 hands at all? 
2 A. Yes. 
3 MR. KADLIC: Objection. That's a leading 
4 Question, Your Honor. 
5 THE COURT: Sustained. 
6 BY MS. RIGGS: 
7 Q. Did you see any other part of him besides his 
8 hand? 
9 A. Yes. I saw a left hand somewhat grasping the 

10 top of the passenger -- the front passenger seat, so 
11 it would be grabbing from the back to the front. And 
12 I did not see his right hand. 
13 Q. And as you drew up on the board, you continue 
14 past the vehicle, correct? 
15 A. I walked past about three spaces, yes. 
16 Q. Then what did you do? 
17 A. Stopped, turned around and came back. 
18 Q. Did you follow the same path that you had 
19 taken away from the Explorer? 
20 A. Yes, I did. 
21 Q. So I'm now marking on the exhibit basically 
22 on the line that you drew going past the Explorer, 
23 correct? 
24 A. Uh-huh. Walked to the front of the Explorer 
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1 and then walked along the passenger side of the 
2 vehicle. 
3 Q. Now, when you went along -- and, pardon me, 
4 Your Honor, I'm marking on the Exhibit, and as you 
5 indicated I'm drawing a line next to the passenger's 
6 side of the vehicle. 
7 A. That would be the correct route. 
8 Q. When you went past the front of the vehicle, 
9 did you see the person in the vehicle anymore? 

10 A. No, I didn't. 
11 Q. And, detective, can you tell me about how 
12 long it took you to go past the Ford Explorer, turn 
13 around and come back and approach it again? 
14 A. Less than a minute. 
15 Q. And again you didn't see the person in the 
16 vehicle once you came around the front, correct? 
17 A. No, I did not. 
18 Q. You continued down the passenger's side of 
19 the vehicle? 
20 A. Yes, I did. 
21 Q. Did you happen to look inside the vehicle? 
22 A. Yes, I did. 
23 Q. Detective, which window did you look inside 
24 when you looked inside this vehicle? 
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1 A. Well, as I was approaching the venicle, I'm 1 BY MS. RIGGS: 
2 looking through all the windows, and as I came around 2 Q. -- erect? 
3 to the front of the vehicle, I was looking through 3 A. I would believe so. 
4 the windshield; and then as I turned on the right, 4 Q, Did you see it? 
5 walking along the passenger side, the front passenger 
6 window and then the back seat passenger window. 

5 A. I saw the head of his penis in his right 
6 hand. His hand was totally encased around his penis. 

7 Q. Was there anything that was obstructing your 
8 view to the inside of the vehicle? 

7 Q. Detective, is there any doubt in your mind 
8 that this person in that vehicle was masturbating? 

9 A. No. No. I could see clearly into the 9 MR. KADLIC: Objection, Your Honor, calls for 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
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23 
24 

vehicle. 10 speculation. 
Q. Was there any tint on the windows? 11 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, it's -­

THE COURT: Overruled. A. It was lightly tinted. 12 
MS. RIGGS: -- based on her observation. Q. Was that tint inhibiting your view inside the 13 

vehicle at all? 14 Thank you. 
A. Definitely not. 15 BY MS. RIGGS: 

Q. Again. Is there any doubt in your mind that 
the person in that vehicle was masturbating? 

Q, When you walked past the back passenger 16 
window, again you were looking in, correct? 17 

A. There is no doubt in my mind. His hand was 
moving up and down on his penis. 

A. Uh-huh. 18 
Q. What did you see? 19 

Q, And, again, this is less than a minute after 
you had made eye contact with him, correct? 

A. I saw the defendant laying in the back seat 20 
of the vehicle. 21 

Q. Do you remember what clothing, kinds of 
clothing he had on? 

A. Yes, I do. Tan slacks, white underwear, a 
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1 yellow polo-type shirt, light yellow polo shirt. 
2 Q, How was his clothing arranged on him? 
3 A. The polo shirt was pulled up high up on his 
4 chest. It's a short-sleeved shirt. As I said, it 
5 was hot. And it was pulled up around the top part of 
6 his chest. His pants were pulled down around his 
7 knees, along with his underwear. 
8 Q. And that is how you happened to see his 
9 underwear, correct? 

10 A. Yes. 
11 Q. What was he doing, detective? 
12 A. He was masturbating. He was laying on his 
13 left side and masturbating with his right hand. 
14 Q. Did you happen to see his penis, defendant? 
15 Or detective? 
16 A. Defendant? 
17 Q. Detective. I'm sorry. 
18 A. It was in his right hand. 
19 Q. And his penis was erect, correct? 
20 MR. KADLIC: Objection, it's a leading 
21 question. 
22 BY MS. RIGGS: 
23 Q. Was his penis --
24 THE COURT: Sustained. 

22 
23 
24 

A. That's correct. 
Q. Detective, did you happen to get a look at 

the person's face? 
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1 A. Yes, I did. 
2 Q. would you recognize him if you saw him again? 
3 A. Yes, I would. 
4 Q. Is he seated in the courtroom today? 
5 A. Yes, he is. 
6 Q, Would you please point him out to the Court 
7 and the jury and describe briefly what he's wearing? 
8 A. The defendant, he has dark hair, light blue 
9 short-sleeved shirt. 

10 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may the record 
11 reflect that the witness has identified the defendant 
12 in this case. 
13 THE COURT: The record will reflect the 
14 identification of the defendant by the witness. 
15 MS. RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. 
16 BY MS. RIGGS: 
17 Q, Detective, based on your observations of the 
18 defendant inside the vehicle, could you tell whether 
19 he saw you? 
20 A. Yes, he did. 
21 Q, What makes you say that? 
22 A. Because again, we made direct eye contact and 
23 he almost looked -- his facial expression changed 
24 immediately to one of surprise, such as you know, 

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT 

V3. 412

V3. 412



1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

• 
SHEET 15 PAGE 57 

ahha, and he started like he was trying to get up. 1 
Q. What did you do at this point? 2 
A. I just continued walking. I wasn't -- I had 3 

partners in the area, so I knew I was okay, I just 4 
continued walking past the vehicle and then turned to 5 
the left up towards the store and my partner picked 6 
me up again. 7 

Q. Did you see the Ford Explorer move at all? 8 
A. Yes, it did, rather quickly. They left -- 9 

again, within about a minute he had crawled back into 10 
the front seat and drove it away. 11 

Q. And, detective, did you observe anyone else 12 
in this vehicle? 13 

A. No. There was no one else in the vehicle, 14 
and no one else got into the vehicle when it left. 15 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may I approach for an 16 
exhibit? 17 

THE COURT: Yes. 18 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 19 
May I approach the witness, Your Honor? 20 
THE COURT: Yes. 21 

BY MS. RIGGS: 22 
Q. Detective, I'm showing you what's been 23 

previously marked and admitted as State"s Exhibit 2. 24 
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Q. In those photographs, detective, is the 
interior compartment of the vehicle observable from 
the windshield and from the side windows? 

A. Most definitely. And one thing, these -­
this vehicle in the photograph is inside a building. 
My original observation was outside where it was much 
brighter and much more visible than this. 

Q. So you're saying that you could see even more 
clearly into the vehicle than what is depicted in 
those photographs? 

A. Most definitely. It's the same thing as 
looking at your car in the garage or looking at in it 
your driveway. Same thing. 

Q. Thank you. 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may I show the 

photographs to the jury? 
THE COURT: All right. 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 

BY MS. RIGGS: 
Q. Now, detective, one final question. Did you 

observe the vehicle before it went into the parking 
space? 

A. Yes, I did. 
Q. And can you describe to me what that vehicle 
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1 Can you tell me what is depicted in that photograph? 1 was doing before it went into the parking space? 
2 A. This is the Ford Explorer and this photo was 2 A. Just driving around the parking lot. Didn't 
3 taken up at the -- 3 appear to -- it was just driving around the parking 
4 Q. That's fine. You've answered the question, 4 lot. It had passed several other parking spaces that 
5 detective. 5 were available and I guess decided on that one. 
6 A. This is the Ford Explorer. 6 MS. RIGGS: Thank you. The State has nothing 
7 Q. Now I'm showing you what's been marked as 7 further, Your Honor. 
8 State's Exhibit 3 and also admitted. 8 THE COURT: Okay. 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Can you tell me what's depicted in that 9 
photograph? 10 

A. Again, it"s the Ford Explorer and this is the 11 
passenger side of the vehicle. 12 

Q. Now, detective, do these two photographs 13 
fairly and accurately depicted the Ford Explorer in 14 
approximately the same condition that you saw it in 15 
on December 25th, 2001? 16 

A. Yes, it does. 17 
Q. I'll ask you to observe the windows in those 18 

photographs, detective. What do you observe about 19 
the tint on the window -- level of tint on the 20 
windows in those photographs? 21 

A. It"s lightly tinted on the windshield and 22 
passenger windows and darker tinted in the cargo area 23 
of the vehicle. 24 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KADLIC: 
Q. Officer, why don't you come down again and 

help me out. 
A. Sure. 
Q. Okay. Would you show the jury how the 

vehicle was parked? 
A. You guys can see it okay? Okay. 

The nose of the vehicle is just as it is 
depicted here. The nose is facing out into the 
travel area of the parking lot, so the rear of the 
vehicle is right here, where another vehicle could 
park in there. 

Q. Now, show me your path again. Why don't you 
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just -- I just want to be sure. The front is here? 
A. Uh-huh. 
Q. The rear is there? 

1 
2 
3 

• 
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A. Well, there was the seat of the vehicle, 1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

A. Yes, sir. 4 

which covered the body, and there was a -- some sort 
of partition thing that went from about, oh, probably 
the left side of the front passenger seat to perhaps 
the right side of the driver's seat. Q. So the rear is to the north, the front is to 5 

the south? 6 Q. Let's try this. Could you show the jury 
where this partition was on -- this is, for the 
record, Exhibit 2. 

A. Right. The vehicle is parked in a southeast, 7 
this being north, so the vehicle is southeast, facing 8 

A. This right here would be the driver's side, 
the -- if you're sitting on the driver's seat, this 
is the right side of the driver's seat, this is the 
left side of the passenger's seat, so there would be, 
I don't even know what the heck it was, a cloth. So 
between the two captain seats in the front, there was 
some sort of divider, but not -- I mean it didn't 
cover all the way from one side to the other. 

southeast. And I walked from here. I'd say about 9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

three spaces and turned left. 10 
Q. Okay. Were there any other cars parked east 11 

of the vehicle? 12 
A. Further this way, no. Nothing over here. 13 
Q. Were there any other cars parked west of the 14 

vehicle? 15 
A. There was one vehicle parked next to it. 16 
Q. Okay. How far away was it parked from that 17 Q. But it did cover up part so you couldn't see 

vehicle? 18 into the back seat. 
A. Well, parking space to parking space, I mean, 19 A. The center part. 

Q, So you couldn't see into the back seat? they were both legally parked. Just like at your 20 
A. No, you could only see the seat in here and 

the seat in here but not the center piece. 
grocery store if you were to park next to someone, 21 
about that space. 22 

Q, Do you recall what kind of vehicle that was? 23 
A. You know what, I really don't recall what 24 

Q, Did all the jurors have a chance? Okay. 
Thank you. You can resume your seat then. Thank 

PAGE 62 PAGE 64 

1 kinds of vehicle it was. I just know that it was 1 you. 
2 there because I had to go between the two to pass on 2 A. Okay. 
3 the passenger's side. 3 Q. So there was a partition object securing the 
4 Q. So in order for you to get -- where on the 4 back for you to see into, correct? 
5 passenger's side did you look in the window? 5 A. Well, that part, the center part, yes, sir. 
6 A. Well, I could see into the vehicle anywhere 6 Q. So all could you see was basically his head 
7 from here, and that's where I was looking. 7 and shoulders? 
8 Q, Well, let's start again. When you first went 8 A. And his hand. 
9 by, you had to look through the front window? 9 Q. And you said you were pushing a shopping 

10 A. Right. 10 cart. Do you remember where the shopping cart bay 
11 Q. How close were you to the vehicle when you 11 was where you put the shopping cart? 
12 walked by the front vehicle? 12 A. Oh, I just dumped it. 
13 A. Oh, gosh, the nose of the vehicle was there, 13 Q. Isn't it customary for most people when they 
14 I was right here, just walking past and looked and 14 are walking, they walk back to their car, they don't 
15 continued going. 15 turn around and come back; isn't that correct? 
16 Q. So when you looked, what could you observe? 16 A. That's true. 
17 A. Well, I observed Mr. Volpicelli in the back 17 Q. So if you came back it would surprise 
18 passenger's seat. 18 Mr. Volpicelli, since he made eye contact with you 
19 Q. How much did you observe of Mr. Volpicelli? 19 the first time generally most people aren't going to 
20 A. Well, everything that was visible. 20 come back, correct? 
21 Q. Which is what? 21 A. True. 
22 A. His hand, his upper chest to his head. 22 Q. So he genuinely would be surprised if you 
23 Q. Well, was there any obstructions for you to 23 came back? 
24 see, such as partitions? 24 A. Sure. 
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Q. Now, did you notice other people out there? 
A. Yes, there were. 
Q. Were they looking in the car windows? 
A. I don't know. There were just other people 

1 
2 
3 
4 

• 
PAGE 67 

were walking by the window and not looking in, would 
they see anything if they just looked straight 
across? 

A. Oh, wouldn't think so. 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

8 
9 

out there. 5 Q. So, in other words, they wouldn't see into 
the car if you're just walking by the car like this 
and just turn, you're not going to see anything? 

Q. Just walking? 6 
A. Yeah. 7 
Q. Did anyone ever complain to you? 8 A. Not if you were getting into the vehicle next 

to you. A. I was there for a very short time. No. 9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Q. Did anyone make a complaint that you're aware 10 Q. Because Mr. Volpicelli was down on the seat? 
A. Yes. But we're not talking about a monster 

truck, we're talking about a smaller SUV with the 
windows, well, as you can see in the photograph where 
the windows are. 

of? 11 
A. Not that I'm aware of. 12 
Q. And in order to go by his passenger window, 13 

as I understand it, you would have to go -- make a 14 
turn and go by it, correct? 15 Q. That he is down in the seat. 

A. Yes. A. Well, sure. 16 
Q. In other words, you didn't walk straight line 17 Q. If you were looking -- well, let's pick -­

this is a good one here. Again, this is Exhibit 3. back to Shopko -- this is Safeway, I believe. You 18 
didn't walk a straight line back to Safeway? 19 If you're looking straight across this window 

here, how much of Mr. Volpicelli are you going to see 
without looking down? 

A. No, I would have taken the same path that if 20 
you were putting something in the vehicle that was 21 
parked next to him you would have had to have gone 22 
through the two cars, just like I did. 23 

A. None. 
Q. Okay. So you're not going to see anything. 

Q. Were you putting something in the vehicle 24 MR. KADLIC: Does all the jury understand 

PAGE 66 PAGE 68 

1 parked next to him? 1 what --
2 A. It was not my vehicle, no. I was just 2 BY MR. KADLIC: 
3 walking between the cars. 3 Q. So without looking in the window, you can't 
4 Q. So you had no business walking between those 4 see anything, you don't even see his head? 
5 cars? 5 A, Okay, 
6 A. Well, that's not necessarily true. 6 Q. True? 
7 Q. was the car next to it your car? 7 A. Sure. If you just look straight across. 
8 A. No, it was not. 8 Q, You don't see his body? 
9 Q. Did you have any groceries or anything to put 9 A, Pardon me? 

10 into that car? 10 Q, You don't see his body then? 
11 A. No, I did not. 11 A. Oh, no, 
12 Q. Did you have a car parked one bay over? 12 Q. And was this a bench seat or bucket seat? 
13 A. No, I did not. 13 A. In the back? 
14 Q. So you voluntarily walked by that car on the 14 Q. Yes. 
15 passenger"s side? 15 A. It was a bench seat. But it split, so they 
16 A. Yes, I did. 16 do fold. 
17 Q. With the idea of looking in the window? 17 Q. Okay. So when you observed him, how far away 
18 A. Yes, I did. 18 were you from him in far as -- in terms of feet when 
19 Q. And if you didn't look in the window, you 19 you observed him masturbating? 
20 wouldn't have seen what you saw? 20 A. Standing next to the car between the car that 
21 A. It was somewhat suspicious, and I walked by 21 was parked next to him, 
22 and specifically looked in the window, 22 Q. Which is what, how many feet in terms of 
23 Q. Okay, Now, when you were in this -- let me 23 feet? 
24 borrow the exhibits again -- vehicle, if a person 24 A. Oh, gosh, I don't know what the average 
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1 parking space is. I couldn't tell you. 1 
2 As if you' re grocery shopping, I have plenty 2 
3 of chips in my door jams from cars getting me, so you 3 
4 figure a car door. 4 
5 Q, Did you ever see him ejaculate? 5 
6 A, No. 6 
7 Q, You just saw him manipulating his penis? 7 
8 A. Exactly. 8 
9 Q, How many times? 9 

10 A. I walked slowly by. I don't know, 10 
11 Q, Didn't count? 11 

12 A. No. 12 
13 MR. KADLIC: If I may I have a moment, Your 13 
14 Honor. 14 
15 THE COURT: Yes. 15 
16 BY MR. KADLIC: 16 
17 Q, llere these high bucket seats? 17 
18 A, In the front? 18 
19 Q. Yes. 19 
20 A. They were probably stock. They didn't look 20 
21 like anything special. They are not high. I have 21 
22 high bucket seats in my truck, and these aren't high. 22 
23 Q. So if I may, are these the high bucket seats? 23 
24 A. Well, those are bucket seats, yes. 24 

• 
PAGE 71 

For instance, the right side of the driver's side arm 
rest, perhaps, to the left side of the passenger's 
seat arm rest. So it's the center console area. 

Q, At any time did this partition or stepping 
back, could you tell what kind of material this 
partition was made out of? 

A. No, I really couldn't. 
Q, At any time, did this partition block your 

view of the defendant? 
A. No. 
Q. Did the bucket seats block your view of the 

defendant at any time? 
A. Only as I was walking by originally when I 

could see his head and we made eye contact and his 
hand was on it, so from window view up to here, where 
his neck and that parted is the only part blocked, 

Q. So when you observed him masturbating, your 
view was unobstructed; is that a fair assessment? 

A. Yes, 
Q. The defense counsel asked you if other people 

were looking into the cars and you testified that 
they were not, correct? 

A. From what I observed, they were not. 
Q, Could someone walking by have seen the 

PAGE 72 PAGE 70 
1 Q. So in -- 1 defendant masturbating if they had been there instead 
2 A. They're not like captain's chairs where the 2 of you? 
3 bucket comes up here on the top of your head. 3 MR. KADLIC: Objection, Your Honor, 
4 Q, Well, they have a high head rest, isn't that 
5 true? 

4 speculation. 
5 MS, RIGGS: Your Honor, this is lay opinion. 

6 A. Okay, 6 THE COURT: Objection is sustained. 
7 Q, For the juror's benefit, I'm referring to 7 BY MS. RIGGS: 
8 Exhibit 2, I'll point it out to you, 8 Q, You said that you saw another adult in the 
9 MR. KADLIC: One more moment, Your Honor, 9 parking lot. Correct? 

10 THE COURT: Okay, 10 A. Uh-huh. 
11 MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, I do not think I 11 Q. Do you recall approximately how tall she was? 
12 have any additional questions of this witness, Your 12 A. Well, I'm 5-7, And I think I'm average 
13 Honor. Thank you. 13 height. So I'm going to say the other women and 
14 THE COURT: Okay, Ms, Riggs? 14 other people --
15 MS. RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. 15 Q. I don't want you to guess, detective, I just 
16 16 want you --
17 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 17 A. Average. 
18 18 Q. From what you observed, did other people 
19 BY MS. RIGGS: 19 you're saying they seemed like they were average 
20 Q. Detective, you described a partition that 20 height? 
21 appeared to block the view of the back seat between 21 A. Yes, I didn't see anybody who was toweringly 
22 the driver's side window and part of the back seat. 22 tall or extremely small. 
23 Is that a fair assessment of what you testified to? 23 Q. Did you see any full-grown children, I'll say 
24 A. No, that's not fair, It blocked the center, 24 in their preteen years? 
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1 A. You know, I don't know. 1 A. Very much so. 
2 Q, Did you see any children at all? 2 Q. Now, earlier, detective, you testified that 
3 A. Yes, there were children. 3 you kept walking after you saw the defendant 
4 Q. Could you describe to me, detective, based on 4 masturbating, correct? 
5 your observation, how high the bottom of the 5 A. (Nods head.) 
6 passenger side window was on this Explorer from the 6 Q. You also indicated that you had no concern 
7 ground? 7 for your safety because you had people who were 
8 A. Well, again, I'm not very good with distance 8 watching you. Do you recall that testimony? 
9 and heights, but I'm going to say that the passenger 9 A. That's correct. 

10 window was probably right about here on me. 10 Q. Detective, can you tell me, would you have 
11 Q. And so you're indicating -- 11 had concern for your safety if you didn't have people 
12 MR. KADLIC: I'm going to -- 12 watching you at that time? 
13 MS. RIGGS: For the record, she's indicating 13 MR. KADLIC: Objection, Your Honor, that's 

14 rib height. 14 speculation. 
15 MR. KADLIC: That's kind of speculation. If 15 THE COURT: Sustained. 

16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

she's not sure, that's speculation. 
THE COURT: She can testify where she 

believes the window was on her, the height in 
comparison to her body. Go ahead. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 
BY MS. RIGGS: 

16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

Q. And for the record, you were indicating 22 
approximately bottom of the rib height? 23 

A. The bottom of the window would be right about 24 

PAGE 74 
1 here and the top of it right about here. So as I 1 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

said, it's not a monster truck, it's your typical 2 
stock Ford Explorer, 3 

Q. And again there's no -- Your Honor, I'll 4 
withdraw that. It's been answered. 5 

Detective, this is a public parking lot, 6 
correct? 7 

A. Yes, it is. 8 
Q. The public has a right to walk on this 9 

parking lot, correct? 10 
A. Yes, they do. 11 
Q. Were you anywhere that you weren't supposed 12 

to be on this parking lot? 13 
A. No, I was in a public parking lot at the 14 

shopping center. 15 
Q. And, in fact, detective, you are a police 16 

officer, correct? 17 
A. Yes, I am. 18 
Q. And the defense counsel asked you if you had 19 

any business looking into this vehicle. Do you 20 
recall that question? 21 

A. Yes, I do. 
Q. Detective, isn't it your job to look at 

suspicious activity where you detect it? 

22 
23 
24 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State has nothing 
further. 

THE COURT: Okay. Any further 
cross-examination? 

MR. KADLIC: Just one question. 
THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 
MR. KADLIC: Proverbial one question, and 

I'll ask five more. 
>»>> 

PAGE 76 
RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KADLIC: 
Q. Is someone who gets in the back seat of their 

car from the front seat of their car suspicious? 
A. I think so. 
Q. So any time -- I guess all of us the next 

time we get into our car instead of going around we 
go from our front seat to our back seat are going to 
be suspected by the police of some criminal conduct 
because it's suspicious? 

MS. RIGGS: Objection, Your Honor, that's 
speculation. 

THE COURT: That's sustained. 
MR. KADLIC: No additional questions, Your 

Honor. I've made my point. 
MS. RIGGS: One last question, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. RIGGS: 
Q. Detective, you testified this was a hot day, 

correct? 
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1 
2 
] 

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

A. Yes, it was. 1 REED THOMAS, 
Q. The fact that the person in the vehicle 2 called as a witness on behalf of the 

State, having been first duly sworn, 
was examined and testified as follows: 

stayed in their vehicle on a hot day, was that 3 
suspicious to you? 4 

A. It was suspicious in nature because the 5 
engine was not running, he did not exit the vehicle 6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 
and enter the vehicle, he just got into the back seat 7 
and put up a partition. 8 BY MS. RIGGS: 

MS. RIGGS: Thank you. Nothing further. 9 Q. Detective Thomas, would you please state your 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 
10 
11 
12 

name and spell your last name for the record? 
A. Detective Reed Thomas, THOMAS. 
Q. Who employs you? 

11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

BY MR. KADLIC: 13 A. Reno Police Department. 
Q. Well, could that also mean that he possibly 14 Q. Were you employed with Reno Police Department 

on September 27th, 2001? wanted to go to sleep in the back seat and wanted to 15 
obscure the sunlight? 16 

A. I would think he would have driven to a shady 17 
A. Yes, I was. 
Q. Can you tell me what your job title was at 

that time? area to have done that. 18 
Q. Well, does everybody -- well, is anybody 19 A. I was a detective. 

react to the weather the same' 20 Q. Do you recall being on duty on September 
27th, 2001, at approximately 9:30 a.m.? MS. RIGGS: Objection. Speculation. 21 

THE COURT: We are getting a bit far afield, 22 A. Yes. 
Q. Sir, can you tell me where you were located 

on that date and time? 
but certainly these are issues the jury can decide. 23 
BY MR. KADLIC: 24 

PAGE 78 
1 Q. So is it -- does everybody handle weather the 
2 same? 
3 A. I assume not. 
4 Q. Okay. So some people handle the heat a lot 
5 better than others? 
6 A. Sure. 
7 Q. Some people like living in cold climates? 
8 A. Okay. 
9 Q. So if some people might like to stay in warm 

10 cars even though it's a hot day, correct? 
11 A. Okay. 
12 Q. Fine. You've answered my questions. 
13 THE COURT: Ms. Riggs, anything further? 
14 MS. RIGGS: The State will have nothing 
15 further. 
16 THE COURT: Okay. You may step down. 
17 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 
18 THE COURT: Your next witness, Ms. Riggs. 
19 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State will call 
20 detective Reed Thomas. 
21 >»» 
22 »»> 
23 »»> 
24 »>» 

PAGE 80 
1 A. At that point I was at the northwest corner 
2 of Seventh and North McCarran, across the street from 
3 the parking lot of the Albertson's there. It's a car 
4 wash parking lot actually with a dirt lot adjacent to 
5 it. 
6 Q. And the parking lot of the Albertson's, is 
7 that in Washoe County? 
8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. What were you doing in your position, where 

10 you were? 
11 A. We were conducting an investigation. 
12 Q. Detective, do you recall whether other 
13 vehicles were parked in that Albertson's parking lot 
14 at that time of day? 
15 A. Yes, there were. 
16 Q. Did you see any other people there? 
17 A. A few. 
18 Q. And could you describe to me what kind of 
19 people you saw? 
20 A. I was at a little bit of a distance, I just 
21 saw a few people walking through the lot. Didn't 
22 really make a distinction whether they were adults or 
23 children or otherwise. 
24 Q. On that date and about that time, 9:35, 
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1 detective, did you observe a gold Mazda van going 1 remembered he was parked right about here. An X? 
2 into that parking lot? 2 Q. That's fine. Now, detective, are you aware 
l A. Yes, I did. 3 of where the doors to the store are here? 
4 Q. Did you happen to see the vehicle's license 4 A. This is the front side of the Albertson's, 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

plate? 
A. 
Q, 

plate? 
A. 
Q, 

did it 
A. 

Yes. 
5 
6 

Do you recall the state of that license 7 
8 

It was California. 9 
Now, did you observe that vehicle to park, or 10 

simply drive through the parking lot? 11 
No, I parked, 12 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may I approach for an 13 

exhibit? 14 
THE COURT: Sure. 15 
MS. RIGGS: Exhibit 4, please. 16 

BY MS. RIGGS: 17 
Q, Detective, I'm showing you what's been 18 

previously marked and admitted as State"s Exhibit 4, 19 
Can you tell me what this exhibit depicts? 20 

A. Would you like me to get down? 21 
Q. Not yet. II you can generally tell me what 22 

that depicts. 23 
A. That is the parking lot I mentioned. The 24 

PAGE 82 
Albertson's is the large building on the upper right 1 
portion of that photograph. 2 

Q. And you' re talking about this building I'm 3 
indicating the rectangular building in the top right 4 
corner of the photograph? 5 

A. That" s correct. 6 
Q, Now, Detective Thomas, ii you wouldn't mind 7 

coming down and indicating with a blue pen 8 
approximately where your position was. 9 

A. I moved a couple of times. The car wash that 10 
I mentioned is right here in the -- pretty much the 11 
line there is where the pavement starts, and this is 12 
just an empty dirt lot, so I initially started in the 13 
paved part of the parking lot and parked right in 14 
here. 15 

Q, And detective, were you on foot or in a 16 
vehicle? 17 

A. I was in a vehicle. 18 
Q. And can you tell me indicating with the black 19 

pen approximately where the gold van was parked? 20 
A. This has changed a little bit since this 21 

picture was taken. This is the Schlotzky's Deli that 22 
wasn't there at the time, so I pretty much had a 23 
direct line of site into the parking lot here. I 24 

This is a strip mall. The Hacienda is here. 
Q, Thank you. Now, were you able to see what 

was happening inside the vehicle from your position? 
A. From this distance I saw movement. I 

couldn't specifically tell what was going on inside 
the vehicle. 

Q. Did you ever see anybody get out of that 
vehicle? 

A, No, I did not. 
Q, And how long did you watch that vehicle? 
A. 20 or 25 minutes. 
Q. So ii you started observing it at 9:35 and 

watched it for 25 minutes, is it lair to say you 
watched that vehicle until approximately 10 a.m.? 

A. That's correct. 
Q. And during that time, did you just testily 

that no one ever got out of the vehicle? 
A. I didn't see anybody get out. 
Q. Did the vehicle move at any time? 
A. Yes, it did, 

PAGE 84 
Q, Where did that vehicle go, sir? 
A. Well, when the vehicle started to move, I 

started to move, had radio communication with a 
couple other officers out there, and since I was over 
here I had started to move this direction through the 
parking lot, which would be south, so I naturally 
started moving myself closer to where the vehicle was 
headed. 

Q. Did it stop anywhere inside that parking lot? 
A. I didn't see it stop. Radio traffic from 

another officer --
MR. KADLIC: Objection as to what someone 

else said. 
MS. RIGGS: That's line, 
THE COURT: Sustained, 
MS. RIGGS: That's fine. You can have a 

seat, detective. 
May I approach for an exhibit, Your Honor? 
THE COURT: Yes. 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 

BY MS. RIGGS: 
Q. Detective, I'm showing you what's been 

previously marked for identification and admitted as 
State's Exhibit 5, Can you tell me what that 
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1 depicts? 1 Q. Did a California registration card for that 
2 A. It's the same gold van we just spoke about 2 Ford Explorer come to your attention? 
3 with the California plates. 3 A. Yes, it did. 
4 Q. Is that the vehicle that you observed on 4 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may I approach the 
5 September 27th? 5 witness? 
6 A. Yes, it is. Yes. 6 THE COURT: Yes. 
7 Q. And one more question about the photograph, 7 BY MS. RIGGS: 
8 detective. Does that fairly and accurately depict 8 Q. Sir, I'm showing you what's been marked for 
9 the condition of the vehicle in which you saw it on 9 identification and admitted as State's Exhibit 6. 

10 September 27th? 10 Can you tell me what that depicts? 
11 A. Yes, it does. 11 A. This is the registration card of that Ford 
12 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may I show the 12 Explorer. 
13 photograph to the jury? 13 Q. Can you tell me who that Ford Explorer is 
14 THE COURT: Yes. 14 registered to? 
15 MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 15 A. Registered to Shannel Ann or Ferrill Joseph 
16 BY MS. RIGGS: 16 Volpicelli. 
17 Q. Detective, did you look into the vehicle"s 17 Q. Thank you. And again, detective, does this 
18 registration status at any point? 18 fairly and accurately depict the registration card as 
19 A. Yes, I did. 19 you saw it on or about September 27th, 2001? 
20 Q. How did you do that? 20 A. Yes. 
21 A. I contacted California DMV. 21 MS. RIGGS: Thank you. Your Honor, may I 
22 Q. According to California DMV, who was that 22 show this exhibit to the jury? 
23 vehicle registered at the time of the incident, to 23 THE COURT: Yes. 
24 whom? 24 BY MS. RIGGS: 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
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A. Mark and Leslie Volpicelli. 1 
Q. Detective, are you aware of -- withdraw that, 2 

Your Honor. I'll rephrase. 3 
Detective, were you at the Safeway parking 4 

lot on Mae Anne on September 25th, 2001, 5 
approximately 2: 30 in the afternoon? 6 

A. Yes, I was. 7 
Q. And did you observe a blue Ford Explorer at 8 

that time? 9 
A. Yes, I did. 10 
Q. Can you tell me if you observed the Explorer 11 

-- first of all, tell me if it parked. If the 12 
vehicle was parked? 13 

A. Yes, it was. 14 
Q. Did you have a chance to observe that vehicle 15 

before it parked? 16 
A. Yes. 17 
Q. Can you tell me what the vehicle was doing 18 

before it parked? 19 
A. Just kind of driving through the parking lot 20 

up and down the rows fairly slow. 21 
Q. Sir, did you happen to investigate the 22 

registration status of the Ford Explorer? 23 
A. Yes, I did. 24 

PAGE 88 
Q. Finally, detective, for clarification, you 

said that you saw this vehicle pull out of the 
parking place, correct? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And which direction did you see it drive? 
A. It went in a south direction, which would be 

to the right side of that photograph there. 
MS. RIGGS: Okay. Thank you. 
THE WITNESS: I just saw it briefly. Like I 

say, I was in the process of moving myself. 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. The State has nothing 

further, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Kadlic, any questions 

on cross-examination? 
MR. KADLIC: Yes. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KADLIC: 
Q. Did you see anything that was going on in 

that vehicle? 
A. Again, I just saw movement. From that 

distance, I didn't see specifically what was going on 
in that vehicle. 
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1 MR. KADLIC: I think I'll quit with that 
2 question, Your Honor. 
3 MS. RIGGS: State has nothing further, Your 
4 Honor. 
5 THE COURT: All right. You may step down. 
6 Your next witness, Ms. Riggs. 
7 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State will call 
8 Brian Phay, 
9 THE COURT: All right. 

10 
11 BRIAN PHAY 
12 Called as a witness on behalf of the 
13 State, having been first duly sworn, 
14 was examined and testified as follows: 
15 
16 DIRECT EXAMINATION 
17 
18 BY MS. RIGGS: 
19 Q. Would you please state your name and spell 
20 your last name for the record? 
21 A. Brian Louis Phay, PHAY. 
22 Q. Who employs you, sir? 
23 A. Washoe County Sheriff's Office. 
24 Q. And were I employed with Washoe County 
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1 Sheriff's Office on September 27th, 2001? 
2 A. I was. 
3 Q. Sir, what was your job title at that time? 
4 A. Detective. 
5 Q. Do you recall being on duty on September 
6 27th, 2001, approximately 9:30 a.m.? 
7 A. Yes, I do. 
8 Q. And where were you located on that date and 
9 time? 

10 A. Albertson's shopping center on West McCarran 
11 and Mae Anne. 
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10 
11 

12 
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Q. And is that in Washoe County, sir? 12 
A. Yes, it is. 13 
Q. And what were you doing there, sir? 14 
A. We were conducting an investigation. 15 
Q. On that date and approximately that time, did 16 

you observe a gold Mazda van go in the parking lot? 17 
A. Yes, I did. 18 
Q. Did the vehicle park? 19 
A. It did. 20 
Q. And where did it park, sir? 21 
A. It parked near a mailbox, et cetera. 22 
Q. Okay. If you wouldn't mind coming off the 23 

stand for a second and show me -- can you tell me 24 

• 
PAGE 91 

where your observation position was. 
A. I was right here by the Jack In The Box. 
Q. Okay. If you wouldn't mind marking on that 

exhibit with the blue. 
A. With an X. 
Q. That's fine, with an X. And with the black 

marker can you tell me where you observed that gold 
van. 

THE COURT: Detective, you might need to move 
a little bit in this direction so the jurors can see. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. I thought he was up in 
here. 
BY MS. RIGGS: 

Q. Okay. Would you mind putting an X there, 
please. 

A. 
Q. 

second, 

That's fine. 
(Witness complies.) 
Thank you. I'll ask you to stand there for a 
detective. 
Did you have full view of that van from your 

position over in this corner? 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Was it an unobstructed view? 
A. Yes. Well, for most of the time. There may 

have been a car parked in the space blocking my view 
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occasionally. 
Q. At any time did you see anybody get out of 

that vehicle? 
A. No, I did not. 
Q. So you watched him park, correct? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And you never watched anybody come out? 
A. No, I did not. 
Q, Did you ever watch the van move? 
A. You mean drive away? 
Q. Correct. 
A. No. 
Q. You never saw --
A. Well, did I see it leave, yes. 
Q. Do you recall approximately what time that 

was? 
A. 10:25, 10:30, I believe. 
Q. And during that time, you never saw anybody 

get out? 
A. No, I did not. 
Q. Where did the van go? And if you could 

use -- actually use the blue marker. The black 
marker is running out of ink. If you could draw a 
path from where you observed -- in fact, could you 
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1 put a blue X here for the jury because the other x 1 MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 
2 isn't showing up. 2 BY MS. RIGGS: 
3 A. (Witness complies. I 3 Q. What happened after the man threw something 
4 Q, Could you draw a path from where you observed 4 into the trash can? 
5 this vehicle to where you watched it. Do you 5 A. He got back in his vehicle and made a circle 
6 understand my question? 6 through the parking lot and drove back on to McCarran 
7 A. Yes. He drove out, came down, came up to 7 Boulevard. 
8 here, and then stopped right here. 8 Q. What did you do at that point? 
9 Q. And again, your location is the X, correct, 9 A. After the vehicle got on to McCarran, I 

10 right here? 10 walked over to the trash can to see what was placed 
11 A. Yes. 11 into it. 
12 Q. Can you estimate the distance between where 12 Q, What did you see when you looked into the 
13 the defendant's -- or where the vehicle stopped and 13 trash can? 
14 where you were? 14 A. When I looked in the trash can, there was a 
15 A. 20, 25 feet. 15 single white paper towel that was in the trash can 
16 Q. Okay. Okay. Thank you. You can have a 16 itself. 
17 seat. 17 Q. And would you mind describing briefly what 

18 BY MS. RIGGS: 18 kind of trash can it was? 
19 Q. What happened when the gold vehicle stopped? 
20 A. The drive got out of the vehicle and then 

19 A. Just normal trash can, it belonged to the 
20 Jack In The Box, three feet tall, four feet tall. 

21 walked over to the trash can that was parked right 21 Q. So an industrial trash can? 
22 next to the vehicle and placed something into the 
2 3 trash can. 

22 A. Yes. 
23 Q, Did the trash can have any kind of liner in 

24 Q. Did you see what it was that he put into the 24 it? 
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1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
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trash can? 1 A. It had a plastic liner in it. 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
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A. At the -- no, I could not tell what it was 2 
that he put into it. 3 

Q. Did you get a look at the man? 4 
A. Yes, I did. 5 
Q. Did you see his face? 6 
A. Yes. 7 
Q. And again, you were 25 feet away? 8 
A. Yes. 9 
Q, Would you recognize that man if you saw him 10 

again? 11 
A. I would. 12 
Q. Is he seated here in the courtroom today? 13 
A. Yes, he is. 14 
Q, Would you please point him out for the jury 15 

and describe briefly what is he is wearing? 16 
A. The gentlemen over here next to Mr. Kadlic in 17 

the blue shirt. 18 
Q. The light blue shirt? 19 
A. Light blue shirt. 20 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may the record 21 
reflect that the witness has identified the defendant 22 
in this case? 

THE COURT: Yes' 
23 
24 

Q. Was there anything else in the trash can 
besides what you observed? 

A. No, it was nothing. It looked like the liner 
was brand new in there. 

Q. And again, can you tell me exactly what it 
was that you saw when you looked into the trash can, 
what kind of item did you see in there? 

A. It was a wadded up paper towel, white, like 
household paper towel. 

Q, Sir, you did train in the collection of 
evidence? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Can you describe to me what your training is 

in the collection of evidence? 
A. I have been a CS! investigator for the 

sheriff's office. 
Q. What sort of training did that entail? 
A. Collection of evidence, photography, 

processesing of evidence. 
Q. Have you had very many occasions to collect 

evidence? 
A. Yes. 
Q. What precautions do you take when you're 
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collecting forensic evidence? 
A. In this case, I put on latex gloves before 

picking up the paper towel. 
Q. And you picked up the paper towel out of the 

can after you put the latex gloves on? 
A. Yes. 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

Q. Sir, did you notice whether the paper towel 7 
had anything on it? 8 

A. I didn't at that time, no. 9 
Q. At any time did you happen to notice? 10 
A. I don't think so. 11 
Q. What did you do with that towel? 12 
A. I placed it into a brown paper bag that I had 13 

in my vehicle. 14 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, at this time the 15 

State moves to have this exhibit marked as State's 16 
Exhibit 8. 17 

THE COURT: Okay. It will be marked. 18 
THE CLERK: Exhibit 8. 19 
MS. RIGGS: 20 
(Exhibit 8 marked for 
identification.) 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 

BY MS. RIGGS: 
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Q. Now, did you fill out any paperwork when you 

placed the item into the paper bag? 
A. Eventually I did paperwork for -- to process 

it into evidence, yes. 
Q. So why don't you describe to me the steps you 

take when you're placing an item that you collect in 
the field into evidence. 

21 
22 
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24 
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A. The paper bag is sealed with red evidence 
tape, there's some forms we fill out describing what 
it is we are placing into evidence, what we are 
collecting, the date and time it's collected, where 
it's collected, and then it's placed into a secure 
locker. 13 

Q. Now, did the -- does the item ever leave your 14 
possession from the time you take it from the field 15 
to the time you get it to evidence? 

A. No, it does not. 
MS. RIGGS: May I approach the witness, Your 

Honor? 
THE COURT: Yes. 

BY MS. RIGGS: 

16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

Q. I'm showing you, sir, what's been marked for 22 
identification as State's Exhibit 8. Do you 23 
recognize that at all, sir? 24 
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A. Yes, I do. 
Q. And can you tell me what that is? 
A. It's a brown paper bag. 
Q. And are your initials on there anywhere, sir? 
A. Yes, they are. 
Q. And can you tell me where they are? 
A. They are right here, a BP. 
Q. Is your name anywhere placed inside that --

in that package at all? 
A. Yes. Can I open it a little bit? 
Q. That's fine to open the staple. 
A. I put the date and time that I collected it. 

My name is right here on the bag. 
Q. Can you tell me what date and time that 

indicates on the bag when you collected it? 
A. 9-27-01 at 10:02 a.m. 
Q. So you collected that evidence at 10:02? 
A. Yes. 
Q. You stated earlier that your normal practice 

is to seal an evidence bag with red tape. Did you do 
that in this case? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Which piece of tape is the tape that you 

sealed this bag with, sir? 

PAGE 100 
A. Probably the one underneath. It would be the 

first one on there. It looks like there's two pieces 
of tape. Mine would be the bottom one. 

Q. Okay. Is it your understanding that this 
evidence is processed after you submit it into 
evidence? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did this bag remain sealed after you sealed 

it from the entire time that you had it in -- from 
the time you collected the evidence to the time that 
you submitted it into evidence? 

A. Yes. 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, State moves to admit 

State's Exhibit 8. 
MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, she wants to admit 

the bag, the bag is fine with me. She can admit the 
bag. I don't know what the contents of the bag are. 
I'll admit the bag. 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, I would like to admit 
the contents of the bag at a later time. 

THE COURT: Okay. The bag is admitted. 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 
(Exhibit 8 admitted into 
evidence. I 
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1 BY MS. RIGGS: 1 Mr. Kadlic, have you had a chance to review 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

Q. Again, detective, after you admitted this bag 2 
into evidence, your involvement in the case was over? 3 

those instructions yet? 
MR. KADLIC: ·Yes. 

A. Yes. 4 THE COURT: Okay. Before we get into the 
details of the instructions, I have a concern about 
them, and primarily the concern I have is that, as 
counsel knows, neither the statutes under which the 
defendant is being prosecuted define the terms 
indecent exposure or define the terms open or gross 
lewdness. 

Q. Thank you. 5 
MS. RIGGS: State has nothing further, Your 6 

Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. Any cross-examination, 

7 
8 

Mr. Kadlic? 9 
MR. KADLIC: I don't have any questions, Your 10 

11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

Honor. 11 Our research shows that under ran sin versus 
State and Young versus State the supreme court has 
adopted common law definitions for those terms. The 
terms, however, I think need to be, or the elements 
need to be contained in the instructions for the 

THE COURT: All right. You may step down, 
officer. 

Your next witness, Ms. Riggs? 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State will call 

16 Susan Harmon. 
17 THE COURT: Okay. 
18 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may we approach. 
19 THE COURT: Yes. 
20 (Off-the-record discussion 
21 held at the bench.) 
22 THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, in 
23 discussing the scheduling of the case with counsel, 
24 we think it best to take a break with you folks now 
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1 and have you return at 2:00. And I'm going to work 
2 with counsel on some other matters related to the 
3 case between now and 12:30, before my next hearing 
4 starts. 
5 So you are instructed not to discuss this 
6 case among yourselves or with anyone else or form or 
7 express any opinions or conclusions concerning the 
8 case until it is finally submitted to you for a 
9 decision in the trial. 

10 You're not to read or look at or listen to 
11 any news media accounts of the case should there be 
12 any. 
13 We'll be in recess with the jury until 2:00 
14 p.m. this afternoon. 
15 I'll remain on the record with counsel. 
16 All rise for the jury, please. 
17 (The following proceedings 
18 were held outside the 
19 presence of the jury.) 
20 THE COURT: All right. Please be seated. 
21 
22 
23 
24 

We remain on the record outside the presence 
of the jury. 

I wanted to take a few minutes to discuss 
with counsel the jury instructions in this matter. 

12 
13 
14 
15 
16 crime. 
17 So I would request that counsel, if you have 
18 not already done so, look at those cases and tell me 
19 whether you feel that the instructions as tendered 
20 adequately provide elements of the crime of open and 
21 gross lewdness and indecent exposure. 
22 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, if I may, I only got 
23 the citation for the first case, ran son V State. 
24 Would you mind --
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1 THE COURT: Ran son versus State, which is 
2 found at 99 Nev. 766, and Young versus State, 109 
3 Nev. 205. 
4 Those cases also make clear that in a 
5 situation in which the legislator has failed to 
6 define, as it has in this case, these terms, then the 
7 common law definition of those offenses will be used. 
8 And the supreme court seems to have adopted at least 
9 with respect to the definition of open and gross 

10 lewdness the definition found in ward mans criminal 
11 law at section 315, the 14th edition as an unlawful 
12 indulgence of lust involving gross indecency with 
13 respect to sexual conduct committed in a public place 
14 and observed by persons lawfully present. 
15 But I still haven't found a definition for 
16 the term of open and gross lewdness, although the 
17 Young case seems to suggest that -- and in ran son 
18 those terms would be lewd acts done in a private 
19 location in a nonsecretive manner clearly intending 
20 that the perpetrator's acts be offensive to his 
21 
22 
23 
24 

victim. 
But I think we need to work on the definition 

of these terms. 
Now, having said that, let me go through some 

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT 

V3. 424

V3. 424



• • 
SHEET 27 PAGE 105 PAGE 107 

1 of the instructions and determine whether there are 1 I'll leave it to you, Ms. Riggs, as to which 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
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20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

any objection on the part of the defense and also 
offer to you the order in which I would intend to 
give the instructions that I have at least at this 
point. Okay? 

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury would be 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

first. 1 
Mr. Kadlic, I'll simply ask, since these are 8 

tendered by the State, if you have any objection, as 9 
I go through them. If I don't hear from you, I' 11 10 
assume that you -- I would rather you state objection 11 
or no objection. 12 

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury. 13 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 14 
THE COURT: An Amended Information is a 15 

formal method. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 
THE COURT: The defendant in this matter. 

The recitation of the Information. 
MR. KADLIC: Oh, thank you. Okay. I'm 

sorry. No objection. 
THE COURT: If in these instructions any 

rule, direction, or idea. 
MR. KADLIC: Objection. No objection. 

16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
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24 

one you would prefer. 
MS. RIGGS: To the jury alone, the one that 

begins with to the jury alone belongs the duty of 
weighing. 

THE COURT: Okay. 
MR. KADLIC: I can go with that, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: The other, you are the sole 

judges is withdrawn; is that correct. 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 
THE COURT: There are two types of evidence. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Intent may be proved by 

circumstantial evidence. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Every person charged with the 

commission. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: In every crime there must exist. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your HGonor. 
THE COURT: The burden rests upon the 

prosecution to establish. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: A reasonable doubt is one based 
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1 THE COURT: If during this trial I have said 1 on reason. 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
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or done. 2 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 3 
THE COURT: Neither the prosecution nor the 4 

defense is required. 5 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 6 
THE COURT: Nothing that counsel say. 7 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 8 
THE COURT: It is the duty of attorneys on 9 

each side. 10 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 11 
THE COURT: The State has offered two 12 

instructions; one that begins to the jury alone 13 
belongs the duty of weighing the evidence and another 14 
one that says you are the sole judges of the 15 
credibility of the witnesses. They seem to me to be 16 
duplicitous. 11 

Ms. Riggs, your thoughts on that. 18 
MS. RIGGS: State has no preference which 19 

one -- 20 
MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, to the jury alone 

or --
THE COURT: You are the sole judges of the 

credibility. 

21 
22 
23 
24 

MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. Now, the Court will 

propose at this point an instruction that says the 
State has charged the defendant in Count 1 with 
indecent exposure. 

The elements of indecent exposure are, 1, 2, 
3, 4, 5. The defendant in Washoe County, on 
September 27th, and then we get into the more dicey 
problem of what are the other elements from what I 
can discern in the Ranson and Young cases; and I 
wanted to give you, Ms. Riggs, an opportunity to take 
a stab at that, if you would, please. 

MS. RIGGS: Okay. Thank you. 
THE COURT: And then the next instruction 

would similarly be in Count 2 the State has charged 
the defendant with open and gross lewdness, the 
elements of that are, and identify those elements. 

MS. RIGGS: Okay. 
THE COURT: The instruction in order for 

conduct to be indecent or obscene, do you have any 
objection to that instruction, Mr. Kadlic? 

MR. KADLIC: Which one is that? 
THE COURT: It reads in order for conduct to 
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be indecent or obscene, it must affront the standards 1 
of decency accepted in the community and be patently 2 
offensive. 3 

MR. KADLIC: No, no objection, Your Honor. 4 
THE COURT: Okay. And these are explanatory 5 

instructions which I think are appropriate following 6 
the element instructions. 7 

And the next instruction, an exposure becomes 8 
indecent when it occurs at such a time and place 9 
where a reasonable person knows or should know his or 10 
her act will be open to the observation of others. 11 
The required criminal intent is usually established 12 
by some action by which a defendant draws attention 13 
to his exposed condition or by a display in a place 14 
so public that it must be presumed it was intended to 15 
be seen by others. 16 

MR. KADLIC: I like that one. 17 
THE COURT: No objection? 18 
MR. KADLIC: No objection, Your Honor. 19 
THE COURT: One may not knowingly expose his 20 

or her person in a public place under circumstances 21 
which make it probable that he or she will be 22 
observed and then assert that if he or she was 
observed the exposure was unintentional and 
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accidental. 

23 
24 

I 
My observation is that this seems to be a 2 

defense instruction, and since I haven't heard the 3 
defense case I don't know that this is yet 4 
appropriate for consideration. 5 

That is to say, if Mr. Volpicelli were to get 6 
on the stand and say my conduct here was 7 
unintentional and accidental, then this instruction 8 
might be appropriate. Until then, I'm not sure that 9 
it is. JO 

MS. RIGGS: Okay. 11 
MR. KADLIC: That's correct. 12 
THE COURT: And then the next instruction, 13 

conviction for statutory offenses of gross lewdness 14 
or indecent exposure does not require proof of intent 15 
to offend the observer or even that exposure was 16 
observed, it is sufficient that the public sexual 17 
conduct or exposure was intentional. 18 

And this is a statement right out of Young, 19 
but I'll let you take a look at that, unless you have 20 
no objection. 21 

MR. KADLIC: If it's right out of Young, I'll 22 
take the Court's word for it. 23 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, I do have a concern 24 
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regarding your earlier statement about -- I believe 
you said wardens criminal law definition of lewdness. 
This seems to contradict that definition because my 
understanding of the Young versus State instruction 
is that an observer need not even see what's 
happening. 

THE COURT: Well, this is why I want you to· 
look at those two cases in particular, you may want 
to also look at the Peck case, which is -- but it's a 
concurring opinion. That's at 116 Nev. 840. 

With all due respect to our supreme court, 
these opinions are not real instructive and seem to 
contain conflicting statements on the definitional 
issues. And you're absolutely correct, the statement 
that I read is a correct statement out of Young but 
seems to be contrary to the warden definition. So 
I'm not quite sure how to reconcile that, but I'm 
asking for counsel's comments on that. 

The next instruction, the rules of evidence 
ordinarily do not permit. And I'm assuming that that 
will be in connection with Ms. Harmon's testimony. 

MR. KADLIC: No objection. 
THE COURT: The penalty provided by law for 

the offense. 
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MR. KADLIC: No objection. 
THE COURT: It is your duty as jurors to 

consult. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 
THE COURT: Although you are to consider only 

the evidence. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 
THE COURT: Upon retiring to the jury room, 

you will select. 
MR. KADLIC: No objection. 
THE COURT: And do you intend to -­
MR. KADLIC: Yes, I have two. 
THE COURT: -- Mr. Kadlic, to offer an 

instruction? 
MR. KADLIC: I have two. Ms. Volpicelli will 

not be testifying; there is no value to him 
testifying. 

THE COURT: Okay. 
MR. KADLIC: Those are out of CALJIC. As a 

matter of fact, we used the one in Gallegos. I used 
both of those in Roski in front of Judge Elliott. 

THE COURT: Have you seen these instructions? 
MS. RIGGS: I have, Your Honor. The State 

does not object to the instruction that begins the 
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1 defendant in a criminal trial has a constitutional 1 that you have the opportunity to testify in this case 
2 right, 2 at or near the end of the State's case in chief. Are 
3 The State does object to the second 3 you aware of that right? 
4 instruction, Your Honor, in deciding whether or not 4 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. 
5 to testify the defendant may choose to rely on the 5 THE COURT: Without discussing with me your 
6 State of the evidence and upon the failure, if any, 6 discussions with your counsel, have you discussed 
7 of the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every 7 your right to testify with him? 
8 essentially element of the charge against him. And, 8 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, Your Honor. 
9 Your Honor, I believe that that's -- that contains an 9 THE COURT: Have you discussed the 

10 implication that if the defendant does not testify 10 implications, detriments and benefits associated with 
11 then the State has failed to prove its case. So I 11 testifying in this case with your counsel? 
12 would object to this instruction. 12 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have. 
13 THE COURT: The Court has been using an 13 THE COURT: Okay. All right. Then we'll 
14 instruction on this subject in almost every criminal 14 return at 2:00 in the trial and begin with the 
15 trial that I have tried here, and during the break 15 evidence at that point. It's possible we may need to 
16 we'll make a copy for counsel to look at. 16 go into tomorrow morning because there may be some 
17 MR. KADLIC: Okay. That will be fine, 17 conflicting viewpoints on what the instructions 
18 THE COURT: It does incorporate some of the 18 should look like, which is certainly understandable 
19 theme of this objectionable instruction, Mr, Kadlic, 19 in this matter. Okay. 
20 and I'll let you both take a look at that proposed 20 (Lunch recess.) 
21 instruction before resolving this issue. 21 --000--

22 MR. KADLIC: That will be fine, 22 
23 MS. RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. 23 
24 THE COURT: Okay. All right. After you've 24 
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1 had a chance to spend some time looking at the cases, 1 RENO, NEVADA, THURSDAY, JULY 10, 2004, 2:17 P.M. 
2 then we'll talk more about these element instructions 2 --000--

3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

after two p.m. 3 

11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Although, my intent would be to conclude your 4 
evidence, have you rest; and then it's my 5 
understanding that, Mr. Kadlic, your intent is not 6 
to -- is for your client not to testify. 7 

MR. KADLIC: That's correct. I would 8 
probably make a motion at the conclusion of the 9 
State's case, because I know the rest of the evidence 10 
isn't going to change the facts from where they are 11 
now, whatever the Court rules on that, 12 

THE COURT: Okay, 13 
MR. KADLIC: And we would not present any 14 

evidence, and we would rest, and we could go right to 15 
the settling instructions and arguments. 16 

Whether we can make that all today or end up 17 
doing it at 10 o'clock tomorrow morning, I'm sure the lB 
jury would appreciate if we could finish it today, 19 

THE COURT: We'll see how we go. 20 
MR. KADLIC: I don't mind staying later. 21 
THE COURT: I'm going to take this 22 

opportunity, then, Mr, Volpicelli, to advise you 23 
pursuant to a case entitled State versus Phillips 24 

jury? 

THE COURT: Please be seated. 
Do counsel stipulate to the presence of the 

MR. KADLIC: So stipulated, Your Honor, 
MS, RIGGS: So stipulated, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. Good afternoon, ladies and 

gentlemen, Sorry we ran over a little bit, but the 
court reporter, myself and the clerk have been 
working at it since we left you last, so she needs a 
break. Hopefully we have built up her blood sugar so 
we can get through the afternoon. 

Ms, Riggs, your next witness, please, 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. Your 

Honor, the State will call Susan Harmon. 

»»> 

THE COURT: Okay. 

SUZANNE HARMON, 
Called as a witness on behalf of the 
State, having been first duly sworn, 
was examined and testified as follows: 
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I DIRECT EXAMINATION I evidence into your laboratory, where does that 
2 2 typically come from? 
3 BY MS. RIGGS: 3 A. We have an evidence section in our laboratory 
4 Q. Would you please state your name and spell 4 where all evidence is located. It's in a secure 
5 your last name for the record. 5 area. 
6 A. Suzanne Harmon, HARMON. 6 We have two evidence custodians who are the 
7 Q. Who employs you? 7 only ones who have access to that evidence in order 
8 A. I'm a crirninalist with the Washoe County 8 for us to basically check it out or sign a chain of 
9 sheriff's forensic laboratory. 9 custody to take possession of it. 

10 Q. Could you tell me what your position is with 10 Q. And do you know which agencies would be 
11 the crime lab. It's called the crime lab as well? 11 placing the evidence into your secured evidence 
12 A. That's correct. For the last two years I've 12 section? 
13 been in the primary exam section. 
14 Prior to that, I spent about nine half years 

13 A. We do lab work for numerous agencies 
14 throughout not only the State of Nevada but also 

15 in the breath, alcohol section for DUI testing and 15 California, so there are quite a few agencies that 
16 about a year and a half in the toxicology section. 
17 Q. Can you tell me what your duties were with 
18 the crime lab as September 2000 or October 2000? 

16 book evidence into our facility. 
17 Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, can you describe the path 
18 that a piece of evidence takes from the time it gets 

19 A. I was in the primary exam section at that 19 say to your secured evidence facility to where you 
20 time, and what my primary duties are is to examine 20 are located in your laboratory? 
21 evidence in order to locate and identify stains of 21 A. Typically when an agency submits evidence 
22 body fluid types such as blood or seminal fluid, 22 they will attach a lab request to it obviously saying 
23 saliva. 23 what the item is, their agency and what work they 
24 I also look for hairs and identify if it's 24 wish to have done. 
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1 animal or human hair. 1 So if they have requested work for my 
section, a lab request is initiated, I would receive 
a piece of paper saying you need to do the lab work 
on this item. 

2 I collect trace evidence, such as fibers or 2 
3 pieces of glass, for further testing down the road. 3 
4 Q. Ms. Harmon, would you please describe your 4 
5 education and training to perform such analysis? 5 
6 A. I have a bachelor's of science degree from 6 
7 the University of Nevada, Reno, that I received in 7 
8 1980 in medical technology, which was primarily 8 
9 clinical testing for medical purposes of blood and 9 

10 urine, which actually is a similar -- is a good 10 
11 background for the type of testing that I do now. 11 
12 When I moved into this section, I underwent a 12 
13 prescribed training course under another criminalist. 13 
14 I attended a class at the California 14 
15 Criminalistics Institute, which was microscopy, 15 
16 evidence of rape. 16 
17 I had to take a competency exam, where I was 17 
18 given unknown body fluids and had to identify it 18 
19 before I started doing actual case work. 19 
20 And then once a year I have to perform a 20 
21 proficiency exam where again an outside source sends 21 
22 in unknown stains, usually about five of them, and I 22 
23 have to correctly identify those stains. 23 
24 Q. Ms. Harmon, when you get in a piece of 24 

I would then go down to our evidence section, 
give them that item number, the evidence custodians 
would give it to me, I would sign a temporary custody 
of it, I would take that package back to my 
laboratory. 

I would make notes as to the condition that I 
received it, basically was it sealed. Our lab will 
not take evidence that isn't sealed, so I certainly 
note that. I would open the package. 

Typically on the outside of the package I 
will put my initials, the date that I work on it, we 
assign a lab number to it, and then I would basically 
describe the item, put some sort of identification on 
to the item so if I were to see it again I would know 
in fact that I had looked at it. 

I have lab benches with great lighting, I 
have different types of lights, magnifying glasses, 
to assist me with looking for stains. 

If I were to find a stain there are certain 
chemical tests that I perform on it in order to 
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1 identify is it blood, is it seminal fluid, is it 
2 saliva. 

From that point forward then I may do some 
further testing. 

Q. Now you testified that when you received 
evidence personally from your secured evidence 
section you receive it in a sealed state, correct? 

A. That"s correct. 

• 
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1 A. I did. 
2 Q. And what did you do then? 
J 
4 
5 
6 
J 
8 

A. I removed the contents of it, and basically, 
as I described, I described what was in there, 
identified it, again with the initials, date, lab 
number, and I performed laboratory examinations on 
it. 

Q, What did you find when you opened that 

J 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
Q. Does anyone else have access to that evidence 9 envelope? 

after you have unseal it? 10 A. Testwise or the item? 
Q. The item, please. 11 

12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

A. I keep in it my possession while I'm working 11 
on it. If I were not able to finish work and return 12 
it to my evidence section I have my own locker that I 13 

A. My records indicate that I found seven pieces 
of three-layer tissue. I described possibly that 
it"s a paper towel or Kleenex. have a padlock key to that I have the key to, so I 14 

would lock that evidence up in my laboratory. 15 Q, Was it simply a piece of tissue or piece of 
Kleenex, or did you notice anything on that? Additionally our laboratory is a secured area 16 

where only people who work there are allowed to be 17 A. I did note a stain on the item. 
there basically unescorted. 18 My recollection I'm just remembering this, 

it's not in my notes, it was kind of altogether, and 
I most likely separated those pieces of tissue. 

Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, do you recall taking a bag 19 
item or a bag evidentiary item out of your secured 20 
evidence section on October 22nd, 2001? 21 Q. Could you describe the stain that you saw, 

please, if you recall? A. Do you have a specific one or -- it's 22 
difficult for me just to remember a day, 23 A. My notes indicate that I found a fairly large 

yellow stain. There's actually stain on quite a few Q. I am speaking specifically regarding an item 24 
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1 you assigned laboratory number L7970-01-0. 1 of the pieces of tissue, but I just used one to 
2 A. Yes. My records indicate that on that day, 2 examine since they were all contained together. I 
J on October 22nd of 2001, I did receive a bag of J only needed, I felt, to test one of them. 
4 evidence that was assigned that laboratory number. 4 Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, did you perform any 
5 MS. RIGGS: May I approach for an item of 5 laboratory analysis on the tissue? 
6 evidentiary, Your Honor? 6 A. I did. I performed a test to indicate to me 
7 THE COURT: Yes. 7 the presence of seminal fluid. 
8 MS. RIGGS: May I approach the witness, Your 8 I have a laboratory test that seminal fluid 
9 Honor? 9 contains a substance in a very high concentration, 

10 THE COURT: Yes. 10 it"s called acid phosphatase, and I have a chemical 
11 BY MS. RIGGS: 11 test that indicates the presence of that, and it's a 
12 Q. Ms. Harmon, I'm showing you what's been 12 color reaction. Like I use swabs and I come in 
13 previously marked and admitted as State"s Exhibit 8. 13 contact with the stain to basically soak some of the 
14 Do you recognize that item? 14 stain up on to the swab, and I look for a color 
15 A. I do. Again, the laboratory number is 15 change which tells me that very likely seminal fluid 
16 written on here in my handwriting; a different date, 16 is present on that stain, 
17 October 23rd, 2001, which means that's the date I 17 Q. Ms. Harmon, why in particular were you 
18 actually looked at the item; and my initials. 18 testing for seminal fluid on that item? 
19 Q, And you see that marked on that item? 19 A. It had the appearance of that. Obviously it 
20 A. I do. 20 didn't look like blood. It wasn't red. 
21 Q. Ms. Harmon, did that item come to you in a 21 Typically in my section I'm looking for 
22 sealed state? 22 either semen or blood, those are the two main things 
23 A. My records indicate that it did. 23 that I look for. 
24 Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, did you open that envelope? 24 Q. Did the agency that submitted that request 
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1 request that you test for semen? 1 A. If our laboratory maintained all of the 
2 A. If I could look here. 2 original items of evidence, we have would have to 
3 Q, Certainly. 3 purchase a couple of city blocks to store all of 
4 A. The lab request did in fact indicate to look 4 that. 
5 for the presence of seminal fluid. 5 So by taking only a small portion of the 
6 Q. Ms. Harmon, when you say a presumptive test, 6 stain, I can return the original item to the agency, 
7 what does that mean? 7 I can maintain that cutting that we can test at a 
8 A. It basically means that it's not 100 percent 8 later date; and it's stored in our laboratory in a 
9 for sure that that what's it is. It means it's a 9 freezer, which is the ideal way to store biological 

10 pretty good reliability that's what it is, but I 10 fluids, and it's a very secure area under strict 
11 couldn't tell you a hundred percent certain that's 11 criteria. 
12 what it is. 12 So any future testing that has to be done on 
13 Q. Again, your results indicated what regarding 13 that, we have access to that stain, and we don't need 
14 the sample? 14 the rest of the item. 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

A. I had positive results, so presumptively I 
believed that seminal fluid was present. 

Q. What happened to the paper towel after you 
tested it? 

15 
16 
17 
18 

A. Whenever I find a stain, I cut part of that 19 
stain out. I identify it. The first item I ever 20 
look at, I assign the first letter of the alphabet A, 21 
and the first stain would be 1. 22 

So I make marks on there saying this is A-1, 23 
and I actually cut out with scissors part of the 24 
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1 stain. I attach it to a little index card, and I 1 
2 place it inside of a coin envelope labeling it where 2 
3 it came from, my initials, the date. 3 
4 I then put that coin envelope into a manila 4 
5 envelope similar to this. I assign a bar code number 5 
6 to it that's unique for our laboratory. 6 
7 It then gets sealed with evidence tape, and a 7 
8 chain of custody for that cutting now is initiated 8 
9 for that cutting. 9 

10 As far as the original item of evidence, it's 10 
11 returned to the original packaging, resealed, taken 11 
12 back to our evidence section who in turn then returns 12 
13 it to the submitting agency. 13 
14 Q. Now, was the original paper towel in fact 14 
15 resealed inside its original envelope? 15 
16 A. It was. 16 
17 Q. And how do you know that' 17 
18 A. My notes indicate it. The evidence tape 18 
19 here, I see my initials and the date that I sealed 19 
20 this package back up, 20 
21 Q. Ms. Harmon, can you tell me what the reason 21 
22 is for your taking a separate sample or a section of 22 
23 the original sample and basically excluding it out 23 
24 from the original evidence? 24 

Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, I provided you with a pair 
of scissors. Would you please open the large 
evidentiary bag. 

A. (Witness complies). 
Q. Ms. Harmon, is something in the bag? 
A. There is. 
Q. Can you tell me what is in the bag? 
A. It looks to me like the actual pieces of 

tissue just right here in the bag. They are not 
inside of anything else. 

PAGE 128 
Q. Do you recognize those to be the pieces of 

tissue that you tested in this case? 
A. I have my identification on one of them, so 

just to say do I recognize these, no. 
Q, Would you mind -- I know that you brought 

some gloves with you. Would you mind taking the item 
out. 

A. I find here on one of the pieces of tissue 
the laboratory number, the date, and my initials. 

Q. Thank you, Ms. Harmon. 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, at this time, the 

State would move to have marked and admitted State's 
Exhibit 8-A regarding the samples. 

I'd like to put on the record that those are 
biohazardous materials, and although I would like the 
jury to be able to see them, if they need to, I would 
like them to be held in the possession of the clerk 
at this time. 

THE COURT: Any objection to admissibility, 
counsel? 

MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor. And I think 
that's a wise way so the jury --

THE COURT: Well, the exhibit is admitted. 
The handling will be handled by the clerk. 
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MS, RIGGS: Thank you, Your Honor. Thank 
you, Ms, Harmon. 
BY MS, RIGGS: 

1 
2 
3 

Q, Now, Ms, Harmon, did you conduct any further 4 
testing, any further laboratory testing in this case? 5 

A. I did, On this particular date -- whenever I 6 
find that presUll\ptive positive test for seminal 7 
fluid, then I proceed to another step, which would be 8 
looking for sperm cells, which would be a 9 
confirmation of seminal fluid, obviously, if you 10 
found sperm cells; and how that is done is by cutting 11 
out a tiny little piece of that stain, this tissue, I 12 
cut a little piece out and put into it a little tube 13 
and add some water, and it's basically soaked in that 14 
water which would allow the sperm cells to leave that 15 
tissue and go into the water. 16 

It's then put into a centrifuge, which is a 17 
laboratory equipment that spins very fast so that you 18 
understand that heavy things would fall to the 19 
bottom, and in this case we would hope sperm cells 20 
would fall to the bottom of that tube, I could then 21 
take a little section of that, it's called a button 22 
that would spin to the bottom, place it on a 23 
microscope slide, add stain to it, which gives color 24 
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to it, and then I would look under the microscope to 1 
find those sperm cells. 2 

Q. Did you find sperm cells in the semen on the 3 
tissue in this case? 4 

A. I did not. 5 
Q. Did you conduct any further testing? 6 
A, At a later date, I did. At the time that I 7 

did this in October, that was the only test that we 8 
did, confirmatory test for seminal fluid. 9 

So at a later point in time, then, I did 10 
another test where when sperm cells are not present 11 
there's another exam that we can do, again looking 12 
for a substance that is only found in seminal fluid, 13 
and I did perform that test, 14 

Q. Can you tell me what the results of that test 15 
were, please. 16 

A. That was in July 26th of 2002, and the 17 
results of that test were positive; thereby being 18 
confirmation that that stain was seminal fluid. 19 

Q. So it's fair to say we went to a presumptive 20 
test or from a presUll\ptive test that wasn't a hundred 21 
percent sure to now a test that we can basically be a 22 
hundred percent sure that this is seminal fluid on 23 
the tissue; is that correct? 24 

• 
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A, That's correct. 
Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, we have a semen sample, a 

sample that we now know is positive for semen but no 
sperm. How is this possible? 

A. There are instances that a male could be -­
have had a vasectomy, then their seminal fluid would 
no longer have sperm cells, 

There are instances where men actually do not 
produce sperm cells, they wouldn't have sperm cells. 

Or there are instances where their sperm 
count is so low that it would be possible that in 
that stain I wasn't able to find them. 

Q. Now, Ms. Harmon, based on your experience, 
your training, and all the analysis that you did on 
the sample in this case, did you form an opinion as 
to whether the contributor to the semen sample had 
either a low sperm count or had been vasectomized? 

A. That was my belief, yes. 
Q. So you did form a positive opinion regarding 

that? 
A. Yes. 

MS. RIGGS: Thank you. The State has nothing 
further, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Kadlic? 

PAGE 132 
CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. KADLIC: 
Q. For one thing, Ms. Harmon, you have no idea 

where that sample came from other than what somebody 
wrote on the bag; isn't that correct? 

A. That's correct. 
Q. And at the time you will analyzed it, I 

assume that stain was dry, dry, and dry? 
A. Yes, 
Q. Do you know how long it had been dry for? 
A. I do not. 
Q. Is there a way to test for that? 
A. We don't test the age of the stain, just 

basically what's in the stain. 
MR. KADLIC: I have no additional questions, 

Your Honor, thank you. 
MS. RIGGS: State will have nothing further, 

Your Honor. 
THE COURT: All right. Ms. Harmon, you may 

step down. 
Your next witness, Ms. Riggs? 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State will call 

Lori Inman. 
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1 LORI INMAN, 
2 Called as a witness on behalf of the 
3 State, having been first duly sworn, 
4 was examined and testified as follows: 
5 
6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 
7 
8 BY MS. RIGGS: 
9 Q. Would you please state your name and spell 

10 your last name for the reported. 
11 A. Lori Inman, INMAN. 
12 Q. Ms. Inman, at one time were you married to a 
13 man named Ferrill Volpicelli? 
14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. Can you tell me what the dates were when you 
16 were married to him, ma'am? 
17 A. We got married December 7th, 1981, and 
18 divorced July 1997. 
19 Q. Do you see Mr. Volpicelli here today? 
20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. Would you please point him out for the Court 
22 and describe briefly what he's wearing? 
23 A. Light blue shirt and gray pants. 
24 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may the record 

PAGE 134 
1 reflect that this witness has identified the 
2 defendant in this case? 
3 THE COURT: Yes, the record will reflect the 
4 identification by the witness. 
5 MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 
6 BY MS. RIGGS: 
7 
8 
9 

Q. Ms. Inman, during the time that you that 
married to the defendant, were you aware of whether 
he went -- underwent any particular medical 
procedures? 

A. Yes. 

• 
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1 Q. Ms. Inman, do you and the defendant have any 
2 children in common? 
3 A. Yes, we have three. 
4 Q. Are you required to keep somewhat in contact 
5 or know something about the defendant because of the 
6 relationship with your children? 
7 A. I have cut off all contact. 
8 Q. In the latter part of 2001, did you still 
9 know something of what was going on in his life at 

10 all through your children? 
11 A. Yes, he was seeing my children on a regular 
12 basis. 
13 Q. Do you know whether the defendant had access 
14 to a van in approximately September, 2001? 
15 A. Yes, his brother's van. 
16 Q. And do you recall what kind of van that was? 
17 A. I believe it was a Mazda. 
18 Q. And who is his brother? 
19 A. Mark Volpicelli. 
20 Q. And, Ms. Inman, do you also know whether the 
21 defendant had access to a Ford Bronco in -- during 
22 the time period surrounding September 2001? 
23 A. Not a Ford Bronco. 
24 Q. I apologize, ma"am, that is my fault. A Ford 
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1 Explorer? 
2 A. Yes, two Ford Explorers. Both registered in 
3 my daughter"s name. 
4 Q. Who is your daughter? 
5 A. Shannel Volpicelli. 
6 Q. Also the defendant's daughter? 
7 

8 
9 

10 
11 

A. 
Q. 

today? 
A. 
Q. 

Yes. 
Now, Ms. Inman, are you under subpoena here 

Yes. 
Did you want to be here today? 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Q. And I'm speaking particularly of a procedure 12 A. No. 
of a procedure in December of 1993? 13 

A. Yes. 14 
Q. What kind of procedure did he undergo? 15 
A. A vasectomy. 16 
Q. Are you aware of whether that operation was 17 

successful 7 18 
A. Yes. 19 
Q. It was successful? 20 
A. Yeah. I believe his girlfriend -- 21 
Q. I'm sorry. I'm going to have to stop you 22 

right there. 23 
A. Okay. 24 

MS. RIGGS: State has nothing further, Your 
Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Kadl ic, any 
cross-examination? 

MR. KADLIC: I have none of this witness, 
Your Honor. Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. You may step down, 
Ms. Inman. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 
THE COURT: Your next witness, Ms. Riggs. 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State will rest. 

Thank you. 
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1 THE COURT: Okay. All right. Mr, Kadlic, 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

are you ready to proceed with the defense case? 
MR, KADLIC: Yes, I am, Your Honor. At this 

point, I choose to make no opening statement. 
THE COURT: Okay. Do you intend to call any 

witnesses? 
MR. KADLIC: No, I do not, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: All right. Then the defense 

rests? 
MR. KADLIC: We do, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay, Ladies and gentlemen, I 

need to have a few minutes with counsel to resolve 

• 
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1 Ms. Riggs, have you bad a chance to formulate 
2 those instructions we discussed? 
3 MS. RIGGS: Yes, I did. May I approach, Your 
4 · Honor? 
5 THE COURT: Yes, ma"am. Thank you. 
6 All right. Before addressing the 
7 instructions, Mr, Kadlic, you wanted to comment? 
8 MR. KADLIC: Yes. Did you want to canvass 
9 again -- you never did actually technically ask Mr. 

10 Volpicelli if he wanted to testify, you just told him 
11 about his right to. I have advised him --
12 THE COURT: All right. Mr. Volpicelli, do you 

10 
11 

12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

the jury instructions in this matter, so we will take 13 wish to testify in this case? 
a recess. 14 THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, could we approach 15 
the bench for a brief second. 

THE COURT: Sure. 
(Off-the-record discussion held 
at the bench. I 

16 
17 
18 
19 

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, I'm 2 O 

MR. KADLIC: Okay. At this point, Your 
Honor, I move to dismiss within the complaint itself 
all references to the second place, which I believe 
is the 5150 Mae Anne Boulevard, the one that Officer 
Phay testifies to. In both counts. And here's why. 

thinking we're going to need about a half hour to 21 If the Court goes back and pulls up Officer 
Phay's testimony what they will find is that what he 
said in court today, which may be different than what 
he said in his reports, was that he never opened the 

conclude some of the issues that are involved, and as 22 
comfortable as our jury room is, I'm confident you 23 
don't want to sit there all that time, You're 24 
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1 welcome to do so. But you're also welcome to go 1 paper towel, so he does not know whether it is wet or 
2 outside or take a walk or go into other parts of the 2 dry. 
3 building if you'd like so you're not confined in the 3 One of the essential elements of the crime is 
4 jury room. 4 it bas to occur in a public place. So if he doesn't 
5 But I'm going to have you come back about 5 know whether it's wet or dry, that's why I 
6 3:15. My purpose in all of this is to get this case 6 specifically didn't ask him some questions, because I 
7 to you today so you don't have to come back tomorrow. 7 didn't want to lose that issue, and on top of the 
8 So you are instructed in the meantime not to 8 fact that Ms, Harmon testified that she has no idea 
9 discuss this case among yourselves or with anyone 9 how long that was, so there is no way to prove beyond 

10 else or form or express any opinions or conclusions 10 a reasonable doubt, and it's only going to confuse 
11 concerning the case until it is finally submitted to 11 the jury as to whether or not it occurred there, 
12 you for a decision. 12 because without that essential element of knowing 
13 You're not to read, look at or listen to any 13 it's wet or dry, that paper towel could have been ten 
14 news media accounts relating to the case, should 14 months old for all you know, because there's no 
15 there be any. 15 testimony here showing any kind of dating on that. 
16 We'll be in recess until about 3:15, 16 And again you go back to the testimony and I 
17 approximately. Ms. Riggs needs to get some 17 had the court reporter pull it up when I came back 
18 paperwork, we'll reconvene as soon as you're back so 18 from lunch just to be sure I heard him right, and 
19 we'll be in short recess with counsel, and we'll be 19 it's exactly what it says, he says he pulled it out 
20 in recess until 3:15 with the jury. 20 of there, he put into it evidence, and that's when he 
21 (Recess taken.) 21 left. 
22 THE COURT: Please be seated, 22 So I believe they have failed to prove the 
23 We're back in court outside the presence of 23 essential element that it occurred in a public place, 
24 the jury. 24 which was there. I mean, there's nothing illegal 
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1 about dropping tissue into a dumpster, so I ask that 1 
2 you dismiss all reference to that and dismiss those 2 
3 charges as it applies to that because I think the 3 
4 State has failed to meet their nexus, their burden in 4 
5 that matter. 5 
6 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, the State did provide 6 
7 testimony that this defendant was sitting in his 7 
8 vehicle for 25 minutes prior to himself dumping the 8 
9 tissue into the trash can. 9 

10 Now, there's a reasonable inference there 10 
11 that he was doing something, and we know he was in a 11 
12 public place. The fact of whether that semen was 12 
13 deposited on the towel during that 25-minute period, 13 
14 Your Honor, is now an issue for the jury. It's a 14 
15 fact issue for the jury, Your Honor, and I would ask 15 
16 that you not dismiss that count. 16 
17 THE COURT: Well, as counsel knows, I can't 17 
18 dismiss any counts, all I can do is provide to the 18 
19 jury an instruction with respect to what the jury 19 
20 should conclude and why. 20 
21 And on that issue, the Court will grant the 21 
22 defendant's motion and instruct that an instruction 22 
23 be prepared that the Court provides an advisory 23 
24 verdict on that point for that reason, that the State 24 
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MR. KADLIC: Same thing, Your Honor. It 
states exactly what the statute says basically in a 
line by line manner. 

THE COURT: And the definition of a lewd act? 
MR. KADLIC: It comes from the Young case, 

and I pulled up the Young case, so I have no 
objection to that one either. 

THE COURT: Okay. Any other instructions -­
I don't think counsel saw the instruction that I 
proposed regarding the defendant's right to testify. 

MR. KADLIC: No, I have not, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: And I need you to prepare an 

advisory instruction for the Court with respect to 
the factual basis of that location and that count. 

MR, KADLIC: Okay, And so the advisory 
instruction, should I have beginning the text 
something like this is an advisory instruction to the 
jury that based on the evidence presented at the 
trial that the State has failed to establish an 
essential element of the crime of open and gross 
lewdness and indecent exposure as it applies to the 
location of 5150 Mae Anne Boulevard, Reno, Washoe 
County, Nevada, and the jury is instructed as to that 
particular location they must find the defendant not 
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1 failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt the 1 guilty of those charges as it applies to that 
2 circumstances surrounding that count. 
3 MR. KADLIC: I assume it applies to 
4 actually --
5 THE COURT: And for that specific factual 
6 reason. 
7 MR. KADLIC: Okay. That would be fine, Your 
8 Honor. 
9 So now what do we do, do we take a recess for 

10 today and bring the jury back in the morning? I 
11 mean --

THE COURT: I think you ought to prepare 
that, I still want to give the case to the jury 
today. 

Before we depart, I'd like to look at the 
instructions counsel has prepared. 

MR. KADLIC: That would be fine. 

2 location, something to that effect? 
3 THE COURT: I'll show you an advisory verdict 
4 form, or I mean an advisory --
5 MR. KADLIC: That will be fine, and I'll go 
6 have it taken care of right now, 
7 THE COURT: Why don't counsel come into 
8 chambers, and we'll go over those two forms. 
9 (Recess taken.) 

10 THE COURT: Please be seated. 
11 We are back on the record outside the 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 

presence of the jury, 12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

THE COURT: The first one, as applicable to 18 

First of all, the Court conferred with 
counsel regarding the instruction to be given in 
connection with the exercise by the defendant of his 
constitutional right not to testify, and it's my 
understanding that counsel are in agreement with the 
instruction proposed by the Court. Is that correct? 

Count 1, the elements of indecent exposure, have you 19 
seen that instruction? 20 

MR. KADLIC: That's fine. That appears to be 21 
exactly what the count says, Your Honor. I have no 22 
objection to it in its form. 23 

THE COURT: And Count 2? 24 

MR. KADLIC: That is correct, Your Honor. 
MS. RIGGS: It is correct, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. You may not have a copy, 

however. 
MR. KADLIC: We do not. 
THE COURT: All right. Then I'll ask 
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Ms, Clerk to copy before we begin argument. 1 
2 MR, KADLIC: Thank you, 

THE COURT: In fact, bailiff, do you mind J 
making a copy while we're handling this matter. 4 
Thank you. 5 

All right. Additionally, the Court conferred 6 
with counsel on the subject of an advisory 7 
instruction as to the events surrounding the location 8 
of 10500 North McCarran Boulevard, which, as I 9 
understand it, is the address of the Albertson's 10 
incident, 11 

MS, RIGGS: That's correct, Your Honor. 12 
THE COURT: And it is my understanding that 13 

based on the Court's intention to give an advisory 14 
instruction, the parties have stipulated that the 15 
State will withdraw that incident from both Count 1 16 
and Count 2 and does not any longer intend to 17 
prosecute the defendant for that incident under each 18 
of those two counts. Is that correct, Ms. Riggs? 19 

MS. RIGGS: Correct. The incident at North 20 
McCarran Boulevard only. 21 

THE COURT: Yes. Now, what I would like to 22 
do, then, in looking at the jury instruction that 23 
contains the Amended Information is make sure that we 24 
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thereabout, and then on lines 1 on page 2 of that 
instruction, strike the words 10500 North McCarran 
Boulevard, and/or; so that in essence the State the 
proceeding with charges of indecent exposure and open 
and gross lewdness for the circumstances surrounding 
the incident on September 25th, 2001 on both counts. 
Okay? 

MS. RIGGS: Yes. 
THE COURT: Mr. Kadlic, do you concur in the 

amendments? 
MR. KADLIC: I'm sorry! yes/ I do, Your 

Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. That's fine. 
All right. I will read the instruction as I 

have indicated, but we can retype it before it goes 
to the jury. 

I'd like to number the instructions at this 
point. Are counsel ready to do that? 

MR. KADLIC: Yes, Your Honor. 
MS. RIGGS: Yes, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay, Ladies and gentlemen of 

the jury is the first instruction. 
An Amended Information is a formal method of 

accusing is instruction number 2. 
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1 are reciting this correct. Would we not also strike 1 Instruction number 3, the defendant in this 
2 the date, the 25th of September? 2 matter. I'm assuming, Ms. Riggs, the State seeks 
J MR. KADLIC: Which date -- 3 amendment of the Amended Information consistent with 
4 MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, may I have the 4 the modifications that have been made to the jury 
5 Court's indulgence for one moment, please? 5 instruction? 
6 THE COURT: Sure. 6 MS. RIGGS: Yes, please, Your Honor. 
7 MS, RIGGS: Your Honor, we would be striking 7 THE COURT: All right. Any objection to the 
8 the date of 27th of September. 8 amendment to the Amended Information? 
9 MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, if that's the case, 9 MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor. Thank you. 

10 I suppose it should be on line 8, defendant on or 10 THE COURT: Mr. Volpicelli, do you understand 
11 about the 25th day of September. 11 the amendments to the Amended Information? 
12 THE COURT: Yeah. So it will read on line 8 12 THE DEPENDANT: I do, Your Honor. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

in Count 1, that the said defendant on or about the 13 
25th day of September AD, 2001, and then strike the 14 
language and the 27th day of Septen1ber, AD, 2001, or 15 
thereabout, and then pick up again and before the 16 
filing of the Information. And then continuing to 17 
line 15, in a public parking lot during daytime hours 18 
located, and then strike the words -- excuse me, 19 
located at, and then strike the words 10500 North 20 
McCarran Boulevard and/or, and then the same change 21 
would be made on lines 21 under Count 2, 20 and 21, 22 
between would become about on line 20, and the words 23 
and the 27th day of September AD, 2001, or 24 

THE COURT: What is your plea to the Amended 
Information as amended? 

THE DEFENDANT: Not guilty, 
THE COURT: If in these instruction any rule 

idea, is instruction number 4. 
If during this trial, instruction number 5. 
Neither the prosecution nor the defense, 

instruction number 6, 
Nothing that counsel say, instruction number 

7. 
It is the duty of attorneys, instruction 

number 8. 
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1 To the jury alone belongs, instruction number 1 21. 
2 9. 2 The penalty provided by law for the offense 
3 There are two types of evidence, instruction 3 is instruction number 22. 
4 number 10. 4 It is the constitutional right of a defendant 
5 Intent may be proved, instruction number 11. 5 in a criminal trial is instruction number 23. 
6 Every person charged, instruction number 6 And here are copies of that instruction for 
7 number 12. 7 counsel. 
8 In every crime there must exist, instruction 8 MR. KADLIC: Thank you, Your Honor. 
9 number 13. 9 THE COURT: It is your duty as jurors to 

10 The burden rests upon the prosecution to 10 consult, 24. 
11 establish, instruction number 14. 11 Although you are to consider only the 
12 A reasonable doubt is one based, instruction 12 evidence, 25. 
13 number 15. 13 Upon retiring to the jury room, 26. 
14 Instruction number 16, as applicable to 14 And then there are verdict forms, not guilty 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Count 1. 
Instruction number -- excuse me. That 

instruction needs to be modified so that on line 3 
and the 27th day of September 2001 is stricken. 

15 
16 
17 
18 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, I'm sorry, what are 19 
the first few words of that instruction? 20 

THE COURT: As applicable to Count 1, the 21 
elements of indecent exposure are that the defendant, 22 
Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli, did, on or about the 25th 23 
day of September, 2001, at and within the County of 24 
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Washoe, State of Nevada, J, in a public place, to 1 
wit: A public parking lot during daytime hours; 4, 2 
make an open and indecent or obscene exposure of his 3 
person to Patricia Brown Allan; 5, in that the 4 
defendant did masturbate inside a vehicle. Okay. 5 

MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, that's -- did you say 6 
that's instruction number 16? 7 

THE COURT: Yes, ma'am. 8 
MS. RIGGS: Thank you. 9 
THE COURT: Any objection, Mr. Kadlic? 10 
MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor. 11 
THE COURT: All right. Instruction number 17 12 

is Count 2; and again, the same change is made on 13 
line 4 striking the date September 27th, 2001. 14 

Instruction number 18, a lewd act is defined. 15 
Instruction number 19, one may now knowingly 16 

expose his or her person in a public place. 17 
Instruction number -- excuse me. That's not 18 

correct. In order for conduct to be indecent or 19 
obscene is instruction number 19. 20 

An exposure becomes indecent when it occurs, 21 
instruction number 20. 22 

The rules of evidence ordinarily do not 2 3 
permit the opinion of a witness, instruction number 24 

and guilty for both counts 1 and count 2. 
Does the State object to the giving of 

instructions 1 through 26 as proposed by the Court? 
MS. RIGGS: No objection, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Does the defense? 
MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Does the State wish to offer any 

other instructions? 
MS. RIGGS: No further instructions, Your 

Honor. 
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THE COURT: Does the defense? 
MR. KADLIC: Nor do I, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: All right. Are counsel ready to 

proceed then with the reading of instructions and 
closing argument? 

MS. RIGGS: Yes, Your Honor. 
MR. KADLIC: Yes, Your Honor. Thank you. 
THE COURT: Do you want some additional time? 
MS. RIGGS: Your Honor, frankly, after all 

the changes I could use approximately five more 
minutes before we bring in the jury. 

THE COURT: Take your time. If you need a 
little bit more time. Bailiff, will you let the jury 
know that we're just about there, we're almost 
completed, but I want counsel to collect their 
thoughts. Okay. 

We'll be in recess. 
(Recess taken.) 

THE COURT: Please be seated. 
We're back on the record in State versus 

Volpicelli. Do counsel stipulate to the presence of 
the jury? 

MR. KADLIC: So stipulated, Your Honor. 
MS. RIGGS: State will stipulated, Your 
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Honor. 1 
THE COURT: Would counsel approach, please, 2 
(Off-the-record discussion 3 

held at the bench. I 4 
THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, 5 

it is now time to read the instructions that have 6 
been prepared for you in this case. You will have a 7 
complete set of these instructions in the jury room 8 
with you for your deliberations, and I commend them 9 
to your separate reading, I would like to recommend, 10 
however, that you might want to make a note or two as 11 
you hear the instructions read as to these matters, 12 
if you might want to review more carefully or in 13 
particular, 14 

(Whereupon, the jury was instructed 15 
by the judge and is not a part of this 16 
record.) 17 

THE COURT: You'll be provided with a verdict 18 
form on count 1, not guilty and guilty, and a verdict 19 
form on count 2, not guilty and guilty. 20 

You' 11 now hear the closing statements of 21 
counsel, 22 

All right. Ms. Riggs, are you ready to 
proceed? 

23 
24 
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MS, RIGGS: I am, Your Honor. 1 
THE COURT: Okay, 2 
MS. RIGGS: Ladies and gentlemen, you may 3 

have noticed while Judge Hardesty was reading you 4 
those jury instructions that the allegations 5 
regarding the incident at Albertson's, that is 10500 6 
McCarran Boulevard have been omitted in this case. 7 

Based on the way the testimony occurred in 8 
this case, the State has -- will not be proceeding on 9 
the incident that occurred at Albertson's, so you are 10 
to disregard the testimony of Brian Phay, also that 11 
of the criminalist, Susan Hannon, and any evidence 12 
that you heard regarding this defendant's vasectomy, 13 
So those are irrelevant to the case now. 14 

What we are focusing on at this point are the 15 
incidents or the incident that occurred on September 16 
25th, 2001, in the Safeway parking lot at 2 :20 p.m. 17 
The State is proceeding on both counts, indecent 18 
exposure and open and gross lewdness, because that 19 
defendant committed both of those crimes on that 20 
date. 21 

Now, you heard from Detectives Wygnanski and 22 
Allen about what they saw on September 25th, 2001 n 23 
that Safeway parking lot. On a 90 degree day, the 24 
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detective saw this defendant driving his van around 
the parking lot and finally selecting a space close 
to the front doors of the Safeway. On a 90 degree 
day, this defendant never got out of that vehicle and 
moved himself into the back seat of the vehicle. 

Now, regarding count 1, which is indecent 
exposure count, you heard Judge Hardesty tell you 
that the elements of that crime are that on September 
25th, 2001, within the County of Washoe, State of 
Nevada, in a public place, to wit: A public parking 
lot during daytime hours, the defendant did make an 
open and indecent or obscene exposure of his person 
to Patricia Brown Allen in that the defendant did 
masturbate inside that vehicle. 

Ladies and gentlemen, he did make an indecent 
exposure to her. You heard Detective Allen testify 
that she walked past the front of the Ford Explorer 
and she made direct eye contact with that defendant. 
He knew she was there. She saw him, he saw her. 
There was light tint on those windows, but tint not 
great enough to obstruct her vision. 

Also you heard some testimony regarding some 
kind of partition that may have been drawn between 
the bucket seats. You also heard Detective Allen 

PAGE 156 
testify that that partition did not block her view of 
the defendant. Now, at this point, defendant knows 
he's spotted, and he could have driven away, but he 
didn't, Detective Allen continues down the aisle, 
down approximately 3 parking spaces and comes back, 
notices -- and you heard her testimony in less than a 
minute this defendant is not visible seated upright 
in the back seat of this vehicle anywhere, so she 
walks around to the side of the vehicle to see what's 
going on. There it is, in plain view. This 
defendant openly masturbating on the back seat of his 
vehicle. 

Ladies and gentlemen, you heard her testify 
that she saw his penis in his hand, and he -- that's 
what he's looking for, that's what he wanted. He 
wanted somebody to come look at him, that's why he 
didn't drive away when she saw him. That's why he 
was there on his back in the vehicle at that time, 
because that was the charge that he was looking for, 
ladies and gentlemen, that was the excitement that he 
was looking for by being in such a public place at 
that time. 

You heard the testimony that he was in full 
view of the front doors. Well, why was he in full 
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view of the front doors of that grocery store? It 
was because he wanted to see people, and he wanted 
them to see him. 

1 
2 
3 

Now, ladies and gentlemen, regarding count 1, 4 
you heard Judge Hardesty tell you, you know, in 5 
instruction 20 that exposure becomes indecent when it 6 
occurs at such a time and place where a reasonable 7 
person knows or should know that his act will be open 8 
to the observation of others. The required criminal 9 
intent is usually established by some action by which 10 
the defendant either draws attention to his exposed 11 
condition or by a display in a place that it must be 12 
presumed it was intended to be seen by others. Let 13 
me correct that. Or by a place so public that it 14 
must be presumed it was intended to be seen by 15 
others. 16 

How can you get more public than a parking 17 
lot in a grocery store at 2 :20 p.m. about 30 to 40 18 
feet away from the doors as Detective Wygnanski 19 
testified? 20 

This defendant intentionally selected a 21 
public place so that he could be seen for his active 22 
masturbation because that is the purpose, that's his 23 
motivation, that is his motivation for masturbating 24 
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is the fact that he can see out and the risk that 1 
other people are going to be able to see in. 2 

Now, regarding the issue of privacy, did he 3 
intend for this to be private? I just asserted to 4 
you that no, he did not intend this to be private. 5 
How else can we tell? I told you that he's in this 6 
public parking lot. Well, where could he have driven 7 
this vehicle? He could have driven it up to Peavine, 8 
he could have driven it up to Verdi in the bushes. 9 
He could have driven it to a park away from other 10 
people. He could have driven it to the back of the 11 
store where there's no traffic. And he didn't do 12 
that. And again, why, because he wanted to see out, 13 
he wanted others to see him. 14 

Now, what about this partition. Was that 15 
meant to be private? Well, you heard the testimony 16 
of Detective Allen. What exactly did this little 17 
partition cover? She said it covered no more than 18 
the space between the two seats. Did it cover the 19 
front windshield? No. Did it cover either of the 20 
side windows with a light tint? No. Did he have 21 
some sort of curtain area around the inside of the 22 
vehicle? No. That partition was not intended to 23 
keep the view of other people out. And it did not do 24 
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so as you heard Detective Allen testify that it 
obstructed her view none whatsoever. 

By the way, ladies and gentlemen, you heard 
an implication in this case, well, the detective 
doesn't have any business looking at somebody's 
private vehicle. Well, who else was in that parking 
lot did we hear? We heard there were several people 
in that parking lot, mostly women and their kids. 
You heard Detective Allen testify that the window in 
that Ford Explorer, the bottom of the window was 
approximately at her rib level. That's this high. 

How many kids in Reno have heads higher than 
this level? How many kids in Reno or Washoe County 
walk straight ahead at all times and don't look at 
what's going on around them? Anybody who walked past 
that vehicle could have seen what that defendant was 
doing. It was in a perfectly public place, he made 
no attempt to hide himself, and that in fact, ladies 
and gentlemen, is what he was looking for, it's what 
he wanted, and that's what happened. 

Now, ladies and gentlemen, moving on to count 
2, that's the open or gross lewdness charge, the 
elements of that crime are that on or between -­
pardon me, that on September 25th, 2001, at and 
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within the County of Washoe, State of Nevada, in a 
public place, to wit: A public parking lot, during 
daytime hours, the defendant committed an act of 
lewdness and that was instruction 17. 

In instruction 18, you're instructed that a 
lewd act is defined as the unlawful indulgence of 
lust involving gross indecency with respect to sexual 
conduct. 

This defendant was masturbating in the back 
of his vehicle. That was direct testimony, 
eyewitness testimony, no doubt about it. He was 
masturbating, that's an unlawful lewd act when 
committed in a public place. That proves this 
State's Count 2. 

Again, he exposed himself to anybody who 
would walk by, but in particular detective Patricia 
Allen regarding Count 1, and he was masturbating to 
fulfill the elements of Count 2. 

So, ladies and gentlemen, as I told you at 
the beginning of this case, it's a simple case. The 
State is asking you to convict this defendant, find 
him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of both Counts 1 
and Count 2. Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 
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Mr. Kadlic, are you ready to proceed. 
MR. K~DLIC: Yes, Your Honor. 
I'd like to give you the framework of what 

I'd like you to look at and those are the three 
instructions that I think are the keys to this whole 
case, 18, 19, and 20. 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

Let's start with looking at peeping Patricia 7 
as I like to think of her. The officer walks by the 8 
vehicle the first time and she admits that normally 9 
most people are not going to walk back, she sees the 10 
defendant, she sees his head and shoulders, but she's 11 
not satisfied, not peeping Patricia, she wants to 12 
come back, why, because she hasn't seen enough, and 13 
she comes back by and walks by so she can look into 14 
the vehicle. 15 

And she clearly admits to you that but for 16 
looking in you can't see him. Whether you like the 17 
fact that Mr. Volpicelli was out there masturbating 18 
in the back of that car, the bottom line is he wasn't 19 
doing it in open, public view. If he wanted to do 20 
that, why didn't he sit in the front seat? He could 21 
have sat up there, if it's as the prosecutor says, 22 
why didn't he sit in the front seat, he could be 23 
looking around, he could see everybody, and he could 24 
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do it at the same time if that's what is going to get 1 
them to get his jollies off. 2 

Ask yourself that. Why didn't he do it in J 
the front seat? Why did he put up a partition? You 4 
can look at what they said about those head rests. 5 
If you look at those head rests, those sit up there 6 
high, between the partition and the head rest it's 7 
clear in the back that you can't see unless you go 8 
and 1 oak in there. 9 

Further the officer admits she had to 10 
literally go up and look in because if you look 11 
straight across you can't see anything. Why? 12 
Because he's laying down on the seat. If he truly 13 
wants to get some sort of public acknowledgement of 14 
what he's doing, he's not going to sit down in his 15 
seat, he's not going to lay down, she admits he's 16 
laying down on his left side doing this. 17 

Again, you don't have to like what he did, 18 
you probably don't, but the bottom line is he didn't 19 
do it in the open and public view, he's not the 20 
pervert who is out in the park, behind a bush 21 
watching children doing masturbating. 22 

This is not the case. He's in the privacy of 23 
his own vehicle, he's got his partition, he's got his 24 
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head rest. There were no cars on one side, there was 
one car on the other. It wasn't like again he was 
looking for attention. 

And again, when he sees her that first time, 
like she admitted, like the officer admitted most 
people aren't going to walk back by, you walk to your 
car and go. You don't go back by. She came back by 
because she didn't see the first time she glanced 
through, so she came back by to take another look. 
And what she saw is what she -- but for her looking 
in, but for peeping Patricia looking into the window 
we would not be here today, if she had -- I mean, 
again, you don't have to like what he did, but he 
didn't do it in public view, he didn't do it for 
everybody to see because if he did, he would have sat 
in the front of the seat. 

So you have to look at the entire case, you 
have to look at the pictures and use your common 
sense, look at instructions 18, 19, 20, and bring 
back what I think is the right verdict, and that is 
the verdict of not guilty on both counts. 

Thank you. 

PAGE 164 

THE COURT: All right, Mr. Kadlic. 
Ms. Riggs, your final statement. 

MS. RIGGS: Ladies and gentlemen, regarding 
Detective Allen, as you heard her testimony to, it is 
her job where she sees suspicious activity to 
investigate. 

She walked by the vehicle, saw what looked 
suspicious to her, a person sitting in the back seat 
of the vehicle grasping the front seat in 90 degree 
heat. She walked by again to see what was going on. 
That's her job. 

Also, you heard Mr. Kadlic say, well, she had 
to walk up to the window and look in. No, that's no 
what she testified to. She agreed with him, when he 
asked her did she see anything if she looked straight 
across. Well, no, because the defendant was lying 
down. 

She looked down while she was walking by the 
vehicle. She wasn't up to the window looking in, 
peering in. Even if she was, that was within her 
right to do. 

But the point is that anybody could have seen 
him masturbating in that vehicle. Anybody. And 
anybody could have looked down. And he says we 
wouldn't be here if it weren't for peeping Patricia. 
Well, how does he know that? How do we know that 
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1 this wouldn't have been reported by somebody else? 1 tie' re giving you conflicting instructions. I'm 
2 How would we know? 2 sorry. If you wouldn't mind waiting outside the 
3 Also, regarding privacy, ladies and 3 courtroom, the bailiff will get your phone number 
4 gentlemen, and I ask you to use your common sense. 4 from you. Thank you. 
5 Was this defendant looking for privacy in the 5 I'd like to put a few matters on the record. 
6 location where he was parked at Safeway 50, 30 to 40 6 First, it is my understanding that the parties 
7 feet from the front doors of the grocery store with 7 stipulate to the withdrawal from evidence of all 
8 no privacy whatsoever, with a car parked right next 8 exhibits relating to the incident at 10500: is that 
9 to him? No, he was not. 9 correct? 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

So, ladies and gentlemen, again, I ask you to 10 
use your common sense, return a verdict of guilty on 11 
both counts. Thank you. 12 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, Ms. Riggs. 13 
Ladies and gentlemen, contrary to the 14 

admonition I have given to you throughout the day 15 
that you should not discuss this case, now is your 16 
time to do so. 17 

I will ask Ms. Clerk to swear in the bailiff 18 
who will take charge of the jury. 19 

With respect to Ms. Huffer, you are the 20 
alternate in the case. Out of courtesy to your 21 
schedule you may leave the courthouse: however, you 22 
are admonished that you are not to discuss this case 23 
with anyone or form or express any opinions 24 

PAGE 166 

MS. RIGGS: That's accurate, Your Honor. 
MR. KADLIC: So stipulate, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: And those exhibits would include, 

Ms. Clerk -- let's get them by number: 
THE CLERK: 4, 5, 6, 7, 8. 

THE COURT: 4, 5, 6, 7, Ba and b. 
THE CLERK: Not 6, Your Honor. 4, 5, 7 and 

8. I'm sorry. 
THE COURT: 4, 5, 7, 8, and BA and B. 
MR. KADLIC: That would be fine, Your Honor, 

I agree to that. 
THE COURT: Okay. Additionally, the Court 

advised counsel that it intended to give an 
additional instruction which has been inserted in the 
packet as number 24. That is an instruction that 

PAGE 168 
1 concerning the case unless and until you are fully 1 reads a separate crime is charged in each count, you 
2 discharged. 2 must decide each count separately, your verdict on 
3 If you'll leave a phone number with the 3 one count should not control your verdict on any 
4 bailiff, we will advise you that a verdict has been 4 other count. And the Court understood before reading 
5 rendered or of the need for you to return to the 5 the instructions that counsel concurred with that 
6 courthouse. 6 additional instruction. 
7 You're not to read or look at any news media 7 MS. RIGGS: That's correct, Your Honor. 
8 accounts relating to the case should there be any. 8 MR. KADLIC: That's correct, Your Honor. 
9 Ms. Clerk. 9 THE COURT: The Court then renumbered 

10 (The bailiff was sworn to 10 instructions number 24, 25, and 26 as 25, 26, and 27. 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

take charge of the jury at 11 
this time.) 12 
THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, 13 

you may begin your deliberations. 14 
All rise for the jury, please. 15 

(The following proceedings 16 
were held outside the 17 
presence of the jury. I 18 
THE COURT: Please be seated. 19 
MR. KADLIC: Is there juror --

Ms. Huffer, you'll have to step outside the 
courtroom, please. 

MS. HUFFER: He told me to sit here. 
THE COURT: Oh, that's okay. Thank you. 

20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Okay? 
MS. RIGGS: That's fine, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: The State needs to retype 

instructions 3, 16, and 17. And Ms. Clerk has those, 
and I have highlighted the areas where they need to 
be revised before they are taken into the jury for 
their review. 

Can you attend to that, Ms. Riggs? 
MS. RIGGS: Yes, I can, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: Okay. All right. Anything 

further then? 
MR. KADLIC: Do they get the exhibits, as 

well, in the jury room? 
THE COURT: With the exceptions of course of 
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2 
J 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
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the ones that have been withdrawn, yes. 
MR. KADLIC: Of the ones we redacted? 
THE COURT: Yes. 
MR. KADLIC: Okay. Thank you. 
THE COURT: All right, then, we'll be in 

recess until there are either questions or a verdict 
in this case. Okay. 

I Recess taken. I 
THE COURT: Please be seated. 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 

8 
9 
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• 
THE COURT: Yes. 

(Off-the-record discussion held 
at the bench.) 

THE COURT: All right. The Court will set 
the sentencing day after conferring with counsel at 
the bench for December the 5th at 8:30. 

At that time, Mr. Volpicelli, you'll be 
required to pay a $25 administrative-assessment fee. 

10 
11 
12 
ll 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

Do counsel stipulate to the presence of the 10 
You are ordered to cooperate with the 

Division of Parole and Probation. They will prepare 
a presentence report that will guide the Court in 
sentencing. 

jury absent the alternate? 11 
MS. RIGGS: State will stipulate, Your Honor. 12 
MR. KADLIC: So stipulated, Your Honor. 13 And you'll be taken into custody at this 

time. THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, it's my 14 
understanding that you have reached a verdict in this 15 All right. Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, 

this concludes your service in this case. On behalf 
of the Court and counsel and the parties, I would 
like to thank you for your time and effort. This 
will conclude your service for at least one year. 
There's a new statute that's been adopted that will 
give you an exemption for two years starting October 
1st we're going to extend that to you all, however, 
even though it isn't until October first. And 
hopefully a longer period of time if we can summons a 

matter. 16 
Have you selected a foreperson? Okay. 17 

Mr. Pruett, correct? 18 
MR. PRUETT: Yes, sir. 19 

THE COURT: Would you hand the verdict fonns 20 
to the bailiff, please. 21 

All right. Ms. Clerk, would you please read 22 
the verdicts. 23 

Mr. Volpicelli, will you please rise. 24 

PAGE 170 PAGE 172 
1 THE CLERK: In the Second Judicial District 1 greater number of our citizens to come in as jurors. 
2 Court of the State of Nevada, in and for the County 2 You're under no obligation to discuss this 
3 of Washoe, State of Nevada, the State of Nevada, J case with anyone. It is your right to decline to do 
4 plaintiff, versus Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli, 4 so. However, I'll tell you that when I was trying 
5 defendant. 5 cases, I always found it helpful to be able to speak 
6 Case number CR02-0147, Department 9. 6 with jurors and gain from you some insight about my 
7 Verdict. We, the jury in the above entitled 7 performance as a lawyer or your thoughts about the 
8 matter, find the defendant, Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli 8 case that would help me in my work the next time 
9 guilty of Count One, indecent exposure. 9 around. 

10 Dated this 10th day of July, 2003, Chris 10 However, as I have explained, you are under 
11 Pruett, foreperson. 11 no obligation to talk to anyone about the case. 
12 Verdict. We, the jury in the above entitled 12 Before you leave the courthouse, I would like to 
13 matter find the defendant, Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli 13 invite all of you back to chambers so that I can 
14 guilty of Count 2, open or gross lewdness. 14 thank you personally and meet all of personally. We 
15 Dated this 10th day of July, 2003, Chris 15 that you for your time. You are discharged. 
16 Pruett, foreperson. 16 All rise for the jury, please. 
17 THE COURT: Do you wish to have the jury 17 MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, Mr. Volpicelli has 
18 polled, Mr. Kadlic? 18 one question of the Court. It has to do with his 
19 MR. KADLIC: No, Your Honor, Your Honor. 19 bail status, I think. 
20 MS. RIGGS: No, thank you, Your Honor. 20 THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I think about a 
21 THE COURT: All right. Mr. Volpicelli, the 21 month and a half ago, we brought up the matter of an 
22 Court will set a sentencing date for this case. 22 OR with my cases. In the interest of prudence with 
23 MR. KADLIC: Your Honor, could we approach 23 respect to me accomplishing the resolution of my 
24 the bench for a minute? 24 federal charges and at the same time saving the State 
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1 money, but then I guess with all the paper 
2 complications, it didn't turn out that way. 
J My family is wishing to post bail so that I 
4 could go into federal custody. When they called over 
5 to Washoe County Sheriff's Office, someone over them 
6 advised them that if 1 do go into federal custody, 
7 even though there might be some type of stipulation 
8 with the US attorney and for me to stay here and 
9 resolve these charges, which is in all likelihood, 

10 there's a possibility that something may happen and 
11 I'll not be able to appear here and receive an FTA. 
12 And my family just wants to know if you'll revoke the 
13 bail money and keep it or because I'm still in 
14 custody that you'll just hold it until I get back 
15 into state custody. They just wanted something in 
16 writing to that effect. 
17 THE COURT: I'm not going to respond to that 
18 orally. I would ask Mr. Kadlic to put a motion 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 

before the Court or your other counsel so that we can 
clarify your bail status if orders are appropriate 
and the State has an opportunity to respond then I 
can issue them, okay? So you can put this back on 
calendar when I have an order or a written motion or 
I can address the issues. 

PAGE 174 
1 MR. KADLIC: I think that really needs to 
2 come from his other counsel. This is my sum total of 
3 Mr. Volpicelli. 
4 THE COURT: Well, then let him know. 
5 MR. KADLIC: I will let him. He has to talk 
6 to his family, and then Mr. Van Ry is his counsel on 
7 the other charges. 
8 THE COURT: I understand your request, but I 
9 want it to be in writing. Okay. 

10 MR. KADLIC: Thank you, Your Honor. 
11 (Proceedings concluded.) 
12 --000--

13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
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1 STATE OF NEVADA) 
} Ss. 

2 COUNTY OF WASHOE) 

3 

4 I, DONNA DAVIDSON, Official Reporter of the 

5 Second Judicial District Court of the State of 

6 Nevada, in and for the County of Washoe, was present 

7 in Department No. 9 of the above-entitled Court on 

8 said date, time and hour; 

9 That the foregoing transcript is an 

10 uncertified rough draft transcription of my stenotype 

11 notes of said proceedings. This transcript has not 

12 been edited, proofread, finalized, indexed or 

13 certified. 

1' 

15 

16 DATEP: At Reno, Nevada, this 8th day of 

17 January, 2004. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

.,._ /\ / 

/J)&JLJ.d A·<I(A O}_;;.-
'ooNNA DAVIDSON, CCR #318 

22 

23 

24 

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT 

V3. 442

V3. 442



. / 

SUPREME COURT 

OF 

NEVADA 

(0) l947A 

• • ~0/Y 7 
ORIGINAL F H F. D 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEV ADA·~- -

FERRILL JOSEPH. VOLPICELLI, 
Appellant, 

vs. 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
Res ondent. 

ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE 

200\i Mf,Y 14 f;M 9: 0 

MAY 12 2004 
JANETTE M. BLOC~J 

C T 

BV-%i~~~~~ ... 

Thie is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a 

jury verdict, of one count each of indecent exposure and open or gross 

lewdness. The district court sentenced appellant Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli 

to serve two concurrent prison terms of 12-48 months and ordered him to 

pay a fine of $10,000.00. 

First, Volpicelli contends that the evidence presented at trial 

was insufficient to support the jury's finding that he was guilty beyond a 

reasonable doubt of indecent exposure and open or gross lewdness. 

Volpicelli argues that he should not have been found guilty because the 

acts for which he was convicted occurred "in his vehicle and not in public 

view." We disagree with Volpicelli's contention. 

Our review of the record on appeal reveals sufficient evidence 

to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as determined by a rational 

trier of fact. 1 In particular, we note that Detective Patricia Allen of the 

Reno Police Department testified at trial that she was instructed to 

investigate a vehicle parked in the lot outside of a Shopko and a Safeway 

1See Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 609 P.2d 309 (1980); see also 
Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 559, 51 P.3d 521, 524 (2002) (quoting 
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979)). 
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store, approximately 30-40 yards from the front entrances. Detective 

Allen stated that she arrived at the busy parking lot at 2:30 p.m.; she 

walked by the vehicle and saw Volpicelli through the "lightly-tinted" 

windows in the backseat, they made eye contact and the detective 

continued past the vehicle. Less than. one minute later, Detective Allen 

turned around and headed back towards the vehicle in question. This 

time, Detective Allen saw Volpicelli laying down on the backseat of the 

vehicle, his shirt "was pulled up around the top part of his chest ... [and] 

[h]is pants were pulled down around his knees, along with his underwear." 

Detective Allen testified that she could clearly see Volpicelli's exposed 

penis in his right hand, and that he was masturbating. 

Based on the above, we conclude that the jury could 

reasonably infer from the evidence presented that Volpicelli committed the 

crimes of indecent exposure and open or gross lewdness.2 This court has 

stated that a conviction for both indecent exposure and open or gross 

lewdness requires intentional public sexual conduct or exposure. 3 Here, 

Volpicelli intentionally exposed his penis and masturbated in the backseat 

of his vehicle while parked in a busy public parking lot in the middle of the 

afternoon. Although Volpicelli's actions took place in the backseat of his 

vehicle, he was readily observable by any passerby, and therefore, his 

argument that he was not in public view is without merit. It is for the 

2NRS 201.220(1)(b) ("[a] person who makes any open and indecent or 
obscene exposure of his person ... is guilty ... [f]or any subsequent 
offense, of a category D felony"); NRS 201.210(1)(b) ("[a] person who 
commits any act of open or gross lewdness is guilty . . . [f]or any 
subsequent offense, of a category D felony''). 

3See Young v. State, 109 Nev. 205, 215, 849 P.2d 336, 343 (1993); 
Ranson v. State, 99 Nev. 766, 767-68, 670 P.2d 574, 575 (1983). 

2 
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jury to determine the weight and credibility to give conflicting testimony, 

and the jury's verdict will not be disturbed on appeal where, as here, 

sufficient evidence .supports the verdict. 4 We also note that circumstantial 

evidence alone may sustain a conviction. 6 Therefore, we conclude that the 

State presented sufficient evidence to sustain the conviction. 

Second, Volpicelli contends that the district court erred at 

sentencing by admitting into evidence a prior conviction in order to 

enhance his conviction to a felony pursuant to NRS 201.210(1)(b) and NRS 

201.220(1)(b). In 1983, Volpicelli was charged with indecent exposure, a 

gross misdemeanor. Volpicelli argues that a review of the change of plea 

hearing transcript reveals that there was never a written waiver of rights, . . . 

he was not thoroughly canvassed by the district court, "[b]ut, most of all, it 

shows that the district court failed to ask Defendant how he wished to 

plea[d]." Volpicelli claims that "[t]he failure to ask [him] how he wished to 

plea[dl negated the prior conviction," and therefore, could not be used for 

enhancement purposes in the instant case. We disagree with Volpicelli's 

contention. 

To establish the validity of a prior misdemeanor conviction, 

the State must "affirmatively show ... that counsel was present . . . and 

that the spirit of constitutional principles was respected in the prior 

misdemeanor proceedings."6 "[I]f the state produces a record of a 

judgment of conviction which shows that the defendant was represented 

by counsel, then it is presumed that the conviction is constitutionally 

4See Bolden v. State, 97 Nev. 71, 624 P.2d 20 (1981); see also 
McNair v. State, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571, 573 (1992). 

5See Buchanan v. State, 119 Nev._,_, 69 P.3d 694, 705 (2003). 

6Dressler v. State, 107 Nev. 686, 697, 819 P.2d 1288, 1295 (1991). 

3 
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adequate."7 "[I]n consideration of the realities of misdemeanor 

prosecutions," a format written judgment of conviction is not necessary if 

other documents provide sufficient evidence of the conviction. 8 The 

burden shifts to the defendant, represented by counsel, to present 

evidence to rebut the presumption of constitutionality. 9 

In the instant case, we conclude that the State has met its 

burden and demonstrated that the spirit of constitutional principles was 

respected. Volpicelli was represented by attorney Lew Carnahan on 

September 22, 1983, when he pleaded guilty to gross misdemeanor 

indecent exposure. Our review of the change of plea hearing transcript 

reveals ~hat Volpicelli ~as present _when Carnahan informed the district 

court about the plea negotiations and that Volpicelli agreed to plead guilty 

to indecent exposure with the hope of receiving probation. The district 

court asked Volpicelli if he had any questions about the proceedings, and 

he replied that he did not. In response to the district court's questions, 

Volpicelli affirmatively answered that: it was his intent to plead guilty; 

Carnahan explained the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty; he was 

not coerced or induced by any means to plead guilty; and he was pleading 

voluntarily. Volpicelli also informed the district court that he was aware 

of the possible sentencing options, that the matter of sentencing was left to 

the district court, and that he was pleading guilty because he was, in fact, 

guilty of indecent exposure. 

7Davenport v. State, 112 Nev. 475, 478, 915 P.2d 878, 880 (1996). 

8English v. State, 116 Nev. 828, 836, 9 P.3d 60, 64 (2000); see also 
Pettipas v. State, 106 Nev. 377, 794 P.2d 705 (1990). 

9Davenport, 112 Nev. at 478, 915 P.2d at 880. 

4 
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We also note that included in the record on appeal is a waiver 

of preliminary examination form signed by Volpicelli in 1983, and the 

criminal information stating that Volpicelli was being charged with "open, 

indecent, and obscene exposure of his person" for actions taking place in 

the parking lot of a Mervyn's store. Accordingly, based on all of the above, 

we conclude that the district court did not err in using the 1983 indecent 

exposure conviction to enhance Volpicelli's sentence in the instant case to 

a felony. 

Having considered Volpicelli's contentions and concluded that 

they are without merit, we 

ORDER the judgment of conviction AFFIRMED.10 
. . 

Rose 

Maupin 

Douglas 

cc: Hon. James W. Hardesty, District Judge 
John J. Kadlic 

, , 

Attorney General Brian Sandoval/Carson City 
Washoe County District Attorney Richard A. Gammick 
Washoe District Court Clerk 

J. 

J. 

J. 

10Because Volpicelli is represented by counsel in this matter, we 
decline to grant him permission to file documents in proper person in this 
court. See NRAP 46(b). Accordingly, the clerk of this court shall return to 
Volpicelli unfiled all proper person documents he has submitted to this 
court in this matter. 

5 
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SUPREME COURT 

o, 
NEVADA 

(OJ 1947A 

FERRILL JOSEPR VOLPICELLI, 
Appellant, 

vs. 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
Res ondent. 

ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE 

MAY 12 2004 
A . • . 

C 

BY~~~~~~--

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a 

jury verdict, of one count each of indecent exposure and open or gross 

lewdness. The district court sentenced appellant Ferrill Joseph Volpicelli 

to serve two concurrent prison terms of 12-48 months and ord_ered him to 

pay a fine of $10,000.00. 

First, Volpicelli contends that the evidence pres,cinted at trial 

was insufficient to support the jury's finding that he was guilty beyond a 

reasonable doubt of indecent exposure and open or gross lewdness. 

Volpicelli argues that he should not have been found guilty because the 

acts for which he was convicted occurred "in his vehicle and not in public 

view." We disagree with Volpicelli's contention. 

Our review of the record on appeal reveals sufficient evidence 

to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as determined by a rational 

trier of fact.1 In particular, we note that Detective Patricia Allen of the 

Reno Police Department testified at trial that she was instructed to 

investigate a vehicle parked in the lot outside of a Shopko and a Safeway 

1See Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 609 P.2d 309 (1980); see also 
Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 559, 51 P.3d 521, 524 (2002) (quoting 
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979)). 
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store, approximately 30-40 yards from the front entrances. Detective 

Allen stated that she arrived at the busy parking lot at 2:30 p.m.; she 

walked by the vehicle and saw Volpicelli through the "lightly-tinted" 

windows in the backseat, they made eye contact and the detective 

continued past the vehicle. Less than one minute later, Detective Allen 

turned around and headed back towards the vehicle in question. This 

time, Detective Allen saw Volpicelli laying down on the backseat of the 

vehicle, his shirt "was pulled up around the top part of his chest ... [and] 

[h]is pants were pulled down around his knees, along with his underwear." 

Detective Allen testified that she could clearly see Volpicelli's exposed 

penis in his right hand, and that he was masturbating. 

Based on the above, we conclude that the jury could 

reasonably infer from the evidence presented that Volpicelli committed the 

crimes of indecent exposure and open or gross lewdness. 2 This court has 

stated that a conviction for both indecent exposure and open or gross 

lewdness requires intentional public sexual conduct or exposure.3 Here, 

Volpicelli intentionally exposed his penis and masturbated in the backseat 

of his vehicle while parked in a busy public parking lot in the middle of the 

afternoon. Although Volpicelli's actions took place in the backseat of his 

vehicle, he was readily observable by any passerby, and therefore, his 

argument that he was not in public view is without merit. It is for the 

2NRS 201.220(l)(b) ("[a] person who makes any open and indecent or 
obscene exposure of his person ... is guilty ... [f]or any subsequent 
offense, of a category D felony"); NRS 201.210(1)(b) ("[a] person who 
commits any act of open or gross lewdness is guilty . . . [f]or any 
subsequent offense, of a category D felony"). 

3See Young v. State, 109 Nev. 205, 215, 849 P.2d 336, 343 (1993); 
Ranson v. State, 99 Nev. 766, 767-68, 670 P.2d 574, 575 (1983). 

2 

V3. 451

V3. 451



SUPREME COURT 

OF 

NEVADA 

(0) 1947A 

• • 
jury to determine the weight and credibility to give conflicting testimony, 

and the jury's verdict will not be disturbed on appeal where, as here, 

sufficient evidence supports the verdict.4 We also note that circumstantial 

evidence alone may sustain a conviction.5 Therefore, we conclude that the 

State presented sufficient evidence to sustain the conviction. 

Second, Volpicelli contends that the district court erred at 

sentencing by admitting into evidence a prior conviction in order to 

enhance his conviction to a felony pursuant to NRS 201.210(1)(b) and NRS 

201.220(1)(b). In 1983, Volpicelli was charged with indecent exposure, a 

gross misdemeanor. Volpicelli argues that a review of the change of plea 

hearing transcript reveals that there was never a written waiver of rights, 

he was not thoroughly canvassed by the district court, "[b]ut, most of all, it 

shows that the district court failed to ask Defendant how he wished to 

plea[d]." Volpicelli claims that "[t]he failure to ask [him] how he wished to 

plea[d] negated the prior conviction," and therefore, could not be used for 

enhancement purposes in the instant case. We disagree with Volpicelli's 

contention. 

To establish the validity of a prior misdemeanor conviction, 

the State must "affirmatively show ... that counsel was present ... and 

that the spirit of constitutional principles was respected in the pr10r 

misdemeanor proceedings.''6 "[l]f the state produces a record of a 

judgment of conviction which shows that the defendant was represented 

by counsel, then it is presumed that the conviction is constitutionally 

4See Bolden v. State, 97 Nev. 71, 624 P.2d 20 (1981); see also 
McNair v. State, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571, 573 (1992). 

5See Buchanan v. State, 119 Nev._,_, 69 P.3d 694, 705 (2003). 

6Dressler v. State, 107 Nev. 686, 697, 819 P.2d 1288, 1295 (1991). 
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adequate."7 "[l]n consideration of the realities of misdemeanor 

prosecutions," a formal, written judgment of conviction is not necessary if 

other documents provide sufficient evidence of the conviction. 8 The 

burden shifts to the defendant, represented by counsel, to present 

evidence to rebut the presumption of constitutionality.9 

In the instant case, we conclude that the State has met its 

burden and demonstrated that the spirit of constitutional principles was 

respected. Volpicelli was represented by attorney Lew Carnahan on 

September 22, 1983, when he pleaded guilty to gross misdemeanor 

indecent exposure. Our review of the change of plea hearing transcript 

reveals that Volpicelli was present _when Carnahan informed the district 

court about the plea negotiations and that Volpicelli agreed to plead guilty 

to indecent exposure with the hope of receiving probation. The district 

court asked Volpicelli if he had any questions about the proceedings, and 

he replied that he did not. In response to the district court's questions, 

Volpicelli affirmatively answered that: it was his intent to plead guilty; 

Carnahan explained the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty; he was 

not coerced or induced by any means to plead guilty; and he was pleading 

voluntarily. Volpicelli also informed the district court that he was aware 

of the possible sentencing options, that the matter of sentencing was left to 

the district court, and that he was pleading guilty because he was, in fact, 

guilty of indecent exposure. 

7Davenport v. State, 112 Nev. 475, 478, 915 P.2d 878, 880 (1996). 

8English v. State, 116 Nev. 828, 836, 9 P.3d 60, 64 (2000); see also 
Pettipas v. State, 106 Nev. 377, 794 P.2d 705 (1990). 

9Davenport, 112 Nev. at 478, 915 P.2d at 880. 
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We also note that included in the record on appeal is a waiver 

of preliminary examination form signed by Volpicelli in 1983, and the 

criminal information stating that Volpicelli was being charged with "open, 

indecent, and obscene exposure of his person" for actions taking place in 

the parking lot of a Mervyn's store. Accordingly, based on all of the above, 

we conclude that the district court did not err in using the 1983 indecent 

exposure conviction to enhance Volpicelli's sentence in the instant case to 

a felony. 

Having considered Volpicelli's contentions and concluded that 

they are without merit, we 

ORDER the judgment of conviction AFFIRMED.10 

Rose 

Maupin 

I Douglas 

cc: Hon. James W. Hardesty, District Judge 
John J. Kadlic 

« I 

Attorney General Brian Sandoval/Carson City 
Washoe County District Attorney Richard A. Gammick 
Washoe District Court Clerk 

J. 

J. 

J. 

10Because Volpicelli is represented by counsel in this matter, we 
decline to grant him permission to file documents in proper person in this 
court. See NRAP 46(b). Accordingly, the clerk of this court shall return to 
Volpicelli untiled all proper person documents he has submitted _to this 
court in this matter. -•,, -·· 
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Supreme Court No. 42603 

District Court Case No. CR020147 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

=.,...~o .-o ...... a., ;;; ~g~t. Janette M. Bloom, the duly appointed and qualified Clerk of the Supreme Court of the State of 
3:;;0 1ii\Jevada, do hereby certify that the following is a full, true and correct copy of the Judgment in this 

matter. 

JUDGMENT 

The court being fully advised in the premises and the law, it is now ordered, adjudged and decreed, 
as follows: "ORDER the judgment of conviction AFFIRMED." 

Judgment, as quoted above, entered this 12th day of May, 2004. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have subscribed my name and affixed 

the seal of the Supreme Court at my Office in Carson City, 

Nevada, this 8th day of June, 2004. 

Janette M. Bloom, Supreme Court Clerk 

By: ~• ~ 
Chief Depty Clerk 
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Certified copy of Judgment and Opinion/Order. 

Receipt for Remittitur. 

DATE: June 8, 2004 

Janette M. Bloom, Clerk of Court 

By: ~ · &- :\ ? t S)a 
Chief D puty Clerk 

cc: Hon. James W. Hardesty, District Judge 

Attorney General Brian Sandoval/Carson City 
Washoe County District Attorney Richard A. Gammick 
John J. Kadlic 

RECEIPT FOR REMITTITUR 

Received of Janette M. Bloom, Clerk of the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada, the 

FiL_E.D 
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REMITTITUR issued in the above-entitled cause, on JUN O 9 2004 . . 
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. District Court Cler 
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